Published for SISSA by O Springer

RECEIVED: July 9, 2019 ACCEPTED: September 10, 2019 PUBLISHED: October 3, 2019

Homological classification of 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT. Rank-1 revisited

Matteo Caorsi and Sergio Cecotti

SISSA, via Bonomea 265, I-34100 Trieste, Italy

E-mail: matteocao@gmail.com, cecotti@sissa.it

ABSTRACT: Argyres and co-workers started a program to classify all 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT by classifying Special Geometries with appropriate properties. They completed the program in rank-1. Rank-1 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT are equivalently classified by the Mordell-Weil groups of certain rational elliptic surfaces.

The classification of 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT is also conjectured to be equivalent to the representation theoretic (RT) classification of all 2-Calabi-Yau categories with suitable properties. Since the RT approach smells to be much simpler than the Special-Geometric one, it is worthwhile to check this expectation by reproducing the rank-1 result from the RT side. This is the main purpose of the present paper. Along the route we clarify several issues and learn new details about the rank-1 SCFT. In particular, we relate the rank-1 classification to *mirror symmetry* for Fano surfaces.

In the follow-up paper we apply the RT methods to higher rank 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT.

KEYWORDS: Differential and Algebraic Geometry, Extended Supersymmetry, Supersymmetry and Duality

ARXIV EPRINT: 1906.03912





Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	BPS categories: a cartoon	3
	2.1 Kodaira type of a 2-CY category	10
3	Appetizer: derived category of index-1 Fano surfaces	
	(a.k.a. Minahan-Nemeshanski SCFT)	14
	3.1 Algebraic-geometric viewpoint	14
	3.2 Physicist's viewpoint	18
4	Review of $[21]$ (in rank 1)	19
	4.1 The 16 rank-1 2-acyclic QFT	19
	4.1.1 Comparison with rational elliptic surfaces	23
	4.1.2 Relation with the derived category of rational elliptic surfaces	23
	4.1.3 Flavor symmetry	24
	4.2 Properties of triangular QFT	25
	4.2.1 The generic Higgs branch	27
	4.3 $K_0(\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}), K_0(\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}})$ for triangular QFT	27
	4.3.1 The flavor weight lattice	27
	4.3.2 The flavor root lattice	28
5	The 15 missing SCFT	30
	5.1 Review of base-change/discrete gauging	31
6	Warm-up: discrete gaugings of SU(2) with $N_f = 4$	33
	6.1 IR category for SU(2) with $N_f = 4$	34
	6.2 Gaugeable auto-equivalences	35
	6.3 UV categories for the gauged models	35
	6.3.1 Cluster-tilting and unbranched Galois covers	37
	6.3.2 Grothendieck groups	40
	6.3.3 The un-gaugeable \mathbb{Z}_6 symmetry	41
7	General facts about discrete gaugings	42
	7.1 Discrete gauging of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories with $h \ge 1$	42
	7.2 $h = 0$: gaugeable symmetries	43
8	The other 8 discrete gaugings	44
	8.1 Discrete gaugings of Argyres-Douglas models	45
	8.1.1 \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging of $(\frac{3}{2}, \mathrm{SU}(3))$	45
	8.1.2 \mathbb{Z}_4 gauging of $(\frac{3}{2}, \mathrm{SU}(2))$	47
	8.1.3 \mathbb{Z}_3 gauging of $(\frac{\overline{4}}{3}, \mathrm{SU}(2))$	47
	8.1.4 No other AD gauging	48

	8.2	The remaining 5 discrete gaugings	49
		8.2.1 \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging of $(3, E_6)$	49
		8.2.2 \mathbb{Z}_3 gauging of SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$	50
		8.2.3 \mathbb{Z}_2 gaugings of SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$	51
		8.2.4 The last one: \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging of $(3, \operatorname{Sp}(6))$	52
	8.3	Computer search of consistent gaugings	53
	8.4	No more gaugings	53
9	The	5 false-gaugings	53
	9.1	Entries 15 and 22	55
	9.2	The remaining 3 false-gaugings	57
	9.3	No more false-gaugings	58
10	Con	clusions	58
\mathbf{A}	'Rea	ading between the lines' vs. Mordell-Weil torsion	59
в	Cat	egories: notations, definitions, basic facts	62
	B.1	Basic definitions and theorems	62
		B.1.1 The cluster category of a hereditary category	65
		B.1.2 Cluster categories from algebras of global dimension ≤ 2	66
		B.1.3 Properties of Amiot cluster categories of fractional CY derived	
		categories	67
	B.2	Representations of Dynkin quivers and related categories	68
	B.3	Coherent sheaves on weighted projective lines	68
С	Con	nputations in the derived category of del Pezzo's	71
D	Eler	nents of the categorical theory of flavor	73
	D.1	Generalization to Amiot cluster categories	74
		D.1.1 Fractional Calabi-Yau categories and quantum monodromies	74
\mathbf{E}	Cov	ering techniques in Representation Theory	76
	E.1	Galois covering functors	77
\mathbf{F}	An	example of non-symplectic base-change	77
\mathbf{G}	(Clu	uster-)tilting objects in $\operatorname{coh} \mathbb X$	78
	G.1	Generalities	78
	G.2	Cluster-tilting objects in \mathscr{C}_4	79
	~	G.2.1 The superpotential \mathcal{W}	80
	G.3	Cluster-tilting objects in \mathscr{C}_6	81
н	Clus	ster-tilting in \mathscr{C}_{D_4} and its gaugings	82

1 Introduction

An intriguing problem in QFT is the classification of all 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ models with special emphasis on the ones which do not have a Lagrangian realization. One nice approach, especially advocated and implemented by Argyres and coworkers $[1-11]^1$ is based on the idea that the classification of 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFTs is equivalent to the classification of all special geometries having the right properties to be the Seiberg-Witten geometry of a QFT [13–15]; string theory provides strong motivations for this geometric viewpoint [16]. Argyres et al. have completed their program in rank-1, listing all $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFTs with a one-dimensional Coulomb branch [3–7]. Their rank-1 classification was subsequently reinterpreted [17] in terms of the Mordell-Weil groups [18] of rational elliptic surfaces (with section) [19] having at least one additive Kodaira singular fiber F_{∞} and at most one fiber of the three types {II, III, IV} not dual to affine $\hat{A}\hat{D}\hat{E}$ Dynkin graphs. In this approach, the rank-1 classifications is read from the Oguiso-Shioda table of Mordell-Weil groups [18, 20].

Physical considerations suggest that there is yet a third approach to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ classification, pursued in a series of unpublished papers by Michele Del Zotto and the second named author [21]. This approach starts from the general expectation that the BPS objects (states and operators) of a supersymmetric quantum system are described by suitable triangle categories: the prime example being the BPS branes of Type II on a Calabi-Yau 3-fold Xwhich are classified by the derived category of coherent sheaves and the derived Fukaya category on X and its mirror manifold X^{\vee} [22]. If this expectation turns out to be correct, we may replace the hard classification of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFTs with the classification of triangle categories of the appropriate kind. So reformulated, the $\mathcal{N}=2$ classification would become a problem in Representation Theory (RT). This problem smells to be much easier than the geometric program in several ways. At the philosophical level it looks akin of replacing the detailed study of complex manifolds with the computation of a certain homological invariant (albeit a sophisticated one). Second: the RT approach turned out to be very efficient to classify special classes of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT, such as complete theories with the BPS-quiver property [23, 24]. Third: the preliminary steps in [21] suggest that the complexity of the RT program grows less dramatically with the rank k of QFT than in the other approaches. Fourth: in Part II of this study we shall get partial all-rank classification results using ideas inspired by the RT approach. Fifth: the RT viewpoint carries the additional bonus that from the knowledge of the categories associated to a given QFT we easily compute all supersymmetry protected physical quantities, even when localization methods fail.

Thus we have four classification problems which are purportedly equivalent:

Physics	Holomorphic Integrable Systems		
	HyperKähler spaces and holomorphic fibrations		
Consistent 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFTs	with special Lagrangian fibers which are generically		
	Abelian varieties (plus 'regularity' conditions)		
Algebraic Geometry	Representation Theory		
Algebraic Geometry Smooth projective log-symplectic varieties with	Representation Theory		
Algebraic Geometry Smooth projective log-symplectic varieties with Abelian fibration and 'regularity' conditions.	Representation Theory Hom-finite 2-CY categories $\mathscr C$ with rigid objects subject to appropriate 'regularity' conditions		

¹See also [12].

What is the relation between these four different topics?

A rank-k special geometry is, in particular, a k-dimensional Abelian variety $\mathscr{A}_{/K(\mathcal{R})}$ defined over the field $K(\mathcal{R})$ of fractions of the chiral ring \mathcal{R} . If the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT does not contain free subsectors, the Lang-Néron trace [25] of $\mathscr{A}_{/K(\mathcal{R})}$ vanishes. Then $\mathscr{A}_{/K(\mathcal{R})}$ comes with a God-given finitely-generated Abelian group, its *Mordell-Weil group* MW($\mathscr{A}_{/K(\mathcal{R})}$); on its free part MW($\mathscr{A}_{/K(\mathcal{R})}$)_{free} = MW($\mathscr{A}_{/K(\mathcal{R})}$)/(torsion) there is a positive-definite, integral, symmetric form, the *Néron-Tate height* [26]. To a Hom-finite 2-CY category² \mathscr{C} there is also naturally associated a finitely-generated Abelian group with a canonical symmetric integral pairing: its *Grothendieck group* $K_0(\mathscr{C})$ with its "*Euler*" form. In rank-1 the correspondence between the two geometric classifications and the representation-theoretical one turns out to be

Mordell-Weil group with Néron-Tate height \leftrightarrow Grothendieck group with "Euler" form

On the physical side, the group $K_0(\mathscr{C})/(\text{torsion})$ is identified with the flavor weight lattice, and the isometry group of its "Euler" form is the Weyl group of the putative³ flavor group F. The above statement makes sense for all k, not just in rank-1, but we shall resist the temptation of proposing a precise conjecture at this point.

Remark. In general, both groups $\mathsf{MW}(\mathscr{A}_{/K(\mathcal{R})})$ and $K_0(\mathscr{C})$ have torsion. Matching torsions (and related structures) on the two sides is a subtle and physically crucial aspect of the correspondence. As in *F*-theory [28] the Mordell-Weil torsion is related to the global geometry of the gauge group; in a sense, torsion "reads between the lines of the gauge theory [29]". We discuss torsion in appendix A.

In the unpublished notes [21] the RT program was pushed to some extend (for general rank k) getting correct formulae for the dimensions of the Coulomb branch operators, flavor groups, central charges a, c, κ_F , etc. Yet in its naive form the result was short of a full classification. For instance, the rank-1 theories with exceptional flavor symmetry G_2 , Spin(7), and F_4 were missing. A posteriori one sees where the weak point was: the methods of [21] were returning not all $\mathcal{N} = 2$ models but only a sub-class of them which we dub triangular QFT. One has the inclusions⁴

$$\left[\text{ triangular QFT} \right] \subset \left[\text{BPS-quiver } \mathcal{N} = 2 \text{ theories } [30] \right] \subset \left[\text{ all } \mathcal{N} = 2 \text{ QFT} \right]$$

In rank-1 the first inclusion is an equality.

The purpose of the present note is to fill the gap, and complete the RT side of the classification at least for k = 1. Our immediate aim is to reproduce table 1 of [3] using homological ideas and techniques. In the process we shall understand better the procedure

²For background on Calabi-Yau categories we refer to the nice review [27].

 $^{^{3}}$ The actual physical flavor group may be different (but with the same weight lattice). See the discussion in ref. [5].

⁴Triangular QFT are BPS-quiver $\mathcal{N} = 2$ models with some special property; in particular they have a unique Coulomb branch operator of maximal dimension. So class $\mathcal{S}[A_1]$ theories are triangular iff their rank is 1. All interacting theories whose Coulomb dimensions are all < 2 are triangular.

of gauging a discrete symmetry in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT, the role of the RG flow, and find a detailed description of most of the relevant categories. The RT approach allows *inter alia* to explicitly compute the vev of generalized BPS Wilson-'t Hooft line operators in rank-1 theories (including the exceptional ones) as *characters* of the corresponding 2-CY categories [31].

We hope that the abstractness of the categorical language will not hide the beauty and intrinsic simplicity of the homological approach. The math notation may look esoteric to some physicists, but the actual computations are (typically) quite simple. In an effort to make the paper readable, we have kept mathematics at a minimum in the main text (at the cost of precision) and confined details, computations (and precision) in the long appendices.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we present a cartoon of the categories associated to the BPS sector of a 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory. In section 3 we review the small part of the results of [21] relevant here. In section 4 we consider the 15 missing SCFT and review base-change of elliptic surfaces and discrete gaugings of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT. We also make some general observation. In section 5 we study in detail the discrete gaugings in our preferred theoretical laboratory: SU(2) with $N_f = 4$. This allows us to illustrate the main points of the paper in a simple context where everything can be done explicitly and the physics is well-understood from several viewpoints. In section 6 we pause a while to discuss what we have learned from the explicit examples, and to draw some general lesson. The other discrete gauging of rank-1 SCFT are described in section 7. Section 8 is devoted to the subtler situations we dub *false*-gaugings. Conclusions are drawn in section 9. The appendices are long, self-contained, and contain all the details. Parts of them may be even readable.

2 BPS categories: a cartoon

In this section we present our physical motivations behind the representation-theoretical approach to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry. We shall be rather sketchy, using a rough language and avoiding all technicalities about categories. The interested reader may find proper definitions and a survey of basic theorems in appendix B.

To a given $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT there are attached several triangle categories describing its BPS sector [32, 33]. These categories are fairly well understood when the QFT has the so-called *BPS-quiver property* [23, 24, 30]. 'Usual' theories (such as Lagrangian models) enjoy this property, but 'most' $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT do not. For the purpose of classifying *all* $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT we have to extend the categorical framework to the general case where the BPS-quiver property is no longer valid. This is the main challenge of the present paper.

We beging by sketching how triangle categories arise from physical considerations in the special case of BPS-quiver theories (see [24, 30, 34] for details). There are two points of view to consider: the UV perspective where the issue are the BPS *operators*, and the IR one focused on the spectrum of BPS *states* in a particular vacuum $|u\rangle$ belonging to a specific BPS chamber in the Coulomb branch. **IR picture.** Let us start from the IR perspective: here the problem is to determine the spectrum of BPS particles of the given $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT. There are two IR approaches: the Seiberg-Witten geometry and the supersymmetric Quantum Mechanics (SQM). We focus on the second one.

In the SQM approach we rephrase the question of the BPS particle spectrum in terms of the 1d theory along the particle world-line which is a SUSY Quantum Mechanics with 4 supercharges. To specify the 1d Lagrangian \mathscr{L}_u we need the following data: a gauge group \mathscr{G} , the gauge representation content of the chiral fields, a gauge-invariant superpotential \mathcal{W} , and the FI terms [34]. 4d BPS states, preserving 4 supercharges, are SUSY vacua of the world-line theory: by standard arguments they coincide with the vacua of the 1d σ -model with target \mathcal{V}_u , the space of classical vacua of \mathscr{L}_u . Computing the BPS spectrum boils down to the quantization of this reduced 1d σ -model.

When the 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ model has the BPS-quiver property, \mathscr{L}_u is a unitary quiver gauge theory, based on a 2-acyclic quiver⁵ Q, and \mathcal{V}_u is the moduli space of stable representations of Q subjected to the relations given by the F-term equations $\partial \mathcal{W} = 0$ [30]. In an equivalent language, \mathcal{V}_u is the space of stable modules of the Jacobian algebra $\mathcal{P}(Q, \mathcal{W})$. (An algebra is called *Jacobian* iff its relations are given by the gradient of a single-trace superpotential: $\partial \mathcal{W} = 0$). In the 2-acyclic case the nodes of Q are in 1-to-1 correspondence with the conserved electric/magnetic/flavor charges, and the gauge group at the *i*-th node is $U(N_i)$ for the world-line theory of particles carrying N_i units of the *i*-th conserved charge. The incidence matrix B of Q

$$B_{ij} \equiv \langle S_j, S_i \rangle_D = \#\{ \text{arrows } i \to j \text{ in } Q \} - \#\{ \text{arrows } j \to i \text{ in } Q \}$$
(2.1)

is the Dirac skew-symmetric pairing between the *i*-th and *j*-th charges. The pair (Q, W) is not unique for a given 1d theory: it depends on the chosen Seiberg-duality frame. The *mutation class* of (Q, W) is the set of pairs (Q', W'), with Q' a 2-acyclic quiver, which can be obtained from (Q, W) by a chain of Seiberg-dualities. Different regions of the Coulomb branch are covered by different pairs (Q, W) in the mutation class.

Even when the 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory does *not* obey the BPS-quiver property, it still makes sense to consider the world-line theory of its BPS particles. It is again a 4-supercharge supersymmetric Quantum Mechanics. As in the BPS-quiver case, the 1d Lagrangian \mathscr{L}_u should be well defined for all values of the additive conserved charges, and have a good behavior for large charges, which is the large-N limit from the 1d perspective. Comparing with 't Hooft analysis [35], we see that a cheap way to ensure this property is to consider a unitary quiver theory with a gauge-invariant superpotential \mathcal{W} which is a single-trace operator. This is what happens in the BPS-quiver case, except that in general the quiver Qmay be allowed to have loops and 2-cycles. However this is not the most general possibility: there are many variants of this construction. For instance, a quiver 1d Lagrangian \mathscr{L}_u with the above single-trace form may have a discrete symmetry \mathbb{G} which commutes with SUSY; gauging it we get a different 1d theory \mathscr{L}_u/\mathbb{G} which still satisfies all requirements to be the

⁵A quiver Q is 2-acyclic iff no arrow starts and ends at the same node nor there are pairs of opposite arrows \leftrightarrows between two nodes.

world-line theory of BPS particles in some 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT. We can push this even further: mimicking recent constructions in 4d extended supersymmetry [36, 37], we may gauge a discrete symmetry \mathbb{G} of the 1d theory which is not a symmetry of its Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_u . In 4d one gauges a suitable finite group \mathbb{G} of S-dualities; correspondingly we may think of gauging a discrete group \mathbb{G} of 1d Seiberg dualities (which are related to 4d S-dualities).

All these constructions start from a covering (\equiv ungauged) 1d Lagrangian \mathscr{L}_u which is a unitary quiver theory with a single-trace superpotential and then take a quotient by a discrete group \mathbb{G} of symmetries/dualities. Specifying a covering Lagrangian \mathscr{L}_u of this class is equivalent to giving an associative algebra $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{L}_u)$ with the special property that its relations can be written as the gradient of a holomorphic gauge-invariant superpotential \mathcal{W} , that is, the algebra $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{L}_u)$ must be Jacobian. To avoid divergences, $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{L}_u)$ should also be finite-dimensional. To complete the description of the parent Lagrangian \mathscr{L}_u , the algebra $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{L}_u)$ should be supplemented by a stability function Z_u for its modules which encodes the 1d FI terms. Once such a covering theory is given, to get the full story one has to look for all finite symmetry groups \mathbb{G} which may be gauged while preserving supersymmetry.

UV picture. Let us turn to the UV side. For models with the BPS-quiver property, physical considerations [38–41], predict the UV category \mathscr{C} to be the *cluster category* $\mathscr{C}(Q, W)$ associated to the 2-acyclic quiver with superpotential (Q, W) which specifies the 1d Lagrangian \mathscr{L}_u . $\mathscr{C}(Q, W)$ is independent of the choice of (Q, W) in its mutation class, i.e. the microscopic category $\mathscr{C}(Q, W)$ is a Seiberg-duality invariant. A cluster category is a special instance of a 2-CY category \mathscr{C} having cluster-tilting objects T.⁶ (A category \mathscr{C} is 2-CY iff it has a Serre functor S such that $S \cong \Sigma^2$, with Σ the shift functor).

Triangular case: 4d/2d correspondence. The situation simplifies if the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT is triangular (in rank-1 all BPS-quiver theories are triangular). These $\mathcal{N} = 2$ models have a F-theory construction along the lines of [38] and enjoy the 4d/2d correspondence [38]: their UV category \mathscr{C} is a close cousin of the BPS brane category \mathscr{R} of a 2d (2,2) model with $\hat{c} < 2$. The condition $\hat{c} < 2$ should be understood as an upper dimensional bound:⁸ indeed the 2d superconformal central charge \hat{c} has the physical interpretation of a 'fractional Calabi-Yau dimension' (think, say, of the Gepner models [44]).

To construct the relevant categories, in the triangular case one starts from an algebra \mathcal{A} satisfying certain restrictions. The physical requirement $\hat{c} < 2$ becomes the condition⁹ that its derived category $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \equiv D^b \operatorname{mod} \mathcal{A}$ is Calabi-Yau of fractional dimension a/b < 2, namely in $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ there is an isomorphism

$$S^b \cong \Sigma^a, \qquad \hat{c} \equiv a/b < 2, \quad a, b \in \mathbb{N},$$

$$(2.2)$$

⁶For a nice review of the relevant mathematics, see [42].

 $^{^7\}mathrm{For}$ notations and definitions see appendix B.

 $^{^{8}}$ It arises as the condition for the existence of a crepant resolution in 3 dimensions [43].

⁹To make the story short we limit ourselves to the case in which the 4d theory is superconformal; the construction of [38] extends to the asymptotically-free QFT.

where S (resp. Σ) is the Serre (resp. shift) functor (see appendix B). The 2d and 4d BPS categories are just different orbit categories of $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$:

$$\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}} = \left(\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}/(\Sigma^2)^{\mathbb{Z}}\right)_{\text{tr.hull}} \qquad \mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}} = \left(\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}/(S^{-1}\Sigma^2)^{\mathbb{Z}}\right)_{\text{tr.hull}}.$$
(2.3)

Here $(\cdots)_{\text{tr.hull}}$ stands for 'triangular hull', a technicality we dispense with.¹⁰ By construction, in $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ we have $S \cong \Sigma^2$, which is the defining property of a 2-CY category, while in $\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}}$ we have $\Sigma^2 \cong \text{Id}$, i.e. the category $\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is 2-periodic. In the physical literature the image of S (resp. Σ) in $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is called the 4d quantum monodromy \mathbb{M} (resp. the half-monodromy \mathbb{K}) [38, 41], while the image of S (resp. Σ) in $\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is called the 2d quantum monodromy H (resp. half-monodromy) [45].

Properties of the quantum monodromies. All $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT, not just the BPS-quiver ones, have quantum monodromy operators \mathbb{M} and \mathbb{K} which act on the BPS operators O as

$$O \mapsto \mathbb{M}O\mathbb{M}^{-1}$$
 and $O \mapsto \mathbb{K}O\mathbb{K}^{-1}$. (2.4)

M commutes with flavor group action, $\mathbb{M}g = g\mathbb{M}$ for $g \in F$, while \mathbb{K} inverts¹¹ the flavor action, $\mathbb{K}g = \theta(g)\mathbb{K}$ for $g \in F$. M and \mathbb{K} have explicit expressions in terms of the BPS spectrum [38]. The expressions involve choices, but their adjoint action on the BPS operators is intrinsically defined: the condition that M computed from the spectra on the two sides of a wall of marginal stability yields the same action is equivalent to the Kontsevitch-Soibelman wall-crossing formula [47]. Tr M is the Schur index of the 4d SCFT [48], i.e. the vacuum character of the 4d infinite chiral algebra in the sense of [49]. If our QFT is a SCFT, the action of M on the local Coulomb branch operators O_i is just

$$\mathbb{M}O_i\mathbb{M}^{-1} = e^{2\pi i\Delta_i}O_i,\tag{2.5}$$

where Δ_i is the conformal dimension of O_i . The action on the BPS *line* operators is rather complicated and interesting: in the BPS-quiver case this action fully reflects the cluster structure¹² of \mathscr{C} . When the QFT is the mass-deformation of a SCFT, \mathbb{M} has a finite order $o(\mathbb{M})$ equal to the smallest integer such that $o(\mathbb{M}) \Delta_i \in \mathbb{N}$ [38].¹³ In particular, whenever $\Delta_i \in \mathbb{N}$ for all *i* we have $\Sigma^2 \cong$ Id in the UV category \mathscr{C} , which then is *symmetric* besides being 2-CY. In the same fashion, we define the order o(H) of the 2d quantum monodromy. It is the smallest integer so that $o(H)d_i \in \mathbb{N}$, where d_i are the conformal dimensions of the 2d chiral primary operators [45]. For a rank-1, 2-acyclic, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory the dimension of the Coulomb operator is [33]

$$\Delta = \frac{o(H)}{o(\mathbb{M})},\tag{2.6}$$

and there are similar expressions for Δ_i in all ranks.

¹⁰The interested reader may give a look to the appendices.

¹¹ F is compact so a torus times a semi-simple Lie group. In the torus θ is -1; in the semi-simple part θ is the involution which acts as $X_{\alpha} \leftrightarrow X_{-\alpha}$ on the Chevalley generators (cf. [46] VIII section 4 Proposition 4). ¹² For the notion of *cluster structure* in a 2-CY category see the nice review [50].

¹³When the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory is Lagrangian (possibly asymptotically-free), \mathbb{M} acts as a shift of the Yang-Mills angles θ_i by $2\pi b_i$, where b_i is the coefficient of the beta-function of the *i*-th Yang-Mills coupling.

Flavor symmetry. In full generality, whenever a class of BPS objects is described by a triangle category \mathscr{U} , its conserved quantum numbers factor through the Grothendieck group $K_0(\mathscr{U})$. Hence the class $[X] \in K_0(\mathscr{U})$ should be seen as the universal conserved quantity, and the free group $K_0(\mathscr{U})/(\text{torsion})$ as the set of all additive quantum numbers. In the BPS-quiver case, the UV group $K_0(\mathscr{C})/(\text{torsion})$ is identified with the flavor weight lattice Γ_{flav} of the 4d theory [33]

$$\Gamma_{\text{flav}} \equiv K_0(\mathscr{C})/(\text{torsion}).$$
 (2.7)

In particular,

$$f \equiv \operatorname{rank} F = \operatorname{rank} K_0(\mathscr{C}). \tag{2.8}$$

The lattice Γ_{flav} has a natural Weyl-invariant symmetric pairing which should be part of the categorical description: this is required for the flavor symmetry F to act on the BPS objects (as described by \mathscr{C}) in the proper way. For a triangle category \mathscr{C} , the only intrinsic bilinear form on the lattice $K_0(\mathscr{C})/(\text{torsion})$ is its Euler pairing.¹⁴ A triangle category \mathscr{C} has naturally a symmetric (resp. antisymmetric) Euler form iff it has the Calabi-Yau property in even (resp. odd) dimension d. So the fact that \mathscr{C} is CY with d = 2 looks very natural from the flavor point of view. Indeed, in the BPS-quiver case the Euler form is equal to the canonical inner product in the weight lattice (up to overall normalization, see appendix D).

Connecting the UV picture to the IR one. The IR physics should be determined by the microscopic UV dynamics together with the choice of a particular vacuum $|u\rangle$. The physical connection UV \rightsquigarrow IR is the RG flow. For the BPS sector the UV/IR connection has two main aspects: 1) the UV BPS line operators L_{α} have vev's $\langle L_{\alpha} \rangle_u$ which are part of the physics of the particular state $|u\rangle$, and 2) the spectrum of BPS particles which are stable in vacuum $|u\rangle$ should be determined by the dynamics of the microscopic degrees of freedom.

As mentioned above, when the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFTs has the BPS-quiver property, the UV category \mathscr{C} is a cluster category [50]. In this case the UV \rightsquigarrow IR connection is provided by a cluster-tilting object $T \in \mathscr{C}$. T is non-unique, a given choice of T covering just a chamber in the Coulomb branch. The chosen cluster-tilting object $T \in \mathscr{C}$ plays several roles in the connection UV \rightsquigarrow IR. First: T determines the 1d Lagrangian/Jacobian algebra $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{L}_u)$ in the form $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{L}_u) = \text{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(T)$. Second: T yields the Dirac skew-symmetric pairing on the charges, see eq. (2.1). Third: T defines the cluster characters $\langle -\rangle_T \colon \mathscr{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ which correspond to $L_{\alpha} \mapsto \langle L_{\alpha} \rangle_u$.

Now consider the general case in which our $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory does *not* necessarily enjoy the BPS-quiver property. In the UV we still have some triangle category \mathscr{C} describing BPS operators. To determine the low-energy physics in some chamber of the Coulomb branch we need to associate to the microscopic category \mathscr{C} (and choice of chamber) the supersymmetric theory on the BPS particle world-line. We argued above that this theory is obtained by gauging a discrete symmetry \mathbb{G} of some parent 1d supersymmetric model

 $^{^{14}}$ In the present context the definition of the Euler pairing is slightly subtle [33], requiring 'cutting techniques' [51].

which in turn is described by a Lagrangian \mathscr{L} with a single-trace superpotential \mathcal{W} . The ungauged Lagrangian is specified by the finite-dimensional algebra $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{L})$. The standard way to produce an algebra out of a linear category \mathscr{C} is to choose an object $X \in \mathscr{C}$ and consider the algebra of its endomorphisms $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(X)$, which is finite-dimensional since \mathscr{C} is Hom-finite. The choice of the object $X \in \mathscr{C}$ reflects the choice of the chamber. However the pair (\mathscr{C}, X) cannot be arbitrary: to preserve 1d supersymmetry we need the algebra $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(X)$ to be Jacobian, that is, the 1d interactions must be described by a holomorphic superpotential \mathcal{W} . This is a severe constraint which has a remarkably simple solution:

Theorem (Amiot, Keller¹⁵). All finite-dimensional Jacobian algebras have the form $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(T)$ with \mathscr{C} a 2-CY category and $T \in \mathscr{C}$ a cluster-tilting object.

To our knowledge, the converse statement is still an open problem. It is however known to be true under various natural hypothesis on the 2-CY category \mathscr{C} . In particular, for all cluster categories associated to 2-acyclic quivers, $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(T)$ is Jacobian for all cluster-tilting object $T \in \mathscr{C}$ [50].

Note that both \mathscr{L} and \mathscr{L}/\mathbb{G} have the right properties to be the 1d theory of some (different) 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ model. When the finite group \mathbb{G} is non-trivial, it is natural and convenient to associate to the model *two* different (Hom-finite) 2-CY categories, \mathscr{C} and $\mathscr{C}_{\mathbb{G}}$, related by a Galois cover $\mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{C}_{\mathbb{G}}$ with deck group \mathbb{G} . To produce the ungauged 1d Lagrangian/Jacobian algebra $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{L})$ the corresponding 2-CY category \mathscr{C} should have a cluster-tilting object T so that $\mathcal{A}(\mathscr{L}) \cong \operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(T)$. No such condition is required for the covered 2-CY category $\mathscr{C}_{\mathbb{G}}$. Thus we shall consider acceptable also (Hom-finite) 2-CY categories $\mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{C}$ and the cover \mathscr{C} has a cluster-tilting object. However, whenever our $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT has a non-trivial flavor group F, the corresponding 2-CY categories \mathscr{C} should satisfy the weaker property of having non-zero rigid objects. Since all SCFT in table 1 of [3] have $F \neq 1$ we shall add this condition as an extra assumption. Dropping it, one finds a handful of extra possibilities with trivial flavor symmetry.

In conclusion: we propose that the UV category \mathscr{C} of a general 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ belongs to a 'slight' generalization of the class known to describe QFT with the BPS-quiver property: cluster categories (which, in particular, means 2-CY with cluster-tilting) are replaced by the larger class of 2-CY categories with non-trivial rigid objects T_{max} with the additional property of having a Galois cover $\mathscr{\tilde{C}}$ which is a cluster category.

There is an important difference between the BPS-quiver and general cases. In the first situation the rank of the Grothendieck group $K_0(\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(T_{\max}))$ is known to be

$$\operatorname{rank} K_0(\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(T_{\max})) = \operatorname{rank} F + 2k, \qquad (2.9)$$

with k the complex dimension of the Coulomb branch. In the general case the rank of $K_0(\text{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(T_{\max}))$ may be smaller

$$\operatorname{rank} F \le \operatorname{rank} K_0(\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(T_{\max})) \le \operatorname{rank} F + 2k, \tag{2.10}$$

¹⁵See e.g. Theorem 5.6 in the survey [50].

and we expect the upper bound to be saturated only in the BPS-quiver case. The lower bound follows from (2.8). In the rank-1 case we remain with just two possibilities:

$$\operatorname{rank} K_0(\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(T_{\max})) = \begin{cases} f+2 & \operatorname{BPS-quiver} \\ f & \operatorname{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2.11)

Let us illustrate the physical origin of this different behavior in a simple example: the rank-1 SCFT with Coulomb branch dimension $\Delta = 4$ and flavor group Spin(7). This theory is obtained by gauging a discrete symmetry $\mathbb{Z}_2 \subset PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}) \times U(1)_R$ of SU(2) SYM with $N_f = 4$ [7, 36, 37]. Here PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) is the S-duality group. The \mathbb{Z}_2 gauge group rotates electric charges into magnetic ones and viceversa. In this SCFT the distinction between electric and magnetic charges is not just conventional, it is gauge-dependent. The intrinsic, gauge-invariant, Dirac pairing $\langle -, -\rangle_D$, averaged over the orbits of the \mathbb{Z}_2 gauge group, just vanishes. To define a non-trivial electro-magnetic pairing in the IR — to measure the mutual non-locality of states — we need to fix a \mathbb{Z}_2 -gauge in the corresponding category mod End $\mathscr{C}(T_{\text{max}})$. One of the reasons why we prefer to work (in the general case) with a Galois pair ($\mathscr{C}, \mathscr{C}_{\mathbb{G}}$) of 2-CY categories rather than with the single physical UV category $\mathscr{C}_{\mathbb{G}}$ is to make the gauge-fixing construction systematic. Fixing the gauge means to choose a 'local' lift from $\mathscr{C}_{\mathbb{G}}$ to \mathscr{C} and perform computations in the much simpler covering category \mathbb{G} . Irrespectively of these technicalities, since rank $K_0 (\text{mod End}_{\mathscr{C}}(T_{\text{max}}))$ is always $f + \operatorname{rank} \langle -, -\rangle_D$, we get eq. (2.11).

UV completeness: our final proposal. The above considerations suggest the working hypothesis that the classification of 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT, say in rank-1, may be traded for the classification of 2-CY categories with rigid objects and cluster covers. However, it is certainly not true that all (Hom-finite) 2-CY categories with rigid objects and cluster covers describe some consistent 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT. For instance, there exist perfectly good cluster categories associated to non-UV-complete field theories such as SU(2) SYM coupled to 5 fundamentals, or to one adjoint and one fundamental hypermultiplet. Such theories make sense only as low-energy effective descriptions, obtained by integrating out the heavy degrees of freedom of some UV completion. Triangle categories behave well under RG, and there is a categorical version of 'integrating out the heavy stuff'.¹⁶ Not surprisingly, we may obtain the cluster categories of SU(2) with $N_f = 5$,¹⁷ or SU(2) with one **3** and one **2**, by suitable decoupling limits of, say, the rank-1 SCFTs with $\Delta = 3$ and flavor group E_6 and, respectively, Sp(6).

For the purpose of classifying $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFTs we have to keep only 2-CY categories which correspond to UV-complete theories. We need a criterion to distinguish 2-CY categories which correspond to UV-complete QFT from the ones which do not. In the BPS-quiver context the criterion proposed in [38] reduces to the bound $\hat{c} < 2$, see discussion¹⁸ around

¹⁶It is called Calabi-Yau reduction [42] or subfactor construction [50].

¹⁷SU(2) with $N_f = 5$ is an effective QFT which is 'good' up to a certain cut-off scale Λ . Its IR category mod End $\mathscr{C}_{N_f=5}(T)$ should also be 'good' only up to a certain scale, i.e. when restricted to modules of bounded Grothendieck class. Remarkably, this very point was noted as a 'curious' fact by C.M. Ringel back in 1984 (cf. Remark 2. on page 166 of his celebrated book [52]).

¹⁸Again we limit to the SCFT case. The general criterion encompasses the asymptotically-free case too.

eq. (2.2). To classify all rank-1 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ we need to extend this criterion to the non-BPSquiver case. In line with the stringy arguments which motivated the original criterion [38], and in view of the 4d physics, it is natural to propose a criterion such that the set of "UV-complete" 2-CY categories is the *smallest* one which contains the 2-acyclic categories consistent with the 4d/2d correspondence and is closed under the standard physical operations: gaugings which preserve $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY and RG-flows. Pragmatically, this amounts to requiring the 4d/2d correspondence to be satisfied by the covering cluster category $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}$ of our UV 2-CY category \mathcal{C} . To keep the statement as simple as possible, we shall not state the criterion in its most general form (the interested reader may look at [32, 33, 53]) but only its simplified version which applies to rank-1 SCFT. In our tables we shall insert back the rank-1 asymptotically-free categories. So specialized, our 'conservative' proposal takes in the RT language a somewhat esoteric form; we state it in a slightly cavalier fashion¹⁹

Criterion/Definition. A 2-CY category \mathscr{C} with non-zero rigid objects is said to be the UV category of a SCFT of rank-1 if it is (the hull of) an orbit category of the form

$$\mathscr{C}_G = \left(\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}/(G)^{\mathbb{Z}}\right)_{\text{tr.hull}},\tag{2.12}$$

where $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} = D^{b} \operatorname{mod} \mathcal{A}$ is the derived category of an algebra \mathcal{A} satisfying the conditions below, and $G: \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is a suitable autoequivalence. The algebra $\mathcal{A} = \mathbb{C} \mathring{Q}/I$ has global dimension ≤ 2 and:

- a) (4d/2d criterion $\hat{c} < 2$) The derived category $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \equiv D^b \mod \mathcal{A}$ is fractional Calabi-Yau of dimension a/b < 2;
- b) (Coulomb dimension 1) The rank of the exchange matrix B of the 2-acyclic quiver Q (obtained by adding to \mathring{Q} an inverse arrow per minimal relation of I, and then reducing it by deleting loops and conflicting pairs of arrows \leftrightarrows) is 2.

Remark 1. Note that the physical requirement of UV finiteness, item a), implies that the functor $\operatorname{Tor}_2^A(?, D\mathcal{A})$: $\operatorname{mod} \mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{mod} \mathcal{A}$ is nilpotent, equivalently that the category $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ in eq. (2.3) is *Hom-finite*;²⁰ thus the absence of infinities in the sense of QFT implies the absence of infinities in the sense of categories. Hence $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is the Amiot cluster category which is Hom-finite, 2-CY with \mathcal{A} as cluster-tilting object. The condition of being 2-CY implies that $G^s = S\Sigma^{-2}$ for some $s \in \mathbb{N}$, and then \mathscr{C}_G is also Hom-finite and 2-CY but may or may not have a cluster-tilting object. See appendix B for more details.

2.1 Kodaira type of a 2-CY category

Our basic claim is that the classification of 2-CY categories of the form (2.12) is the classification of rank-1 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFTs. The $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFTs (or, more generally, the $\mathcal{N} =$

¹⁹The conditions in the text are slightly too restrictive. We have to "close" the class of categories by adding the categories which arise as "de-singularizations of singular limits" of the categories in the Criterion/Definition. We shall comment on this technicality in section 4.

²⁰See Proposition 4.9(4) of [54].

2 QFTs) have two kinds of classifications: fine and coarse-grained. The rank-1 coarsegrained classes are in one-to-one correspondence [3, 12] with the Kodaira's singular elliptic fibers \mathcal{F} [55–57] having additive reduction (i.e. non-semi-stable) and Euler characteristic $e(\mathcal{F}) \leq 10$; the SCFT (i.e. semi-simple) ones are listed in table 1. There is a forgetful map (fine class) \mapsto (coarse-grained class), hence a map

$$(2-CY \text{ category of the form } (2.12)) \mapsto (additive Kodaira fiber).$$
 (2.13)

The Kodaira fiber \mathcal{F} associated to a 2-CY category will be called its *Kodaira type*. Kodaira type is a basic tool in the application of 2-CY categories to the study of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT. In view of the extension of present work to rank k > 1, we shall define the Kodaira type in general not just for the categories satisfying our Criterion/Definition.

We recall that the Kodaira fibers [55-57]

$$I_b, I_b^* \ (b \ge 0), II, III, IV, II^*, III^*, IV^*$$
(2.14)

corresponds to the conjugacy classes of elements $\rho \in \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ consistent with the strong monodromy theorem: *i*) they are quasi-unipotent i.e. $(\rho^m - 1)^n = 0$ for some $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, and *ii*) the unipotent element ρ^m satisfies the SL_2 -orbit theorem [58]. The fiber is additive iff m > 1; all types (2.14) are additive but I_b . Physically, these conditions corresponds to UV completeness.

Kodaira type of an algebra of finite global dimension. The Kodaira type of a (finitedimensional, basic) algebra of finite global dimension is a far-reaching refinement of its spectral invariants (for background see e.g. [59]). For fixed spectral data, the Kodaira type takes value in a finite group $H_{\mathbb{K}}$ whose structure depends on the arithmetics of the spectral field \mathbb{K} (see below for examples).

Let $\mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\nu} P_i$ with P_i indecomposable, $P_i \not\cong P_j$ for $i \neq j$, and $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \equiv D^b \operatorname{mod} \mathcal{A}$. Consider the integral $\nu \times \nu$ matrix

$$\mathbf{S}_{ij}^{-1} = \dim \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}(P_i, P_j). \tag{2.15}$$

Since \mathcal{A} has finite global dimension, \mathbf{S}^{-1} is a unit in $\operatorname{GL}(\nu, \mathbb{Z})$ so its inverse \mathbf{S} exists and has integral entries. In facts, \mathbf{S} is the transpose of the Euler form in the basis of the simple modules $S_i \in \operatorname{mod} \mathcal{A}$

$$\mathbf{S}_{ij} = \langle S_j, S_i \rangle_E \equiv \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^k \dim \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}(S_j, \Sigma^k S_i).$$
(2.16)

If, in addition, \mathcal{A} is triangular, i.e. $\mathcal{A} \cong \mathbb{C}\mathring{Q}/I$ with \mathring{Q} a quiver without oriented cycles, **S** is an upper-triangular matrix with 1 on the main diagonal, and physicists call it the *Stokes matrix* [45] since they like to see it as the monodromy datum of a Sato-Miwa-Jimbo isomonodromic system of PDE's [60–65]. A triangular algebra \mathcal{A} is "physically nice" iff **S** produces a regular solution of the PDE's.²¹

²¹To get a flavor of the PDE regularity conditions, see [66–68] where the \mathbb{Z}_{ν} symmetric case is analyzed in detail for $\nu \leq 5$.

Returning to the general case, we define \mathbf{B} as the antisymmetric part of the Euler form

$$\mathbf{B}_{ij} = \langle S_i, S_j \rangle_{\text{anti}} \equiv \langle S_i, S_j \rangle_E - \langle S_j, S_i \rangle_E = (\mathbf{S}^t - \mathbf{S})_{ij}.$$
(2.17)

 $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ has a Serre auto-equivalence S. The 2d quantum monodromy **H** is the action of S in the Grothendieck group $K_0(\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}})$ (\equiv the free Abelian group on the classes $[S_i], i = 1, \ldots, \nu$)

$$[SS_i] = [S_j] \mathbf{H}_{ji} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \mathbf{H} = (\mathbf{S}^t)^{-1} \mathbf{S} \in \mathrm{SL}(\nu, \mathbb{Z})$$
(2.18)

(mathematicians prefer to use the Coxeter element $-\mathbf{H}$).

A triangular algebra \mathcal{A} is "physically nice" iff \mathbf{H}^{-1} , seen as a putative monodromy, is consistent with the strong monodromy theorem. For \mathcal{A} triangular, we say that $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is strong if these conditions are fulfilled, and numerically CY if \mathbf{H} has finite order. We have the inclusions

$$(\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \text{ fractional CY}) \subset (\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \text{ numerical CY}) \subset (\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \text{ strong}).$$
 (2.19)

Example 2.1. A canonical (or squid) algebra of type $\{p_1, \dots, p_t\}$ is strong iff its Euler characteristic $\chi \equiv 2 - \sum_{a=1}^{t} (1 - 1/p_a) \ge 0$, and fractional CY iff $\chi = 0$.

We go back to the general case (\mathcal{A} is not necessarily triangular). One has

$$\mathbf{H}^t \mathbf{B} \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{B}. \tag{2.20}$$

Let $\Gamma_{\rm fl} \subset K_0(\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}})$ be the sublattice of elements x such that $\langle x, - \rangle_{\rm anti} = 0$; $\Gamma_{\rm fl}$ coincides with the sublattice of elements such that $\mathbf{H} x = x$. Since **B** is skew-symmetric, **H** has no non-trivial Jordan block associated to the eigenvalue 1. Then we may find a \mathbb{Z} -equivalent basis such that

$$\mathbf{B} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{b} & \mathbf{0} \\ 0 & \\ 0 & \ddots \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \mathbf{H} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{h} & \mathbf{0} \\ 1 & \\ 0 & \ddots \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.21)

where: i) **b** is a non-degenerate integral $2k \times 2k$ skew-symmetric matrix, ii) 1 is not an eigenvalue of the integral matrix **h**, and

$$iii) \qquad \mathbf{h}^t \, \mathbf{b} \, \mathbf{h} = \mathbf{b}, \tag{2.22}$$

that is, **b** is an element of the arithmetic group $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathbf{b}, \mathbb{Z})$; e.g. if **b** is a multiple of the standard symplectic matrix, **h** belongs to the Siegel modular group $\operatorname{Sp}(2k, \mathbb{Z})$. The conjugacy class of **h** in $\operatorname{GL}(2k, \mathbb{C})$ yields the *spectral invariants* of \mathcal{A} [59]. Its conjugacy class in the arithmetic group $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathbf{b}, \mathbb{Z})$ is a much finer derived invariant of \mathcal{A} which encodes precious physical information. We call this invariant the *Kodaira type* of \mathcal{A} .

Example 2.2. For generic k, the simplest case is when $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathbf{b}, \mathbb{Z}) \cong \operatorname{Sp}(2k, \mathbb{Z})$, and **h** is regular of finite order, i.e. its minimal equation is $\mathbf{h}^m = 1$ with²² $\phi(m) = 2k$. In this case the Kodaira type takes value in a group $H_{\mathbb{K}}$ whose order is [12]

$$|H_{\mathbb{K}}| = \frac{2^{\phi(m)/2}}{Q_{\mathbb{K}}} h_{\mathbb{K}}^{-}, \qquad (2.23)$$

 $^{^{22}\}phi(-)$ stands for Euler's totient function.

Kodaira type \mathcal{F}	II*	III^*	IV^*	I_0^*	IV	III	II
conjugate Kodaira fiber \mathcal{F}^*	II	III	IV	I_0^*	IV^*	III^*	II^*
conjugate Euler number $e(\mathcal{F}^*)$	2	3	4	6	8	9	10
-(reduced conjugate intersection form)	-	A_1	A_2	D_4	E_6	E_7	E_8
Coulomb operator dimension Δ	$\frac{6}{5}$	$\frac{4}{3}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	2	3	4	6
$b(\mathcal{F})$	1	1	1	2	3	3	3

Table 1. Coarse-grained classification of rank-1 SCFT by Kodaira fibers of semi-simple type. By the *reduced conjugate intersection form* we mean the intersection matrix $C_i \cdot C_j$ of the irreducible curves $C_i \subset \mathcal{F}^*$ which do not cross the zero-section of the elliptic fibration; the Cartan matrix of a simply-laced Lie algebra is denoted by the same symbol as the Lie algebra. Sometimes we use the Lie algebra in the third row to label the Kodaira type of \mathcal{A} .

where $Q_{\mathbb{K}}$ and $h_{\mathbb{K}}^-$ are, respectively, the Hasse unit index and the relative class number of the cyclotomic field \mathbb{K} of *m*-th roots of unity.

For an algebra \mathcal{A} which satisfies conditions a, b) of our Criterion/Definition the story simplifies dramatically: k = 1, so the arithmetic group is just $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and $\mathbf{h} \in SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ has finite-order m = 2, 3, 4, 6. The class number $h_{\mathbb{K}}$ of the relevant cyclotomic fields is automatically 1; then

$$H_{\mathbb{K}} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } \mathbb{K} = \mathbb{Q} \text{ i.e. } m = 2, \\ \operatorname{GL}(2, \mathbb{Z})/\operatorname{SL}(2, \mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}_2 & \text{for } \mathbb{K} \neq \mathbb{Q} \text{ i.e. } m = 3, 4, 6. \end{cases}$$
(2.24)

Thus the algebras \mathcal{A} of Criterion/Definition have 7 possible Kodaira types²³ naturally identified with the additive Kodaira fibers with semi-simple monodromy. For m = 2 we have a single type, I_0^* , while for each m = 3, 4, 6 we have two types

$$m = 3 \quad IV, IV^* \quad m = 4 \quad III, III^* \quad m = 6 \quad II, II^*$$
 (2.25)

We shall say that two fiber types in the same $H_{\mathbb{K}}$ orbit (i.e. same *m* for k = 1) are each other conjugate (I_0^* is self-conjugate). Passing from a fiber type $\mathcal{F} \neq I_0^*$ to its conjugate corresponds to a Kodaira quadratic transformation of the corresponding elliptic fibration. We write \mathcal{F}^* for the conjugate type of \mathcal{F} (with the convention (I_0^*)* = I_0^*). See table 1.

Example 2.3. The Kodaira type \mathcal{F} of the Dynkin algebras of type A_2 , A_3 and D_4 is, respectively, II^* , III^* and IV^* . The Kodaira type of a tubular algebra of type (2, 2, 2, 2) is I_0^* . Note that in all cases $\nu + e(\mathcal{F}) = 12$, i.e. $\nu = e(\mathcal{F}^*)$. Examples of algebras of type IV, III, II are the *del Pezzo algebras* defined in the next section.

Kodaira type of the category \mathscr{C}_G . We return to 2-CY of the form (2.12) which satisfy condition a) but not necessarily b). The auto-equivalence $G: \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ defines a matrix **G**

$$[GS_a] = [S_b]\mathbf{G}_{ba}.\tag{2.26}$$

 $^{^{23}}$ 11 types if we count the asymptotically-free cases, i.e. $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ strong but not necessarily numerically CY.

Since the category is 2-CY, we have $G^s = S\Sigma^{-2}$ for some $s \in \mathbb{N}$, so $\mathbf{g}^s = \mathbf{h}$, and $\mathbf{g}^t \mathbf{b} \mathbf{g} = \mathbf{b}$ so $\mathbf{g} \in \mathrm{Sp}(\mathbf{b}, \mathbb{Z})$. By the Kodaira type of \mathscr{C}_G we mean the conjugacy class of \mathbf{g} in the arithmetic group $\mathrm{Sp}(\mathbf{b}, \mathbb{Z})$. Note that the Kodaira type of the Amiot cluster category \mathscr{C}_A coincides with that of the algebra \mathcal{A} . The Kodaira types of \mathscr{C}_G and \mathscr{C}_A are related by the local base change $z \to z^s$ formulae given e.g. in table (IV.4.1) of [19].

The Kodaira type of the rank-1 SCFT described the category \mathscr{C}_G coincides with Kodaira type of \mathscr{C}_G as described in this section.

Remark 2. For k = 1 we have another invariant $b \in \mathbb{N}$ given by det $\mathbf{b} = b^2$. One gets

$$b(\mathcal{F}) + b(\mathcal{F}^*) = 4$$
 and also $1/\Delta(\mathcal{F}) + 1/\Delta(\mathcal{F}') = 1.$ (2.27)

The rest of this paper is dedicated to show that the 2-CY categories satisfying the above Criterion/Definition are in natural bijection with the 28 interacting rank-1 SCFT listed in table 1 of [3].

3 Appetizer: derived category of index-1 Fano surfaces (a.k.a. Minahan-Nemeshanski SCFT)

Our problem is to find all solutions to the conditions in the Criterion/Definition of the previous section. Some special solutions can be found in a cheap way; this holds in particular when the algebra \mathcal{A} is derived equivalent to a hereditary category \mathcal{H} (see appendices B, D). As we shall review in sections 3 and 6, the hereditary case produces in rank-1²⁴ the Argyres-Douglas models of types A_2 , A_3 , D_4 and SU(2) SQCD with $N_f = 4$ of respective Kodaira type II, III, IV and I_0^* (the rank of $K_0(\mathcal{H})$ is the Euler number of its Kodaira fiber, table 1). As an appetizer we present a less known class of cheap solutions where \mathcal{A} has wild representation-type and Kodaira type IV^* , III^* and II^* .

3.1 Algebraic-geometric viewpoint

Suppose X is a smooth projective surface which is Fano (i.e. $-K_X$ is ample) of index-1 (i.e. $-K_X$ is primitive in the Picard lattice) and such that the anticanonical model of X is a hypersurface of degree d in some weighted projective space $\mathbb{P}(w_0, w_1, w_2, w_3)$. Since X is an index-1 Fano we have the equality

$$w \equiv \sum_{i=0}^{3} w_i = d + 1.$$
 (3.1)

We claim that each surface X with the above properties yields a (derived equivalence class of) triangular algebra \mathcal{A} of global-dimension 2 such that their derived category $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \equiv D^b \mod \mathcal{A}$ is fractional Calabi-Yau of dimension

$$\hat{c} = \frac{a}{b} = \frac{2(2d-w)}{d} \equiv \frac{2(d-1)}{d}, \quad \text{i.e.} \quad S^d \cong \Sigma^{2(d-1)} \text{ in } \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}.$$
(3.2)

²⁴Together with the 4 asymptotically free SU(2) SQCD with $N_f \leq 3$; for simplicity in the text we limit to SCFTs.

$k \equiv \#$ blown-up points	(w_0, w_1, w_2, w_3)	d	\hat{c}	root lattice	$\Delta {\equiv} (1\!-\!\hat{c}/2)^{-1} {\equiv} d$
6	(1, 1, 1, 1)	3	4/3	E_6	3
7	(1, 1, 1, 2)	4	3/2	E_7	4
8	(1, 1, 2, 3)	6	5/3	E_8	6

Table 2. Index-1 Fano surfaces whose anti-canonical model is a weighted projective hypersurface. \hat{c} is the CY dimension of the associated algebra. Δ is the Coulomb branch dimension of the corresponding rank-1 SCFT, while the root lattice described in [69] section 8.2 (see fifth column) dictates its flavor symmetry. The root lattice in the fifth column corresponds to the Kodaira type of the associated algebra \mathcal{A} (cf. third row of table 1).

Note that this implies

$$\Sigma^2 \cong (S^{-1}\Sigma^2)^d \quad \Rightarrow \quad \Sigma^2 \cong \mathrm{Id} \text{ in } \mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}, \tag{3.3}$$

so that the Amiot cluster category $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is symmetric. As discussed around eq. (2.5), this implies that the Coulomb dimensions $\Delta_i \in \mathbb{N}$.

By classification, the surfaces X satisfying the above conditions are del Pezzo, in fact \mathbb{P}^2 blown-up in k = 6, 7, 8 points in very general position ([69] especially section 8.3.2). See table 2.

The claim follows from a few well-known facts that we now recall.

Definition 3.1.1. Let \mathscr{D} a (\mathbb{C} -linear, Hom-finite) triangle category. An ordered sequence of objects $\{E_1, E_2, \ldots, E_r\}$ of \mathscr{D} is said to be *strongly exceptional* iff

$$\mathscr{D}(E_i, E_j[k]) = 0 \quad \text{for } k \neq 0 \text{ and all } i, j$$

$$\mathscr{D}(E_i, E_i) \cong \mathbb{C}, \quad \mathscr{D}(E_i, E_j) = 0 \text{ for } i > j.$$
(3.4)

The sequence $\{E_1, E_2, \ldots, E_r\}$ is called *full* iff it generates the triangle category \mathscr{D} , i.e. if the smallest full triangle sub-category of \mathscr{D} containing the E_i is \mathscr{D} :

$$\mathscr{D} \cong \langle E_1, E_2, \cdots, E_r \rangle. \tag{3.5}$$

If $\{E_1, E_2, \cdots, E_r\}$ is a full strongly exceptional sequence, the object

$$\mathcal{E} \equiv \bigoplus_{i=1}^{r} E_i \in \mathscr{D} \tag{3.6}$$

is a tilting object of \mathscr{D} with the special property that its endo-algebra $\mathcal{B} \cong \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E})$ is (finitedimensional and) triangular. The basic statement of tilting theory [70] is the equivalence of triangle categories

$$\mathscr{D} \cong D^b \mathsf{mod}\,\mathcal{B}.\tag{3.7}$$

Fact 1 (e.g. [71, 72]). Let X be a del Pezzo surface obtained by blowing up k points in very general position in \mathbb{P}^2 ; we write coh X for the category of the coherent sheaves on X, and $\mathscr{D}_X = D^b \operatorname{coh} X$ for its bounded derived category. It follows from the description of X as

the blow-up of the plane that \mathscr{D}_X contains several full strongly exceptional sequences [72]. For instance a convenient one is

$$\{E_1, E_2 \cdots, E_{k+3}\} = = \left\{ \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(-1), \mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}(-1), \cdots, \mathcal{O}_{\ell_k}(-1), \pi^* \mathcal{O}[1], \pi^* \mathcal{T}(-1)[1], \pi^* \mathcal{O}(2)[1] \right\}$$
(3.8)

where $\pi: X \to \mathbb{P}^2$ is the obvious dominant morphism, ℓ_a (a = 1, 2, ..., k) are the exceptional (-1) lines, and \mathcal{T} is the tangent bundle of \mathbb{P}^2 .

Proof. Computation of dim $\mathscr{D}(E_i, E_j[k])$, see appendix C.

The triangular algebra $\mathcal{B} \equiv \text{End}(\mathcal{E})$ has "Cartan matrix" (in the 4d/2d language [45]: the inverse of the Stokes matrix S)

$$S_{ij}^{-1} = \dim \mathscr{D}(E_i, E_j) \tag{3.9}$$

which is upper-triangular with 1's on the main diagonal (the reason why \mathcal{B} is called "triangular"); see appendix C for explicit expressions. Let us draw the acyclic quiver (with relations) of the algebra $\mathcal{B} = \text{End}(\mathcal{E})$ for the full strong exceptional sequence (3.8)



where (as always) dashed arrows stand for minimal relations in the opposite direction.

Fact 2. Let Y be a smooth hypersurface of degree d in the weighted projective space $\mathbb{P}(w_0, w_1, w_2, w_3)$ satisfying the relation

$$w \equiv \sum_{i} w_i = d + 1, \tag{3.11}$$

i.e. Y is (in particular) a index-1 Fano surface. Let (E_1, \dots, E_r) be a full strong exceptional sequence in $D^b \operatorname{coh} Y$ whose last object $E_r \equiv \mathcal{L}[s]$ is a shift of a line bundle \mathcal{L} . Then the full triangle sub-category

$$\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \equiv \left\langle E_1, E_2, \cdots, E_{r-1} \right\rangle \subsetneq \mathscr{D}_Y \tag{3.12}$$

is fractional Calabi-Yau of dimension a/b = 2(2d - w)/d. I.e.

$$S^{d} \cong \Sigma^{2(2d-w)} \quad in \ \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{A}}. \tag{3.13}$$

Moreover one has

$$\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \cong D^b \operatorname{mod} \mathcal{A} \quad where \ \mathcal{A} = \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E}^*), \quad \mathcal{E}^* = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{r-1} E_i.$$
 (3.14)

Proof. Applying to the sequence the shift Σ^{-s} and twisting it by the line bundle $\mathcal{O}_Y \mathcal{L}^{-1}$ we may assume $E_r = \mathcal{O}_Y \equiv \pi^* \mathcal{O}(1)$. Then, in view of eq. (3.11), the statement is a special case of Corollary 4.2 in [73].

Let X be a del Pezzo surface which is also a smooth hypersurface in some $\mathbb{P}(w_0, w_1, w_2, w_3)$ (then automatically w = d + 1). We apply Fact 2 to the full strong exceptional sequence in eq. (3.8). The quiver \mathring{Q} of the algebra $\mathcal{A} = \text{End}(\mathcal{E}^*)$ may be obtained from the quiver of the algebra $\mathcal{B} = \text{End}(\mathcal{E}^* \oplus \mathcal{L}[s])$, eq. (3.10), by deleting in (3.10) the rightmost node associated to the shifted line bundle $\mathcal{L}[1] \equiv \pi^* \mathcal{O}(2)[1]$.



 \mathcal{A} is then a finite-dimensional triangular algebra of global-dimension 2 whose derived category $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is fractional CY of the dimension in eq. (3.2). We give a name to the algebras so constructed.

Definition 3.1.2. A del Pezzo algebra of type E_k (k = 6, 7, 8) is a global-dimension 2 algebra \mathcal{A}_k of the form

$$\mathcal{A}_{k} \cong \operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{D}_{X_{k}}}\left(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{k+2} E_{i}\right), \qquad \begin{bmatrix} X_{k} \text{ a smooth del Pezzo} \\ \text{surface of degree } 9-k, \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.16)

where $\{E_1, E_2, \dots, E_{k+2}, \mathcal{O}_{X_k}\}$ is a full strong exceptional sequence in \mathscr{D}_{X_k} . del Pezzo algebras \mathcal{A}_k depend on continuous parameters, namely the complex moduli of X_k . Two del Pezzo algebras associated to the same surface X_k are derived equivalent.

The del Pezzo cluster categories

$$\mathscr{C}_{E_k} = \left(D^b \operatorname{mod} \mathcal{A}_k / (S^{-1} \Sigma^2)^{\mathbb{Z}} \right)_{\operatorname{tr.hull}} \quad k = 6, 7, 8,$$
(3.17)

describe (respectively) the Minahan-Nemesjansky SCFT of type E_6 , E_7 and E_8 whose existence here we deduce from the structure of the derived category of sheaves on del Pezzo surfaces. The quivers of these theories are given by (the mutation class of) the completion of the quiver Q (3.15) obtained from \mathring{Q} by making solid the dashed lines; Q is equipped with the superpotential

$$W_{\rm lin} = \sum_{a} \rho_a r_a \tag{3.18}$$

where ρ_a is the arrow which replaces the *a*-th dashed arrow and r_a the associated minimal relation.²⁵ We have recovered the well known BPS-quiver description of these SCFT [30, 75].

Remark 3. Had we started with the more widely used full strongly exceptional sequence

$$\Big\{\mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(-1), \mathcal{O}_{\ell_2}(-1), \cdots, \mathcal{O}_{\ell_k}(-1), \pi^*\mathcal{O}[1], \pi^*\mathcal{O}(1)[1], \pi^*\mathcal{O}(2)[1]\Big\},$$
(3.19)

instead of the one in eq. (3.8) we would have ended with the quiver



whose completion Q' is equivalent to Q by the elementary mutation at the node ω .

Remark 4. The algebra $\mathcal{A}_k = \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E}_k^*)$ makes sense for all $k \leq 8$, except that \mathscr{D}_{A_k} is not fractional Calabi-Yau for $k \leq 5$. The "minimal deviation" from being fractional CY is obtained for k = 5, i.e. X is the blow-up of \mathbb{P}^2 at 5 generic points; X is no longer a hypersurface, but it is still a complete intersection of two quadrics [69]. Thus formally $\Delta = 2$, while the would-be flavor group is $E_5 \equiv \operatorname{SO}(10)$. This has a physical meaning: the quiver (3.15) with k = 5 belongs to the mutation class of SU(2) SQCD with $N_f = 5$, a QFT affected by Landau poles, so not defined as a QFT in its own right. However, as discussed on page 9, SU(2) SQCD with $N_f = 5$ makes sense as a low-energy effective theory up to some cut-off (Ringel's 'curious fact', see footnote 17). The presence of Landau poles obviously spoils the CY property; a part for that, $\Delta = 2$ and $F = \operatorname{SO}(10)$ are the correct answers for this formal QFT.

3.2 Physicist's viewpoint

The categorical constructions used in the previous subsection were originally introduced in the context of (homological) mirror symmetry, i.e. they are a rephrasing of the 4d/2d correspondence of [38]. It is just the relation between the BPS-brane categories of the gauged linear σ -model with target the del Pezzo surface X and the Landau-Ginzburg (2,2) model with quasi-homogeneous superpotential the equation $W(X_0, X_1, X_2, X_3) = 0$ of X in the weighted projective space, which flows in the IR to a (2,2) SCFT with $\hat{c} = 2(d-1)/d$. Since X is Fano, the σ -model is not conformal, and flowing it to the IR we loose chiral primaries, which is the physical rationale for deleting the node of the quiver which gets "massive". More or less by definition, the IR fixed point has Calabi-Yau dimension \hat{c} .

 $^{^{25}}$ Cf. Theorem 6.12 of [74].

4 Review of [21] (in rank 1)

We start by reviewing the small part of the unpublished work [21] which refers to rank-1 theories (for a related discussion see [75]). To distinguish the several rank-1 QFTs we either refer to them by the number of the corresponding entry in table 1 of Argyres et al. [3] or by the pair (Δ, F) where Δ is the dimension of their Coulomb branch and F the maximal flavor symmetry group; an asymptotically-free theory will be written (af, F).

4.1 The 16 rank-1 2-acyclic QFT

We start by considering the 2-CY categories with the properties required in our Criterion/Definition which are Amiot cluster categories, i.e. such that $G = S\Sigma^{-2}$ in eq. (2.12). They are in particular 2-acyclic i.e. have the BPS-quiver property.

We saw in section 2 that the 2d quantum monodromy H of an algebra \mathcal{A} with gl.dim $\mathcal{A} \leq 2$ which satisfies conditions a,b) of Criterion/Definition, such that $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is fractional Calabi-Yau has special spectral properties. We recall the definitions. Let P_i $(i = 1, ..., \nu)$ be the indecomposable projective modules of \mathcal{A} . The matrix dim $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{A}}(P_i, P_j)$ has determinant ± 1 , so its inverse exists and we have [45]

$$S_{ji}^{-1} = \dim \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}(P_i, P_j), \qquad B = S - S^t, \qquad H = (S^{-1})^t S.$$
 (4.1)

Under the conditions of the Criterion/Definition, B, H are \mathbb{Z} -equivalent to

$$B = m \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \bigoplus \mathbf{0}, \quad m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1} \qquad H = \overline{H} \bigoplus \mathbf{1}, \quad \overline{H} \in \mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{Z}) \text{ and torsion.}$$
(4.2)

We shall say that an algebra \mathcal{A} with gl.dim $\mathcal{A} \leq 2$ is numerically CY of rank-1 iff its matrix dim $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}(P_i, P_j)$ satisfies (4.2). This implies that for certain integers a, b we have $[S^bX] = [\Sigma^a X]$ for all $X \in \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$, but in general the equality may be not lifted from the Grothendieck group to the derived category, so the notion of numerical CY is weaker than fractional CY.

A numerically CY algebra \mathcal{A} with rank B = 2 has a well-defined semi-simple Kodaira type, i.e. the conjugacy class of \overline{H} in SL(2, \mathbb{Z}).

As a first step we can look for triangular algebras which are numerically CY. This means we start with an integral upper-triangular matrix S with 1's on the diagonal, and solve the numerical conditions above seen as Diophantine equations in the entries of S. These are precisely the same Diophantine equations as in the classification program of 2d (2,2) SCFT [45]. Modulo some subtlety we shall dwell momentarily, if a solution S to these equations correspond to an actual (2,2) SCFT, then an actual fractional CY also exists in the form of its brane category just as it did in the del Pezzo case of section 3 (seen from the physics side).

Ref. [21] aims to solve the Diophantine conditions by the interplay of the 4d and 2d physics. Let us describe the results relevant for rank-1. Given a (possibly empty) set of

positive integers $A = \{a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_f\}$ and an integer q we define the quiver Q(A;q) to be



where the symbol $-a_j \rightarrow$ stands for a_j directed arrows between the correspondent pair of nodes $(a_j \text{ negative means } |a_j| \text{ arrows in the opposite direction})$. The rank of its exchange matrix B_{ij} is 2. Then, if the quiver describes a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT, the rank of its flavor group is

$$\operatorname{rank} F = f. \tag{4.4}$$

The type (p, \bar{q}) of the quiver Q(A; q) is defined to be

$$p = \sum_{i=1}^{f} a_i^2, \qquad 0 \le \bar{q} = \begin{cases} p - q & \text{if } q < 0\\ q & \text{if } p - q < 0 \\ \min\{q, p - q\} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

We have the mutation equivalence

$$Q(A,q) \sim Q(A,p-q), \tag{4.6}$$

so, without loss, we may assume $q \equiv \bar{q}$.

To each Q(A,q) quiver we associate some triangular algebra $\mathcal{A} \equiv \mathcal{A}(A,q)$. If $A = \emptyset$, Q is the acyclic q-Kronecker quiver (unique in its mutation class). In this case \mathcal{A} is just the hereditary algebra $\mathbb{C}Q$ (global dimension 1). If $A \neq \emptyset$ we have choices. A first possibility is to replace the q vertical arrows by dashed ones; the remaining solid arrows form an acyclic quiver $\mathring{Q}^{(1)}$. The dashed arrows are taken to represent (generic) minimal relations generating an admissible ideal $I^{(1)}$ in the path algebra $\mathbb{C}\mathring{Q}^{(1)}$. The algebra $\mathcal{A}^{(1)} = \mathbb{C}\mathring{Q}^{(1)}/I^{(1)}$ has global dimension ≤ 2 . A second possibility is to dash the arrows starting at the node α ; we get a different quiver $\mathring{Q}^{(2)}$, ideal $I^{(2)}$ and algebra $\mathcal{A}^{(2)} = \mathbb{C}\mathring{Q}^{(2)}/I^{(2)}$. Note that the matrices S for $\mathcal{A}^{(1)}$, $\mathcal{A}^{(2)}$ are \mathbb{Z} -equivalent, so the spectral conditions does not distinguish between the two.

One shows that the Diophantine conditions are satisfied if and only if the type (p, q) of Q(A, q) is as in table 3 where for completeness we reinstated the four rank-1 asymptotically-free theories which satisfy weaker spectral conditions.²⁶ Moreover, all algebras of given

²⁶The spectral conditions of [38] state that the 2d quantum monodromy H should have spectral radius 1 and, in the af case [45], a unipotent part consistent with the SL_2 -orbit theorem of Hodge theory [58]. Equivalently the conjugacy classof \overline{H} is in the Kodaira list.

(p, \bar{q})	(0,1)	(1,0)	(2,1)	(0,2)	$(1,\!2)$	(2,2)		
$\mathcal{F}_{(p,q)}$	II	III	IV					
(Δ, F)	$(\frac{6}{5}, -)$	$\left(\frac{4}{3},\mathrm{SU}(2)\right)$	$\left(\frac{3}{2},\mathrm{SU}(3)\right)$	(af, -)	(af, SO(2))	(af, SO(4))		
#	28	27	26	-	-	-		
a/b	1/3	2/4	2/3					
(p, \bar{q})	(3,2)	(4,2)	(6,3)	(7,3)	(8,3)			
$\mathcal{F}_{(p,q)}$		I_0^*	IV^*	III^*	II^*			
(Δ, F)	(af, SO(6))		(2,F)	(3,F)	(4,F)	(6,F)		
#	-	$23,\!24,\!25$	$19,\!20$	$12,\!13$	$1,\!2,\!3$			
a/b		2/2	2/3	2/4	2/6			
l e 3 . Tl	e 3. The values of (p, \bar{q}) such that the quiver $Q(A, q)$ satisfies the requirements of $4d/2$							

Table 3. $^{\rm 2d}$ correspondence. For a SCFT Δ is the conformal dimension. # is the entry number of the (massdeformed) SCFT in table 1 of ref. [3]. For a SCFT a/b is the fractional CY dimension.

type (p,q) have the same Kodaira type $\mathcal{F}_{(p,q)}$ see table. Note that the Euler number of the Kodaira fiber is

$$e(\mathcal{F}_{(p,q)}) = p + 2.$$
 (4.7)

We say that a quiver Q(A,q) whose type is in the table is *admissible*. In the table we list some of the properties of the putative QFT described by a given quiver. F stands for some unspecified flavor group which depends on the specific set A not just on the type of the Q(A,q) quiver. Note that an integer $p \leq 3$ can be written in a unique way as a sum of squares, $p = 1 + \cdots + 1$, so for $p \leq 3$ the type determines uniquely the flavor group which is written in the table. Note that all rank-1 models with $\Delta < 2$ or asymptotically-free are covered by table 3.

In the case $A = \{1^f\}$ the numerical CY algebras we got are well known:

- for (0,1) and (1,0) hereditary of Dynkin type A_2 and A_3 ;
- for (2,1) a tilted-algebra of D_4 type;

- for $(p,q) = (N,2) \mathcal{A}^{(1)}$ is a canonical algebra of type $\{2, 2, \dots, 2\}$ (N 2's) and $\mathcal{A}^{(2)}$ a squid algebra of the same type (the two being derived equivalent);
- for $(p,q) = (p,3) \mathcal{A}^{(2)}$ is a *del Pezzo* algebra of type E_p (section 3).

In particular, in all these cases there exists and ideal I such that the algebra $\mathbb{C}Q/I$ is actually fractional Calabi-Yau of the given dimension, not just numerically so.

Subtleties for $A \neq \{1^f\}$. The case with $A \neq \{1^f\}$ is subtler in many respects. The first example is $Q(\{2\}, 2)$ i.e. the Markoff quiver which is well known to correspond to SU(2) $\mathcal{N}=2^*$ [30]. A priori it is not clear that one may find an ideal I so that the algebra $\mathbb{C}Q/I$ is fractional CY and not just numerically CY. The simplest choice of relations

$$\bullet \xrightarrow{a_1} a_2 \xrightarrow{b_1} \bullet \xrightarrow{b_1} b_2 \xrightarrow{b_2} \bullet \qquad b_1 a_1 = b_2 a_2 = 0, \tag{4.8}$$

which yields a gentle algebra, is certainly *not* fractional CY. On the other hand a good 2d (2,2) theory associated to the Markoff quiver exists, namely the Landau-Ginzburg model with superpotential the Weierstrass function $\wp(X)$ (with identifications, $X \sim X + 1$, $X \sim X + \tau$). Correspondingly there exists a 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT, namely SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^{*}$.²⁷ In fact it is known that there exists a W on the Markoff quiver which produces a nice 2-CY cluster category.²⁸ The superpotential W_{lin} in eq. (3.18), linear in the ρ_a , is a *singular* limit of the good one which contains also terms of higher order in the ρ_a 's. This phenomenon should be compared with the special-geometric viewpoint that we shall review in The geometry for $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ is a desingularization of a singular limit of the geometry for SU(2) with $N_f = 4$. The algebra with W_{lin} may be seen as the singular limit, while adding the higher term to W the desingularization process.

The physical reason why the model is subtle, is the existence of hypermultiplets which are everywhere light on the Coulomb branch; switching the mass deformation off, this means that we have a Higgs branch fibered over the generic point in the Coulomb branch (an enhaced Coulomb branch in the terminology of [6]). We shall give some more detail on this topic below.

The story should remain true for all admissible quivers Q(A, q) with $A = \{2, 1^{f-4}\}$; we call the associated SCFT Argyres-Wittig models since they were first described in ref. [78]. This is quite natural, from the geometrical side, since the situation is locally the same as for the $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ model. In fact, the SCFT are known to exist.

There remains a last admissible quiver $Q(\{2,2\},3)$. It corresponds to entry 3 in table 1 of [3]. However this entry is shaded in color in [3] since its effective existence is doubtful. From our categorical viewpoint, its existence also looks problematic, in the sense, that the numerical CY algebra is not expected to be truly fractional CY, and the desingularization which worked in the Argyres-Wittig cases is hardly sufficient to regularize the 2-CY category.

The main physical reason to doubt its existence [3] is that no meaningful RG flow seems to originate from this would-be QFT. In the present context, there is an element with the same flavor. All admissible quivers Q(A,q) — except $Q(\{2,2\},3)$ — have the property that if we delete a node $\neq \alpha, \beta$ we either get another admissible Q(A,q) quiver or the quiver of a low-energy effective theory with a cut-off such as SU(2) coupled to five **2**'s, or to one **3** and one **2**. In all cases the spectral radius of the 2d monodromy remains 1. This is no true for $Q(\{2,2\},3)$; indeed $Q(\{2\},3)$ has spectral radius > 1, so is not expected to correspond to a QFT, not even a formal one. With these *caveats* we keep $Q(\{2,2\},3)$ in our tables.

 $^{^{27}\}mathrm{Note}$ that the coupling spaces of both 4d and 2d models (apart for a mass scale) are the moduli of elliptic curves.

 $^{^{28}}$ With the further subtlety that the path algebra of the quiver should be replaced by the completion of the path algebra with respect the m-topology, where m is the arrow ideal.

The reader may wonder how general is our ansatz Q(A,q) for the quiver. We carried over extensive searches for quivers with the right spectral properties, an found (of course) lots of them; at closer inspection they all turned out to be mutation equivalent to one in the form Q(A,q). We believe that this is indeed true in general. The correspondence with singular fiber configurations of elliptic surfaces provides further evidence for this expectation.

4.1.1 Comparison with rational elliptic surfaces

The quivers Q(A, q) which satisfy the above spectral requirements are easily seen in one-toone correspondence with the allowed configurations of Kodaira singular fibers in a rational elliptic surface with section²⁹ subject to two conditions: *i*) there is precisely one fiber with additive reduction (the fiber at ∞) — of the conjugate type \mathcal{F}^* with respect to the SCFT — all other singular fibers being multiplicative (i.e. semi-stable); *ii*) the poles of Kodaira's functional invariant $\mathscr{J}(z)$ have orders which are perfect squares: this is essentially the condition called 'Dirac quantization of charge' in ref. [3]. The map (quiver data) \leftrightarrow (Kodaira fiber configuration) is

$$A \longleftrightarrow \left\{ \mathcal{F}^*; I_{a_1^2}, I_{a_2^2}, \cdots, I_{a_f^2}, I_1^2 \right\}, \tag{4.9}$$

where \mathcal{F}^* is the unique additive (non semi-stable) Kodaira fiber with Euler characteristic $e(\mathcal{F}^*) = 10 - p = 12 - e(\mathcal{F}_{(p,q)})$. In particular the allowed types (p, \bar{q}) are in one-to-one correspondence with the un-stable Kodaira fibers \mathcal{F}^* which may appear in a *rational* elliptic surface

$$p = 10 - e(\mathcal{F}^*), \qquad q = b(\mathcal{F}) \equiv \begin{cases} 3 & e(\mathcal{F}^*) < 6\\ 2 & e(\mathcal{F}^*) = 6 + b\\ 1 & e(\mathcal{F}^*) > 6 \text{ and } r = 0, \end{cases}$$
(4.10)

where r is the order of pole of $\mathscr{J}(z)$ at infinity. For SCFT r = 0, and we limit to this case. The 'Dirac quantization' constraint is automatically satisfied by this class of 2-acyclic quivers. Indeed it is the basic ingredient which led to the ansatz Q(A,q) for the quiver in the first place [21].

From the point of view of the elliptic surface, the models with $A \neq \{1^f\}$ are obtained by making a_i^2 singular fibers I_1 to coalesce to form singular fibers of type $I_{a_i^2}$. The corresponding algebras are then singular limits at the boundary in the complex moduli space; geometrically, the singularities may be resolved by changing the birational model. Morally, this reflects the process of regularizing the completed algebra by adding higher order terms in the superpotential W.

The relation with the geometry of the rational elliptic surfaces may be described directly, without reference to the physical considerations of [17], as we are going to show.

4.1.2 Relation with the derived category of rational elliptic surfaces

There is a strange "duality" between the algebras with $A = \{1^f\}$ of conjugate semi-simple Kodaira type, \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{F}^* . Their numbers ν of quiver nodes, fractional CY dimensions \hat{c} ,

²⁹Tables of allowed fibers configurations for rational elliptic surfaces may be found in refs. [18, 76, 77].

and b-coefficients satisfy

$$\nu(\mathcal{F}) + \nu(\mathcal{F}^*) = 12, \quad \hat{c}(\mathcal{F}) + \hat{c}(\mathcal{F}^*) = 2, \quad b(\mathcal{F}) + b(\mathcal{F}^*) = 4.$$
 (4.11)

One feels that the corresponding derived categories $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{F}^{\vee}}$ cry to be paired up in a deeper structure. The feeling is correct.

Let Y be a (smooth) rational elliptic surface with a section. It may be seen as \mathbb{P}^2 blown-up in 9 points [19], one of the exceptional (-1) lines playing the role of the base of the fibration. For $0 \le k \le 8$ we consider the following full strong exceptional sequence in $D^b \operatorname{coh} Y$

$$\left\{ E_1^{(k)}, E_2^{(k)} \cdots, E_{12}^{(k)} \right\} = \\ = \left\{ \mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(-1), \cdots, \mathcal{O}_{\ell_k}(-1), \pi^* \mathcal{O}[1], \pi^* \mathcal{T}(-1)[1], \pi^* \mathcal{O}(2)[1], \mathcal{O}_{\ell_{k+1}}[1], \cdots, \mathcal{O}_{\ell_9}[1] \right\}$$
(4.12)

Let $\mathcal{A}^{(k)} \equiv \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E}^{(k)})$ be the endo-algebra of the tilting object

$$\mathcal{E}^{(k)} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{12} E_i^{(k)}, \tag{4.13}$$

whose quiver is shown in figure 1. For k = 6, 7, 8, the two complementary full subquivers over the nodes $\{E_1^{(k)}, \dots, E_{k+2}^{(k)}\}$ and, respectively, $\{E_{k+3}^{(k)}, \dots, E_{12}^{(k)}\}$, are the quivers of the $A = \{1\}$ algebras of complementary Kodaira types \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{F}^{\vee} with $\mathcal{F} = IV^*, III^*$ and II^* respectively. We consider the two full triangulated subcatgories

$$\mathscr{A}_{k} = \left\langle E_{1}^{(k)}, \cdots, E_{k+2}^{(k)} \right\rangle \subset \mathscr{D}^{b} \operatorname{coh} Y, \qquad \qquad \mathscr{A}_{k} \cong D^{b} \operatorname{mod} \mathcal{A}(\{1^{k}\}, 3) \tag{4.14}$$

$$\mathscr{B}_{k} = \left\langle E_{k+3}^{(k)}, \dots, E_{12}^{(k)} \right\rangle \subset \mathscr{D}^{b} \operatorname{coh} Y, \qquad \qquad \mathscr{B}_{k} \cong D^{b} \operatorname{mod} \mathbb{C}Q_{k} \tag{4.15}$$

(with $Q_6 = D_4$, $Q_7 = A_3$, $Q_8 = A_2$). \mathscr{A}_k , \mathscr{B}_k yield a semiorthogonal decomposition of $D^b \operatorname{coh} Y$

$$D^{b} \operatorname{coh} Y = \left\langle \mathscr{A}_{k}, \mathscr{B}_{k} \right\rangle, \tag{4.16}$$

so, in a sense, the derived category $D^b \operatorname{coh} Y$ is obtained by gluing the two fractional Calabi-Yau categories of complementary dimensions.

Geometrically, this correspond to the operation in [17] of gluing together the special geometries of two complementary rank-1 SCFT to get a compact geometry Y, easier to study than the open geometry of a single SCFT.

We expect that $D^b \operatorname{coh} Y$ to have a semiorthogonal decomposition into two derived categories of coherent sheaves on weighted projective lines of tubular type $\{2, 2, 2, 2\}$.

4.1.3 Flavor symmetry

How we read the flavor group F from the set A? If $A = \{1, 1, ..., 1\} \equiv \{1^f\}$ and of Kodaira semi-simple type F is the group associated to the corresponding Kodaira fiber, table 1. Let us give a graphical rule which extends to the asymptotically-free case. F is the simply-laced Lie group whose Dynkin diagram is a star with 3-arms of lenghts (2, p-q, q) (counting the



Figure 1. The quiver of the endo-algebras $\mathcal{A}^{(k)}$ derived equivalent to the category of coherent sheaves on a rational elliptic surface with section.

valency 3 node in the arm length, so an arm of lenght 1 is no arm at all). If the length of an arm is negative, the Dynkin graph does not exist, which means that the flavor group is not semi-simple, hence is the Abelian group $U(1)^f$. If an arm has lenght 0, the central node gets deleted and we remain with the disconnected Dynkin graph $A_1 \oplus A_{p-q-1}$ so the flavor group is $SU(2) \times SU(p-q)$, see tables 3 for $p \leq 3$, while for the other four models with $A = \{1^f\}$ one gets the groups in table 1. The $A = \{1^f\}$ flavor groups are the largest possible for the given dimension Δ . This correspond to the fact that the $A \neq \{1^f\}$ cases are obtained as singular specializations of the $A = \{1^f\}$ of the same type; then the mass parameters gets specialized to a sublocus, and since the rank of the flavor group is the dimension of mass parameter space, this means that rank F gets reduced.

For $A \neq \{1^f\}$ the rule of [21] yields

p	4	6	7	8	8
A	$\{2\}$	$\{2, 1^2\}$	$\{2, 1^3\}$	$\{2, 1^4\}$	$\{2^2\}$
(Δ, F)	$(2, \operatorname{Sp}(2))$	$(3, \mathrm{Sp}(4) \times \mathrm{U}(1))$	$(4, \operatorname{Sp}(6) \times \operatorname{Sp}(2))$	$(6, \operatorname{Sp}(10))$	$(6, \operatorname{Sp}(4))$

which (of course) agree with the tables of [3] under the correspondence (4.9). We now motivate this claims from the categorical viewpoint.

4.2 Properties of triangular QFT

We sketch the properties of the triangular QFT in the categorical language. To make the story shorter, we consider only the superconformal case and focus on rank-1, that is, on the theories with quivers of the form Q(A,q). We write $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \equiv D^b \mod \mathcal{A}$ for the correspondent bounded derived category. $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ has a Serre functor S, i.e. an auto-equivalence such that³⁰

$$D\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Y) = \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}(Y,SX), \qquad X,Y \in \mathscr{D}_{A}$$

$$(4.17)$$

³⁰Throughout the paper D stands for duality of complex vector spaces.

Modulo the subtlety for $A \neq \{1^f\}$, \mathscr{D}_A is fractional CY of dimension a/b, see table 3. The UV description of a triangular QFT is given by the cluster category \mathscr{C}_A , cf. eq. (2.3). By construction, \mathscr{C}_A is CY of dimension 2, i.e. $S \cong \Sigma^2$ in \mathscr{C}_A . \mathscr{C}_A has cluster-tilting objects, e.g. \mathcal{A} seen as a module over itself. The 2-CY category \mathscr{C}_A is symmetric if it also 2-periodic i.e. $\Sigma^2 \cong$ Id. The IR description is given by the root category \mathscr{R}_A , eq. (2.3). By construction \mathscr{R}_A is 2-periodic, i.e. $\Sigma^2 \simeq$ Id. The Coulomb dimension Δ is expressed in terms of the orders of the 2d and 4d quantum monodromies

$$\Delta = \frac{o(H)}{o(\mathbb{M})}.\tag{4.18}$$

Since $\Sigma^{2o(\mathbb{M})} \cong S^{o(\mathbb{M})} \cong \mathrm{Id}$ in $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$, and given that the $2o(\mathbb{M})$ -periodic orbit category

$$\mathscr{M}_{\mathcal{A}} = \left(\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}/(\Sigma^{2o(\mathbb{M})})^{\mathbb{Z}}\right)_{\text{tr.hull}},\tag{4.19}$$

enjoys a universality property between all $2o(\mathbb{M})$ -periodic quotient categories of $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$, we get a diagram of projection functors which defines the IR/UV correspondence

Pulling back (periodic) Euler characteristics to $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$, we get the relations

$$\langle X, Y \rangle_{\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}} = o(H) \langle X, Y \rangle_{\mathscr{M}_{\mathcal{A}}}, \qquad \langle X, Y \rangle_{\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}}} = o(\mathbb{M}) \langle X, Y \rangle_{\mathscr{M}_{\mathcal{A}}},$$
(4.21)

which, in view of (4.18) yields

$$\langle X, Y \rangle_{\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}} = \Delta \, \langle X, Y \rangle_{\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}}} \tag{4.22}$$

In particular when $o(\mathbb{M}) = 1$, $\Delta = o(H) \in \mathbb{N}$ and the cluster category $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is 2-periodic. In this case the IR/UV correspondence reduces to a triangle functor

$$\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}} \equiv \mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}}/(S)^{\mathbb{Z}_{\Delta}}.$$
 (4.23)

 $o(\mathbb{M})$ is defined for all 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT [38], not just for the triangular ones; it is equal to the lcm of the orders of the Coulomb dimensions Δ_i in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} [38]. Iff all dimensions Δ_i are integers, $o(\mathbb{M}) = 1$. In rank-1 we have a single dimension Δ which may take only 7 values [9, 12]

$$\Delta = \frac{6}{5}, \ \frac{4}{3}, \ \frac{3}{2}, \ 2, \ 3, \ 4, \ 6, \tag{4.24}$$

as it follows from the Kodaira types of numerically CY of rank-1 (table 1). If $\Delta < 2$ the SCFT should be an Argyres-Douglas model of type $\mathfrak{g} \in ADE$, whose UV (IR) categories are the cluster (root) Dynkin categories of the same type \mathfrak{g} . All other rank-1 SCFT have symmetric 2-CY categories (not necessarily cluster for non triangular models).

4.2.1 The generic Higgs branch

The first invariant of a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT is the quaternionic dimension h of the Higgs branch at a generic point along the Coulomb branch. When h > 0 one says there is an *enhanced Coulomb branch*[6].

The theory of the generic Higgs branch is a subtle and beautiful topic. Suffice here to say that for a triangular theory it is controlled by the Bongartz equation [79, 80]. We identify the set A with the vector $\boldsymbol{a} = (a_1, a_2 \cdots, a_f) \in \mathbb{Z}^f$. Then 2h is the number of solutions $\boldsymbol{x} = (x_1, \cdots, x_f)$ to the quadratic equation

$$q^{2}\boldsymbol{x}\cdot\boldsymbol{x} + (2-q)(\boldsymbol{a}\cdot\boldsymbol{x})^{2} = q^{2}$$

$$(4.25)$$

whose entries are integers. This yields h = 0 for all models with $A = \{1, ..., 1\}$ while for the Argyres-Wittig SCFT half the number of solutions is³¹

(A, q)	$(\{2\}, 2)$	$(\{2,1^2\},3)$	$(\{2,1^3\},3)$	$(\{2,1^4\},3)$	$(\{2^2\},3)$	(1.26)
h	1	2	3	5	2	(4.20

The flavor group of an Argyres-Wittig model has the form $\operatorname{Sp}(2h) \times F'$ with $\operatorname{Sp}(2h)$ acting in the natural way on the generic Higgs branch.

4.3 $K_0(\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}), K_0(\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}})$ for triangular QFT

To substantiate our physical picture we have to compute the Grothendieck group of the Amiot cluster category $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ with its appropriate Euler form and check that they yield the expected flavor symmetry. For the cluster category defined by the quiver Q(A,q), the group $K_0(\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}})$ is the Abelian group generated by the classes of the projective \mathcal{A} -modules $[P_{\alpha}], [P_{\omega}], \text{ and } [P_i] \ (i = 1, \ldots, f)$ subjected to the two relations

$$gcd(a_i,q)[P_\alpha] = gcd(a_i,q)[P_\omega], \qquad q[P_\alpha] + \sum_i a_i[P_i] = 0.$$
(4.27)

Assume $A \neq \{2\}, \{2,2\}$: then $gcd(a_i,q) = 1$, and $K_0(\mathscr{C}_A) \simeq \mathbb{Z}^f$ is *freely* generated by $[P_\alpha], [P_1], \cdots, [P_{f-1}].$

4.3.1 The flavor weight lattice

It is convenient to write the above lattice in the form $(A \neq \{2\}, \{2, 2\})$

$$\Gamma_{\mathcal{A}} = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{f} w_i[P_i] \mid w_i \in \frac{a_i}{q} \mathbb{Z} \text{ and } q w_i/a_i \equiv q w_j/a_j \mod q \right\}$$
(4.28)

For $\Delta \geq 2$ the Euler quadratic form on $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is

$$\Delta \cdot \sum_{i} w_i^2 \tag{4.29}$$

³¹The explicit solutions are exhibit in table 4.

(see also appendix D). A part for the overall factor Δ , the Grothendieck group (4.28) equipped with the Euler quadratic form (4.29) is the weight lattice of the flavor groups listed in section 4.1.3 with their canonical Weyl-invariant inner product.

The overall factor in Euler's form, eq. (4.29), has a simple interpretation. For the SCFT $A = \{1^f\}$, without subtleties, Δ is one-half the central charge of the superconformal flavor current algebra, $\Delta = \kappa_F/2$; in other words Δ is the overall normalization of the flavor-current two point function, so that for $a_i = 1$ (4.29) is just the physical normalization of the flavor weight quadratic form. Inverting the argument, from the Euler form of the cluster category we may read not just the flavor symmetry group F, but also its conformal central charge κ_F as well as interesting selection rules on the representations of F which may appear (see eq. (6.34) below for a typical example).

For the Argyres-Wittig models, $A = \{2, 1^{f-1}\}$, one has a similar formula, whose meaning is less clear. We write $F = \text{Sp}(2h) \times F'$ (cf. eq. (4.26)) and consider the two central charges κ_{Sp} and $\kappa_{F'}$. One has [6]

$$2\Delta = \kappa_{Sp} + h, \qquad 2\Delta = \kappa_{F'}. \tag{4.30}$$

4.3.2 The flavor root lattice

Let us consider the Grotendieck group of the IR category, $K_0(\mathscr{R}_A)$. In the triangular case, this group contains also the electro-magnetic charges, so to compare with $K_0(\mathscr{C}_A)$ we consider the sublattice of purely flavor charges namely the sublattice Λ_A of the S-invariant classes $[SX] = [X], X \in \mathscr{R}_A$.

The simply-laced case. We consider first the case $A = \{1^f\}$ which yields a simply-laced F of rank f. In this case $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}} \subset K_0(\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}})$ corresponds to classes of the form

$$\sum_{i} (x_i + y)[S_i] + y([S_\alpha] + [S_\omega]) \quad x_i, y \in \mathbb{Z}, \qquad q \, y + \sum_{i} x_i = 0 \tag{4.31}$$

where S_{\bullet} are the simple modules of \mathcal{A} . We write $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}}$ in the form

$$\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}} = \left\{ \boldsymbol{x} \equiv (x_1, \cdots, x_f) \in \mathbb{Z}^f \mid \sum_{i=1}^f x_i = 0 \mod q \right\}$$
(4.32)

with a natural pairing given by the Euler form of mod \mathcal{A} (symmetric when restricted to $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}}$)

$$\left\langle \boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y} \right\rangle_{\text{mod }\mathcal{A}} = \sum_{i} x_{i} y_{i} - \frac{q-2}{q^{2}} \sum_{i} x_{i} \cdot \sum_{j} y_{j}$$
 (4.33)

This symmetric form is *integral* in lattices of the form (4.32) for all (f,q). For q = 2 or q odd it is also *even*. It is *positive-definite* for

$$q^2 > f(q-2). (4.34)$$

Suppose $f \ge q$. The elements

$$\alpha_i = (0, \cdots, 0, \stackrel{i-\text{th}}{1}, -1, 0, \cdots, 0), \quad \text{for } i = 1, \dots, f - 1
\alpha_f = (1, \cdots, 1, 0, \cdots, 0) \quad \text{with } q \text{ 1's}$$
(4.35)

$(\text{length})^2 = 1$	$\pm (e_1 + e_{i_1}),$	$\pm (e_1 + e_2 + e_3 + e_4 + e_5)$
$(\text{length})^2 = 2$	$ \pm (e_{i_1} - e_{i_2}), \pm (e_{i_1} + e_{i_2} + e_{i_3}), \pm (2e_1 + e_{i_1} + e_{i_2}), $	$\pm (2e_1 + e_2 + e_3 + e_4 + e_5)$

Table 4. Elements of square-length 1 and 2 in the lattice $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}}$ for $A = \{2, 1^{f-1}\}$. The e_i 's are the elements of the canonical basis of \mathbb{Z}^f . The indices $i_k = 2, \ldots, f$ are all distinct. The last column is present only for the Argyres-Wittig model with $\Delta = 6$. The first row yields also the list of integral solutions to eq. (4.25).

are of square-length 2 and span $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}}$. Hence, under the condition that q is either 2 or odd and $(q-2)f < q^2 \leq f^2$, by Witt's theorem [81] $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}}$ is the root lattice of a simply-laced Lie algebra \mathfrak{f} and $\langle -, - \rangle_{\mathsf{mod}\,\mathcal{A}}$ is its canonical quadratic form. The conditions are satisfied by all the allowed types $(p, \bar{q}) \equiv (f, q)$ listed in table 3; from the simply-laced Lie algebra \mathfrak{f} we read the flavor Lie group F of the SCFT described by the quiver $Q(\{1^f\}, q)$. With respect to the pairing $\langle -, - \rangle_{\mathsf{mod}\,\mathcal{A}}$ the two lattices $\Gamma_{\mathcal{A}}$ and $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}}$ are each other dual.

The non-simply-laced case. We assume $A = \{2, 1^{f-1}\}$ with f > 1. This is the case of the three Argyres-Wittig models $(3, \text{Sp}(4) \times \text{U}(1)), (4, \text{Sp}(6) \times \text{SU}(2))$ and (6, Sp(10)). Now $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}} \subset K_0(\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}})$ is given by the classes of the form

$$(x_1+2y)[S_1] + \sum_{i\geq 2} (x_i+y)[S_i] + y([S_\alpha]+[S_\omega]), \quad x_i, y \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad q y+2x_1+\sum_{i\geq 2} x_i = 0 \quad (4.36)$$

i.e. the lattice $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}} = \{ \boldsymbol{x} = (x_1, \cdots, x_f) \in \mathbb{Z}^f \mid (2x_1 + \sum_{i \ge 2} x_i = 0 \mod q \}$ with pairing

$$\left\langle \boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y} \right\rangle_{\text{mod}\,\mathcal{A}} = \sum_{i} x_{i} y_{i} - \frac{q-2}{q^{2}} \left(2x_{1} + \sum_{i \geq 2} x_{i} \right) \left(2y_{1} + \sum_{j \geq 2} y_{j} \right).$$
 (4.37)

This quadratic form is still integral, symmetric, and positive-definite for the allowed types (p,q). However it is not *even*: now $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}}$ contains vectors of square-length 1: see table 4. There are exactly 2h of them in correspondence with the hypermultiplets spanning the generic Higgs branch. The elements of square-length 2 in $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}}$ are the short roots of the flavor group, while twice the vectors associated to the generic Higgs branch are the long roots of Sp(2h). Thus for $(A,q) = (\{2,1^2\},3)$ we have 4 short and 4 long roots, so $F = \text{Sp}(4) \times (\text{Abelian})$; for $(A,q) = (\{2,1^3\},3)$ we have 12 + 2 short and 6 long roots, so $F = \text{Sp}(6) \times \text{SU}(2)$; and for $(A,q) = (\{2,1^4\},3)$ we have 40 short and 10 long roots, so F = Sp(10).

The last two cases. We return to the 2 cases we have omitted

$$(A,q) = (\{2\},2), \qquad (A,q) = (\{2,2\},3).$$
 (4.38)

The first model is SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ and its physics is well-understood. The Grothedieck group of $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ is generated by $[S_{\alpha}]$, $[S_{\omega}]$ and $[S_1]$ subjected to the relations

$$2[S_{\alpha}] = 2[S_{\omega}] = 2[S_1], \tag{4.39}$$

so that $K_0(\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{N}=2^*})$ is isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_2 \otimes \mathbb{Z}_2$ generated by

$$[S_{\alpha}] + [S_{\omega}] + [S_1], \qquad [S_{\alpha}] - [S_1], \qquad [S_{\omega}] - [S_1]. \tag{4.40}$$

This is the correct 't Hooft group in the UV, see appendix A. Indeed for a gauge theory with matter the (maximal) UV group is [33]

$$\Gamma_{\text{flav}} \oplus \pi_1(G_{\text{eff}}) \oplus \pi_1(G_{\text{eff}})^{\vee},$$

$$(4.41)$$

where G_{eff} is the quotient of the gauge group G which acts effectively on the local fields. In the $\mathcal{N} = 2^* \mod G_{\text{eff}} = \mathrm{SU}(2)/\mathbb{Z}_2$ since the local fields are in the adjoint representation. Then $\pi_1(G_{\text{eff}}) = \mathbb{Z}_2$ and we get full agreement between $K_0(\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{N}=2^*})$ and the expected UV group. In the IR $\Lambda_{\mathcal{N}=2^*} \cong \mathbb{Z}$ generated by $[S_{\alpha}] + [S_1] + [S_{\omega}]$.

For the quiver $(A, q) = (\{2^2\}, 3)$ the lattice and pairing is $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}}$ is

$$\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}} = \left\{ (x_1 + 2y)[P_1] + (x_2 + 2y)[P_2] + y([P_\alpha] + [P_\omega]) \mid x_i, y \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad 3y + 2x_1 + 2x_2 = 0 \right\}$$

with pairing

$$\langle (x_1, x_2), (y_1, y_2) \rangle = x_1 y_1 + x_2 y_2 - \frac{4}{9} (x_1 + x_2) (y_1 + y_2).$$
 (4.42)

There are 4 vectors of lenght 1, $\pm(2, 1)$ and $\pm(1, 2)$ and 4 length 2 $\pm(1, -1)$ and $\pm(3, 3)$. Sp(4) as expected. In $K_0(\mathscr{C})$ we have the relations

$$3[S_{\alpha}] = 2[S_1] + 2[S_2], \quad 3[S_{\omega}] = 2[S_1] + 2[S_2], \quad 2[S_{\alpha}] = 2[S_{\omega}], \quad (4.43)$$

so $K_0(\mathscr{C})$ is free of rank 2

$$K_0(\mathscr{C}_{\{2^2\},3\}}) \cong \mathbb{Z}([S_\alpha] - [S_1]) \oplus \mathbb{Z}([S_\alpha] - [S_2]).$$
(4.44)

In this basis the natural pairing reads

$$\left\langle \left(\left[S_{\alpha} \right] - \left[S_{a} \right] \right), \left(\left[S_{\alpha} \right] - \left[S_{b} \right] \right) \right\rangle_{\mathscr{C}} = \Delta \,\delta_{ab}, \quad \Delta = 6, \ a, b, = 1, 2,$$

$$(4.45)$$

i.e. the Sp(4) weight lattice rescaled by Δ , as expected.

5 The 15 missing SCFT

In total, the 4d/2d correspondence of section 4.1 produces 12 rank-1 SCFTs and 4 rank-1 af theories. The list of af theories is complete, but in table 1 of [3] Argyres et al. list 27 rank-1 SCFTs (the table has 28 entries, but SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ is listed twice, since that theory may be thought of in two different ways³²). Thus the Q(A,q) family of quivers describes all rank-1 QFT except 15 SCFT.

To substantiate our claim that classifying the appropriate class of UV categories is equivalent to classifying all $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFTs, we have to exhibit, in addition to the family of cluster categories $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ associated to the Q(A, q) quivers, other 15 2-CY categories with the properties required to describe rank-1 SCFTs. Where do we find them?

 $^{^{32}\}mathrm{Related}$ issues are discussed in appendix A.

The clue comes from the classification of base-changes between rational elliptic surfaces satisfying the geometric requirements called "UV and SW completeness" obtained in [17] using the tables of [82]. All \mathbb{Z}_k gaugings³³ of a rank-1 SCFT which preserve $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY correspond to base-changes of elliptic surfaces (seen as elliptic curves over the field $\mathbb{C}(z)$ of rational functions) but the inverse statement is *false*. There are geometrically sensible base-changes, even symplectic ones (see section 5.1), which are *not* discrete gaugings in the physical sense. Mathematically these base-changes share most properties of actual gaugings: we dub them *false-gaugings*.

We review base-changes in section 5.1 below. The result of the analysis is that *all* 15 missing SCFT are either discrete gaugings or false-gaugings: 10 gaugings and 5 false-gaugings. They also exhaust the list of admissible base-changes.

5.1 Review of base-change/discrete gauging

A rational elliptic surface \mathcal{E} is, in particular, a holomorphic fibration $\mathcal{E} \to \mathbb{P}^1$ whose generic fiber is a smooth elliptic curve. The exceptional fibers were classified by Kodaira [56, 57]: they are in one-to-one correspondence with the quasi-unipotent conjugacy classes of $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. The configurations of exceptional Kodaira fibers allowed in a rational elliptic surface (with section) are listed in [18, 76, 77]. To fully fix \mathcal{E} , in addition to the fiber configuration, we have to specify a rational function $\mathscr{J}(z)$ (the functional invariant [19, 56, 57]) which satisfies certain properties in relation to the fiber configuration, see [17] and the references therein for details.

The (total) special geometry of a rank-1 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory is given by $\mathcal{E} \setminus \mathcal{F}^{\vee}$, where \mathcal{F}^{\vee} is the fiber over $\infty \in \mathbb{P}^1$. UV completeness requires the curve \mathcal{F}^{\vee} to be of *un-stable* type. SW completeness requires, in addition, that there is no fiber over $\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \infty$ of types *II*, *III* and *IV*. We write a fiber configuration as $\{\mathcal{F}^{\vee}; F_{z_1}, \cdots, F_{z_s}\}$ where the first fiber is always the one at infinity. As already mentioned, the fiber \mathcal{F}^{\vee} encodes the Coulomb dimension Δ and for $\Delta = 2$ also the β -function coefficient *b*:

A base-change is given by a commutative diagram of the form

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{E}' \xrightarrow{\phi_{\circ}} \mathcal{E} \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \mathbb{P}^{1} \xrightarrow{\phi} \mathbb{P}^{1} \end{array}$$
 (5.2)

with ϕ a rational map of degree n > 1, so that the elliptic fibration \mathcal{E}' is the pull-back $\phi^*(\mathcal{E})$. A base-change is $symplectic^{34}$ iff the (log-)symplectic structure Ω' of the pair $(\mathcal{E}', \mathcal{F}^{\vee})$ is

³³In ref. [7] it is explained physically why the discrete groups which may be gauged while preserving $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry have the form \mathbb{Z}_k . From the 'arithmetic' perspective of [17] this follows from the fact that the only consistent base-changes are cyclic, see [82].

³⁴For an example of a non-symplectic base change see appendix F.

the pull-back of the one for $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}^{\vee})$, i.e.

$$\Omega' = \phi_{\circ}^* \Omega. \tag{5.3}$$

This amounts to saying that the SW differential on the covering special geometry, $\mathcal{E}' \setminus \mathcal{F}^{\vee \prime}$, is the pull-back of the one on the base $\mathcal{E} \setminus \mathcal{F}^{\vee}$.

One shows [82] that ϕ must be a cyclic map of order n. UV completeness requires ∞ to be a branching point for ϕ , and we write $\phi: z \mapsto z^n$. The coordinate z on \mathbb{P}^1 is then identified with the Coulomb branch coordinate u; this yields $u = (u')^n$, so that — if the covering is symplectic — the Coulomb branch dimensions are related by

$$\Delta = n \cdot \Delta'. \tag{5.4}$$

Since the distinction SCFT/af is preserved by the covering, and given that for all af theories $\Delta = 2$, we see from (5.4) that there is no non-trivial covering for af models, and we restrict to SCFT in the rest of the discussion. In terms of fiber configurations there are 19 allowed coverings between UV/SW complete rational elliptic surfaces consistent with eq. (5.4). 4 of them are physically interpreted as special limits of another one, so we remain with the 15 coverings listed in table 5. They precisely match the 15 'missing' rank-1 SCFT.

However not all interesting coverings $\mathcal{E}' \to \mathcal{E}$ correspond to discrete gaugings in the sense of refs. [7, 36, 37]. The true gaugings are distinguish by a check-mark \checkmark in the last column of the table. By inspection, we note that the unchecked base-changes are precisely the ones whose covering surface \mathcal{E}' has a fiber configuration which does not satisfy the "Dirac quantization of charge" of refs. [3, 4], equivalently are not described by a Q(A,q) quiver. The categorical description should (in particular) clarify the subtle distinction between *true* and *false* gaugings.

Going through the table of base-changes, we see that for all the 15 'missing' SCFT

rank
$$F = \#$$
 (exceptional fibers of \mathcal{E} over $\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \{0, \infty\}$). (5.5)

This formula is not valid for the 16 QFT described by a Q(A,q) quiver. In that case

$$\operatorname{rank} Q(A,q) = 2 + \operatorname{rank} F = \# (\text{exceptional fibers of } \mathcal{E} \text{ over } \mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \{\infty\}), \qquad (5.6)$$

as it is clear from the (quiver) \leftrightarrow (fiber configuration) correspondence (4.9).

The difference between (5.5) and (5.6) reflects the different structure of the Grothendieck group of the UV categories for the two classes of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories. This is hardly a surprise: we already predicted these same expressions on general grounds, see eq. (2.11).

#	Δ	F	fibers \mathcal{E}	fibers \mathcal{E}'	Galois	gauging?
4	6	F_4	$\{II; I_0^*, I_1^4\}$	$\{IV;I_1^8\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\checkmark
5	6	$\operatorname{Sp}(6)$	$\{II; I_1^*, I_1^3\}$	$\{IV; I_2, I_1^6\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	
6	6	SU(2)	$\{II;I_1^*,I_3\}$	$\{IV;I_2,I_3^2\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	
7	6	$\operatorname{Sp}(4)$	$\{II; I_2^*, I_1^2\}$	$\{IV; I_4, I_1^4\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\checkmark
8	6	SU(2)	$\{II;I_3^*,I_1\}$	$\{IV; I_6, I_1^2\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	
9	6	SU(2)	$\{II;IV^*,I_2\}$	$\{I_0^*; I_2^3\}$	\mathbb{Z}_3	\checkmark
10	6	G_2	$\{II;IV^*,I_1^2\}$	$\{I_0^*; I_1^6\}$	\mathbb{Z}_3	\checkmark
11	6	SU(2)	$\{II;III^*,I_1\}$	$\{IV^*;I_1^4\}$	\mathbb{Z}_4	\checkmark
14	4	$\operatorname{Spin}(7)$	$\{III; I_0^*, I_1^3\}$	$\{I_0^*, I_1^6\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\checkmark
15	4	$\mathrm{SU}(2) \times \mathrm{SU}(2)^{a}$	$\{III; I_1^*, I_1^2\}$	$\{I_0^*; I_2, I_1^4\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	
16	4	SU(2)	$\{III;I_1^*,I_2\}$	$\{I_0^*; I_2^3\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	√ ^b
17	4	SU(2)	$\{III; I_2^*, I_1\}$	$\{I_0^*; I_4, I_1^2\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\checkmark
18	4	SU(2)	$\{III; IV^*, I_1\}$	$\{III^*;I_1^3\}$	\mathbb{Z}_3	\checkmark
21	3	${ m SU}(3)$	$\{IV; I_0^*, I_1^2\}$	$\{IV^*;I_1^4\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\checkmark
22	3	$\mathrm{U}(1)$	$\{IV; I_1^*, I_1\}$	$\{IV^*; I_2, I_1^2\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	

HEP10(2019)013

^aThe discrete gauged realization has the symmetry $SU(2) \times U(1)$ [3, 5]. ^bThe two \mathcal{E}' in entries 16 and 17 both correspond to $SU(2) \mathcal{N} = 2^*$.

Table 5. The 15 rank 1 SCFT which are not described by a Q(A;q) quiver. The first column is the number or the corresponding entry in table 1 of ref. [3]: we shall often identificate a SCFT by this entry number. The second column gives the Coulomb branch dimension and the third one the flavor group. The fourth column is the configuration of Kodaira exceptional fibers in the corresponding rational elliptic surface \mathcal{E} , the first entry being the fiber at infinity. The fourth column yields the fiber configuration for the rational elliptic surface \mathcal{E}' covering \mathcal{E} under change of the base field (following ref. [82]). The cover $\mathcal{E}' \to \mathcal{E}$ is branched only over the first two exceptional fibers in the configuration. The last column follows from comparison with table 1 of ref. [7].

6 Warm-up: discrete gaugings of SU(2) with $N_f = 4$

To orient ourselves it is convenient to start by working out in detail some explicit example in a context where both the physics and the mathematics are well understood. The perfect set-up are the discrete gauging of SU(2) with $N_f = 4$. Three SCFT in the list of [3] belong to this class:

the ungauged $(2, \text{Spin}(8))$ theory	(entry 23)	
a \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging produces the SCFT $(4, \text{Spin}(7))$	(entry 14)	(6.1)
a \mathbb{Z}_3 gauging produces the SCFT $(6, G_2)$	(entry 10).	

Our fist goal is to construct explicitly the three 2-CY categories describing these SCFT in UV. We begin by reviewing the categories associated to the SCFT (2, Spin(8)).
6.1 IR category for SU(2) with $N_f = 4$

The BPS objects of 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SQCD with gauge group SU(2) are described by categories associated to \mathbb{P}^1 and its generalizations (the weighted projective lines). The relation between SU(2) SQCD and weighted projective lines is mirror symmetry. To illustrate the point, we work out the case of SU(2) with $N_f = 0, 1, 2$ referring to the literature [33, 53, 83] for the general case. The canonical SW geometry of SU(2) with $N_f = 0, 1, 2$ corresponds,³⁵ respectively, to the curves [84]

$$W_0 \equiv p^2 - e^x - e^{-x} = 0, \quad W_1 \equiv p^2 - e^{2x} - e^{-x} = 0, \quad W_2 \equiv p^2 - e^{2x} - e^{-2x} = 0, \tag{6.2}$$

 $(x \sim x + 2\pi i)$ with SW differential $\lambda = p \, dx$. The 4d/2d correspondence [38] associates to each 4d QFT the 2d (2,2) Landau-Ginzburg model with superpotential W_{N_f} which is easily seen to be the mirror of the σ -model with target the weighted projective lines $\mathbb{P}(1, 1)$, $\mathbb{P}(2, 1)$ and $\mathbb{P}(2, 2)$, respectively. The relation continues to hold for $N_f > 2$: the general case involves a weighted projective line X of type $(2, 2, \dots, 2)$ with N_f 2's. The most convenient language to describe the triangle categories associated to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SU(2) SYM coupled to fundamental matter is that of coherent sheaves over weighted projective lines.³⁶ This formalism has been reviewed in [53] and [83]; we shall adhere to the conventions of this last paper.

SU(2) with $N_f = 4$ is associated to a weighted projective line X of tubular type (2, 2, 2, 2). coh X, the Abelian category of coherent sheaves on X, is hereditary with tilting objects (see appendix B.3). We write τ for the auto-equivalence of coh X given by the tensor product with the dualizing sheaf $\mathcal{O}(\vec{\omega})$. Serre duality then reads

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(X,Y) \cong D\operatorname{Hom}(Y,\tau X), \qquad X,Y \in \operatorname{\mathsf{coh}} \mathbb{X}.$$
 (6.3)

For X of type (2, 2, 2, 2) one has $\tau^2 = \text{Id.}$ The fact that τ has finite order (\equiv the dualizing sheaf is torsion) is equivalent to the vanishing of the Yang-Mills β -function [53].

The bounded derived category $\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}} \equiv D^b \operatorname{coh} \mathbb{X}$ is just the repetitive category of $\operatorname{coh} \mathbb{X}$ and (6.3) extends to $\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}}$ in the form

$$D\operatorname{Hom}(X,Y) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(Y,\tau\Sigma X) \qquad X,Y \in \mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}},$$
(6.4)

i.e. the Serre functor is $S \equiv \tau \Sigma$. On $\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}}$ we have the (non-unique) telescopic autoequivalences T and L, satisfying the \mathcal{B}_3 braiding relation (see appendix B.3)

$$TLT = LTL, (6.5)$$

which physically generate the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ duality group of SU(2) with $N_f = 4$ [83]. For the telescopic functors we adhere to the conventions of [83]: in particular T is realized as the twist by the line bundle $\mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3)$. On the electro-magnetic charges T and L act as the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ matrices [83]

$$T \rightsquigarrow \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad L \rightsquigarrow \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(6.6)

 $^{^{35}\}mathrm{We}$ fine-tuned the masses to a convenient value, for simplicity.

 $^{^{36}\}mathrm{For}$ details and complete references see appendix B.3.

6.2 Gaugeable auto-equivalences

Consider an elliptic curve E. Depending on the value of its modulus τ , the group Aut(E)may be \mathbb{Z}_2 (for generic τ), \mathbb{Z}_4 (for $\tau^2 = -1$) or \mathbb{Z}_6 (for $\tau^3 = -1$). These groups are generated, respectively, by -1, by ζ with $\zeta^2 = -1$, and by ξ with $\xi^3 = -1$. Since the conformal manifold of SU(2) with $N_f = 4$ is isomorphic to the moduli space of elliptic curves, the associated triangle category $\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}}$ must have auto-equivalences corresponding to $-1, \zeta, \xi \in \text{Aut}(E)$. We write them as M_2 , M_4 and M_6 , respectively; they should satisfy the relations

$$(M_4)^2 = M_2, \qquad (M_6)^3 = M_2.$$
 (6.7)

This physical argument predicts that no autoequivalence M with $M^n = M_2$ should exist for $0 < n \neq 1, 2, 3$. Of course, the prediction is mathematically correct. M_2 corresponds to $-1 \in \operatorname{Aut}(E)$, that is, it generates the Weyl group of the physical SU(2) gauge group: M_2 acts as -1 on the electro-magnetic charges and as +1 on the flavor ones. ζ and ξ then correspond to the additional gauging of a discrete \mathbb{Z}_2 (resp. \mathbb{Z}_3) symmetry. The fact that no other $M^n = M_2$ autoequivalence exists, rules out discrete gauging by other discrete groups.

 M_2 is identified with the auto-equivalence $\tau^{-1}\Sigma$ [83]. The simplest solutions to (6.7) are³⁷

$$M_2 = \tau^{-1} \Sigma,$$

$$M_4 = TLT,$$

$$M_6 = TL.$$

(6.8)

They satisfy (6.7) since for all tubular weighted projective lines of type $\neq (3, 3, 3)$ one has

$$(TLT)^2 = (TL)^3 = \tau^{-3}\Sigma, \tag{6.9}$$

the first equality being a trivial consequence of the braid relation (6.5) and the second one well known (cf. appendix). For X of type (2,2,2,2) $\tau^2 = \text{Id}$, and eq. (6.9) becomes equivalent to eq. (6.7).

6.3 UV categories for the gauged models

The orbit categories

$$\mathscr{C}_d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}} / (M_d)^{\mathbb{Z}}, \qquad d = 2, 4, 6 \tag{6.10}$$

are defined to have the same objects as $\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}}$ and morphism spaces

$$\mathscr{C}_d(X,Y) = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{D}}(X, M_d^k Y).$$
(6.11)

Since coh X is hereditary, while the auto-equivalences M_d satisfy the condition of Keller's theorem [85]³⁸ the categories C_d are triangulated and the canonical functors

$$\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}} \xrightarrow{\pi_d} \mathscr{C}_d,$$
 (6.12)

³⁷Solutions conjugated in Aut($\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}}$) are equivalent. M_2 is central in Aut($\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}}$).

 $^{^{38}\}mathrm{See}$ also appendix, Theorem B.1.5.

are exact. In facts, the functor π_d factorizes through the cluster category³⁹ \mathscr{C} of X

$$\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}} \xrightarrow[\pi_2]{\pi_2} \mathscr{C} \equiv \mathscr{C}_2 \xrightarrow[g_{d/2}]{} \mathscr{C}_d \tag{6.13}$$

 $\mathscr{C} \equiv \mathscr{C}_2$ is the UV triangle category for SU(2) with $N_f = 4$ [83]. In \mathscr{C}_d we have

$$\mathscr{C}_d(X,Y) \cong \mathscr{C}_d((M_d)^{d/2}X,Y) = \mathscr{C}_d(\tau^{-1}\Sigma X,Y) \cong D\mathscr{C}_d(Y,\Sigma^2 X),$$
(6.14)

so that the \mathscr{C}_d is a (Hom-finite) 2-CY triangle category. Moreover, $\Sigma^2 = (\tau^{-1}\Sigma)^2 \cong \mathrm{Id}$, so the 2-CY category $\mathscr{C}(d)$ is *symmetric*, as we predicted on physical grounds for a QFT with $\Delta \in \mathbb{N}$ (eq. (4.23)).

The exact surjective functors

$$g_{d/2} \colon \mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{C}_d,$$
 (6.15)

defined by diagram (6.13) give the quotient with respect to a subgroup $\mathbb{Z}_{d/2}$ of the automorphism group of \mathscr{C} , the UV category of SU(2) with $N_f = 4$. It is then natural to identify the 2-CY quotient \mathscr{C}_d with the 2-CY category giving the UV description of the BPS sector for the SCFTs obtained by gauging the discrete symmetry $\mathbb{Z}_{d/2} \subset \text{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \times \text{U}(1)_R$ of SU(2) $N_f = 4$ i.e. entries 14 and 10 of the table in [3]. To show that this identification is correct we have to check a few facts. In particular that \mathscr{C}_d has cluster-tilting objects with the appropriate properties to reproduce the correct physics in the IR.

The cluster category \mathscr{C} is best seen [86] as the category whose objects are the coherent sheaves $X \in \operatorname{coh} \mathbb{X}$ with morphism spaces⁴⁰

$$\mathscr{C}(X,Y) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(X,Y) \oplus D\operatorname{Hom}(Y,X), \quad X,Y \in \operatorname{\mathsf{coh}} X.$$
 (6.16)

We write S_d for the auto-equivalence of \mathscr{C} induced by M_d where d = 4, 6. One has

$$(S_d)^{d/2} = \mathrm{Id} \qquad \text{in } \mathscr{C}. \tag{6.17}$$

An indecomposable sheaf $X \in \operatorname{coh} X$ has a well-defined slope $\mu(X) \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$ equal to the ratio of the electric and magnetic charge of the associated BPS object. The telescopic functors T, L act on μ as the modular transformations (6.6). Since $\mu(M_2X) = \mu(X)$ the slope is well-defined in \mathscr{C} . One has

$$\mu(S_4 X) = -\frac{1}{\mu(X)}, \qquad \mu(S_6 X) = \frac{1}{1 - \mu(X)}.$$
(6.18)

Since these Möbius transformations have no fixed points in $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$, S_d acts freely on the indecomposable sheaves. This is the crucial fact. We define the pull-up functor⁴¹

$$\iota_d \colon \mathscr{C}_d \to \mathscr{C}, \qquad \iota_d \colon X \mapsto \bigoplus_{k=0}^{d/2-1} S_d^k X.$$
 (6.19)

³⁹This also follows from the universal property of the cluster category (appendix, Proposition B.1.4).

⁴⁰We reserve the notations Hom(X, Y) and $\text{End}(X) \equiv \text{Hom}(X, X)$ for morphism spaces in the category of coherent sheaves.

⁴¹This is the usual pull-up functor of covering theory, see appendix \mathbf{E} for its basic properties.

Eq. (6.11) reduces to

$$\mathscr{C}_d(X,Y) \cong \mathscr{C}(X,\iota_d Y). \tag{6.20}$$

6.3.1 Cluster-tilting and unbranched Galois covers

Eq. (6.20) implies that

 $T \in \mathscr{C}_d$ is cluster-tilting $\Leftrightarrow \iota_d T \in \mathscr{C}$ is cluster-tilting \Leftrightarrow the sheaf $\iota_d T$ is tilting. (6.21)

Thus the cluster-tilting objects in \mathscr{C}_d are just the tilting objects of $\operatorname{coh} X$ in the range of ι_d , i.e. the tilting sheaves fixed by S_d . They have the form

$$\iota_d\left(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{\ell} T_i\right) = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{d/2-1} \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\ell} S_d^k T_i, \tag{6.22}$$

with the T_i indecomposables pair-wise non-isomorphic in \mathcal{C}_d . In particular $\ell d = 12$.

From (6.21) we see that to a cluster-tilting object $T \in \mathscr{C}_d$ we may associate three finite-dimensional basic algebras

$$J_d \equiv \mathscr{C}_d(T,T), \quad J \equiv \mathscr{C}(\iota_d T, \iota_d T), \quad A \equiv \operatorname{End}(\iota_d T).$$
 (6.23)

From eq. (6.16) we see that J is the trivial extension algebra of A, $J = A \ltimes DA$.

Let us suppose (for the moment) that a cluster-tilting object $T \in \mathscr{C}_d$ exists and consider the quiver Q of J. The nodes of Q are in one-to-one correspondence with the indecomposable summands $S_d^k T_i$ in eq. (6.22). Since S_d is an auto-equivalence of \mathscr{C} acting freely on the indecomposables, S_d generates a $\mathbb{Z}_{d/2}$ automorphism group of Q acting freely on the nodes and preserving the relations. Under these conditions there exists a Galois cover of algebras (in the sense of Gabriel [87, 88]; for a nice survey see [89]⁴²)

$$F: J \to J/\mathbb{Z}_{d/2}.\tag{6.24}$$

The crucial point is that this is a very special kind of Galois cover: from eq. (6.18) we see that it is an *unbranched* cover:⁴³ by this we mean that it acts freely on the indecomposables. Eq. (6.20) implies

$$J_d = J/\mathbb{Z}_{d/2}.\tag{6.25}$$

 $\iota_d T$ is a cluster-tilting object of \mathscr{C} with the special form (6.22). In \mathscr{C} there are standard tilting objects R so that the quiver of $\mathscr{C}(R, R)$ is a 2-acyclic quiver with superpotential in the mutation class of $Q(\{1^4\}, 2)$, and J is the corresponding Jacobian algebra.

⁴²Covering techniques in Representation Theory have been reviewed and applied to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT in [80]. See in particular section 2.4.1 where the covering functors are discussed in detail.

⁴³See appendix E.1 for definitions and properties.

The IR picture. The BPS states⁴⁴ of SU(2) $N_f = 4$ are given by the stable objects in the category $D^b \mod J$. Therefore, if there exists a tilting-object $T \in \mathscr{C}_d$ such that $\iota_d T$ is standard, the category

$$\mathscr{D}_d \equiv D^b \operatorname{mod} J_d = D^b \operatorname{mod} J/\mathbb{Z}_{d/2}$$
(6.26)

has the correct properties to describe the BPS states of a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT obtained by gauging a $\mathbb{Z}_{d/2}$ symmetry of SU(2) with $N_f = 4$ whose BPS states are described by the derived Jacobian category $D^b \mod J$. This follows from the fact that the Galois covering is unbranched. In this case, the two covering functors,⁴⁵ push-down F_{λ} and pull-up F^{λ} [88, 89]

$$\operatorname{mod} J \xrightarrow[F^{\lambda}]{F^{\lambda}} \operatorname{mod} J_d \tag{6.27}$$

set-up a correspondence between the BPS spectrum of the gauged and un-gauged theories which is the physically correct one provided the central charge (stability function) is equivariant

$$Z(S_d X) = e^{2\pi i/d} Z(X), \qquad X \in \operatorname{coh} X \tag{6.28}$$

and one uses the Z_k -covariant version of the Bridgeland stability condition with respect to the full subcategory t of objects with $0 \leq \arg Z(X) < \pi/d$. This is equivalent to define a module of $X \in \operatorname{mod} J_d$ to be *stable* iff it is the push-down of a module $Y \in \operatorname{mod} J$ which is stable with respect to a stability function Z satisfying (6.28). The lift $Y \in \operatorname{mod} J$ is welldefined up to the $\mathbb{Z}_{d/2}$ action; there is an unique element of the orbit with $0 \leq \arg Z(Y) < \pi/d$. Fixing this lift amounts to fixing the $\mathbb{Z}_{d/2}$ -gauge; each object of \mathscr{C}_d is represented a unique object in t. The Dirac pairing *in the chosen gauge* t is the antisymmetric part of their Euler form $\chi(-, -)$ in mod J restricted to t. Everything is well defined since the Galois cover is unbranched. Needless to say, this precisely agrees with the physical definition, as discussed after eq. (2.11).

In terms of the 1d theory on the world-line, we get precisely the set-up predicted in section 2: \mathscr{L} is the 1d Lagrangian for the ungauged model, with $A(\mathscr{L}) = J$, $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{Z}_{d/2}$ is the group to be gauged in 4d as well as in 1d, and $A(\mathscr{L}/\mathbb{G}) = J_d$; to simplify the analysis of the FI terms, it is more convenient to work with the covering Lagrangian \mathscr{L} .

We stress that eq. (6.28) reflects the physical fact that the double-cover of the gauged $\mathbb{Z}_{d/2}$ symmetry is a combination of a $\mathbb{Z}_d \subset \mathrm{U}(1)_R$ symmetry and a $\mathbb{Z}_d \subset \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ duality [7].

Comparing with the Seiberg-Witten geometry. The above discussion mimics what happens on the Seiberg-Witten geometry. The $\mathbb{Z}_{d/2}$ gauge symmetry acts on the Coulomb branch coordinate u of SU(2) with $N_f = 4$ as $u \mapsto e^{4\pi i/d} u$. Away from the branching points u = $0, \infty$, the local physics at vacuum u is identical for the gauged and un-gauged physics; the fibers $\mathcal{E}_{u^{d/2}}$ and \mathcal{E}'_u are isomorphic elliptic curves, and the SW differentials λ , λ' , restricted to these curves, are identified. Thus the curves in these two fibers which are calibrated by $e^{-i\theta}\lambda|_{\mathcal{E}_{u^{d/2}}}$ and respectively $e^{-i\theta}\lambda'|_{\mathcal{E}'_u}$, are also identified, that is, the BPS spectrum at a generic point in the Coulomb branch is identical for the gauged and ungauged theories.

⁴⁴More precisely: the BPS states stable in a BPS chamber covered by the given quiver [30].

 $^{^{45}\}mathrm{We}$ collect some useful properties of the covering functors in appendix E.1.

Stated, differently a BPS state, represented by a curve in the SW geometry, is stable in the gauged theory (at a generic vacuum) iff its pull-back to the covering (\equiv ungauged) SW geometry is stable. This is the same condition stated before in terms of the unbranched Galois cover of algebras $J \rightarrow J_d$.

We conclude:

- 1. the interpretation of \mathscr{C}_d as the UV BPS category of a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT obtained by gauging a $\mathbb{Z}_{d/2}$ of SU(2) with $N_f = 4$ requires the existence of a standard tilting object $T \in \mathscr{C}_d$;
- 2. if a standard cluster-tilting object $T \in \mathscr{C}_d$ exists, the endo-quiver Q_T of its pull-up $\iota_d T$ is an element of the mutation class of SU(2) $N_f = 4$ (\equiv the class of triangulation quivers of the sphere with 4 ordinary punctures [23, 90]), having an automorphism group at least $\mathbb{Z}_{d/2}$, with the property that folding Q_T along its $\mathbb{Z}_{d/2}$ symmetry produces an unbranched Galois cover between the IR BPS categories mod J and mod J_d .

Explicit cluster-tilting sheafs. The mutation class of the sphere with 4 punctures contains just 4 quivers.⁴⁶ Two of them have no automorphism. The other two are the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetric quiver



whose symmetry acts on the node labels as $i \mapsto i + 3 \mod 6$, and the subtle quiver



which has an obvious \mathbb{Z}_6 symmetry, acting freely, generated by $i \mapsto i + 1 \mod 6$. However this is not the full story: this quiver has many other free automorphisms. Indeed the permutation σ_i of the *i* and *i*+3 nodes is a non-free automomorphism for all *i*'s. Conjugating

⁴⁶The mutation class of a quiver may be computed using Keller's Java applet [91]. The number of quivers in a class alway means their number up to source/sink equivalence.

the obvious \mathbb{Z}_6 by these non-free automorphisms, we get additional freely acting \mathbb{Z}_6 's. For instance conjugating with $\sigma_2\sigma_3$ the \mathbb{Z}_3 action $i \mapsto i+2 \mod 6$ get replaced by the inverse of the node permutation (1, 2, 6)(5, 3, 4).

In appendix G.2 it is shown explicitly that the sheaf

$$T = \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_1) \oplus \mathcal{S}_{2,1} \tag{6.31}$$

is a standard cluster-tilting object in \mathscr{C}_4 such that the endo-quiver of $\iota_4 T$ in \mathscr{C} is (6.29) with the obvious \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. In appendix G.2.1 we show that the algebra $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}_4}(T)$ corresponds to the non-2-acyclic quiver with the quartic superpotential

 μ_1, μ_2, ρ being generic complex coefficients. The Jacobian algebra is finite-dimensional.

In appendix G.3 it is shown that

$$T = \mathcal{S}_{1,0} \oplus \mathcal{S}_{2,1} \tag{6.33}$$

is a standard tilting object in \mathscr{C}_6 such that the endoquiver of $\iota_6 T$ is (6.30) with the \mathbb{Z}_3 symmetry to be gauged corresponding to $i \to i + 2 \mod 6$.

This completes the identification of the UV and IR categories for the SCFT theories (4, Spin(7)) and $(6, G_2)$.

6.3.2 Grothendieck groups

The Grothendieck group for the cluster category \mathscr{C} of SU(2) with $N_f = 4$ was discussed in section 4.3.⁴⁷ We rewrite it in the sheaf notation. The group $K_0(\mathscr{C})$ is generated by the five classes $[\mathcal{O}], [\mathcal{S}_{a,0}], a = 1, 2, 3, 4$, subjected to the relation

$$-2[\mathcal{O}] = \sum_{a=1}^{4} [\mathcal{S}_{a,0}].$$
(6.34)

Writing a class in $K_0(\mathscr{C})$ as $\sum_a w_a[\mathcal{S}_{a,0}]$ yields the isomorphism

$$K_0(\mathscr{C}) \cong \left\{ (w_1, w_2, w_3, w_4) \in \left(\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}\right)^2 \mid w_a = w_b \mod 1 \right\} \equiv \Gamma_{\text{weights}, \mathfrak{spin}(8)} \tag{6.35}$$

and the normalized Euler pairing is exactly the Cartan one on the weight lattice of $\mathfrak{spin}(8)$ (which is valued in $\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$), i.e. $(w, w')_{\mathfrak{f}} = \sum_{a} w_a w'_a \in \mathbb{Z}$.

The Grothendieck group of the IR category⁴⁸ $K_0(\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}})$, is the free Abelian group over the six classes $[\mathcal{O}], [\mathcal{S}_{a,0}]$ and $[\mathcal{O}(\vec{c})]$. The electric and magnetic charges e, m are

$$e([\mathcal{O}]) = 0, \ m([\mathcal{O}]) = 1, \ e([\mathcal{S}_{a,0}]) = 1, \ m([\mathcal{S}_{a,0}]) = 1, \ e([\mathcal{O}(\vec{c})]) = 2, \ m([\mathcal{O}(\vec{c})]) = 1.$$

 47 See also section 2.9.1 of [33].

⁴⁸The root category $\mathscr{R}_{\mathbb{X}}$ has the same Grothedieck group as $\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}}$.

The UV group $K_0(\mathscr{C}_{\mathbb{X}})$ is obtained from the IR group $K_0(\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}})$ by imposing the relation $[\mathcal{O}] \simeq [\mathcal{O}(\vec{c})]$ and the one in eq. (6.34) [51]. Now the eletro-magnetic charges e, m are well defined only mod 2, i.e.

$$(e,m) \in \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \cong Z(\operatorname{Spin}(8)). \tag{6.36}$$

Eq. (6.34) says that states of even (odd) magnetic charge are in tensor (spinor) representations of the flavor group Spin(8), and that dyons of even/odd electric charge have opposite Spin(8) chirality, as known from a direct physical analysis [14]. They also say that the PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) action generated by the telescopic functors, T and L, acts on the Grothendieck group \equiv flavor weights by \mathfrak{S}_3 triality.

The Grothendieck groups of \mathscr{C}_4 and \mathscr{C}_6 are obtained by taking the quotient of the $\mathfrak{spin}(8)$ weight lattice by a subgroup $\mathbb{Z}_2 \subset \mathfrak{S}_3$ and, respectively, $\mathbb{Z}_3 \subset \mathfrak{S}_3$; it is well known that these quotients produce the weight lattices of $\mathfrak{spin}(7)$ and G_2 , respectively. This is a manifestation of the universal relation between the Grothendieck group of the UV category and the flavor group of the QFT we claimed in section 2.

The Grothendieck groups $K_0(\mathscr{C}_d)$. We illustrate in detail $K_0(\mathscr{C}_4)$ the case of $K_0(\mathscr{C}_6)$ being similar. In appendix **G** we show that in $K_0(\mathscr{C})$

$$[S_4\mathcal{O}] = -[\mathcal{S}_{3,0}], \qquad [S_4\mathcal{S}_{a,0}] = [\mathcal{S}_{a,0}] \text{ for } a = 1, 2, 4.$$
(6.37)

Then relation (6.34) becomes in $K_0(\mathscr{C}_4)$

$$-[\mathcal{O}] = [\mathcal{S}_{3,0}] = \sum_{a \neq 3} [\mathcal{S}_{a,0}].$$
(6.38)

Thus $K_0(\mathscr{C}_4) \simeq \mathbb{Z}^3$ is the free Abelian group generated by the three classes $[\mathcal{S}_{1,0}]$, $[\mathcal{S}_{2,0}]$ and $[\mathcal{S}_{4,0}]$, isomorphic to the $\mathfrak{spin}(7)$ weight lattice. The *normalized* Euler form [33] is the Cartan one on the $\mathfrak{spin}(7)$ weight lattice. For $K_0(\mathscr{C}_6)$ the same argument gives $F = G_2$ and again $\kappa_F = 4$. Also the generic Higgs branch dimension remains h = 0 since the covering functors (6.27) guarantee that no 'pure flavor' indecomposable is generated by the gauging.

6.3.3 The un-gaugeable \mathbb{Z}_6 symmetry

It remains to explain the 'unexpected' \mathbb{Z}_6 symmetry of the quiver (6.30). We specialize the weighted projective line \mathbb{X} by fixing its exceptional points to be $\{1, -1, 0, \infty\}$. Then coh \mathbb{X} and \mathscr{C} have a order 2 auto-equivalence Π permuting the first two points which commutes with the telescopic functors and hence with S_6 and (obviously) τ . Then $H = \tau \Pi S_6$ is an order 6 equivalence of \mathscr{C} with $S_6^{-1} = H^2$. The tilting object in eq. (6.33) has the form

$$\iota_6 T = \bigoplus_{i=0}^5 H^k T \tag{6.39}$$

so the endo-quiver of T must have a freely acting \mathbb{Z}_6 symmetry which is what we found in (6.30). The symmetry is not unique since Π corresponds to an element of the flavor Weyl group Weyl(D_4), and we may replace it by any element in its conjugacy class. H lifts to the autoequivalence $\tau \Pi TL$ of $\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}}$. The orbit category

$$\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{X}}/(\tau\Pi TL)^{\mathbb{Z}} \tag{6.40}$$

is triangulated and 2-periodic, but it is *not* 2-CY since $\tau^{-1}\Sigma$ is not a power of $\tau\Pi TL$. One has

$$(\tau \Pi TL)^6 = \tau^{-2} \Sigma^2 \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{X}},\tag{6.41}$$

so the category (6.40) is fractional Calabi-Yau of dimension 4/2 rather than 2. This suggests that the \mathbb{Z}_6 symmetry of SU(2) $N_f = 4$ cannot be consistently gauged while preserving $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY.

The last statement is well known to physicists [7]: Π generates a finite subgroup of the flavor group Spin(8), and the gauging of such a subgroup is not consistent with $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY [7].

7 General facts about discrete gaugings

7.1 Discrete gauging of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories with $h \ge 1$

We stress a fundamental difference between gauging a discrete subgroup of the duality group of a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT having a pure Coulomb branch (h = 0) or an enhanced Coulomb branch $(h \ge 1)$. In the warm-up examples of section 5 the discrete gaugings turned out to be, in the categorical language, just unbranched Galois covers with Galois group the discrete gauge group \mathbb{G} . This was so because \mathbb{G} was a group of auto-equivalences of the UV category \mathscr{C} with the nice property of acting freely on *all* indecomposable objects, see eq. (6.18) for SU(2) with four flavors. This is the general pattern of discrete gaugings for all triangular QFT with pure Coulomb branches, i.e. h = 0. Indeed, when h = 0 the electro-magnetic charge (e, m) is non-zero for all BPS states (a state with (e, m) = 0 would be everywhere light on the Coulomb branch hence part of the generic Higgs branch). Thus, in a triangular model with h = 0, all BPS states have a well-defined slope μ

$$\mu \equiv (\text{electric charge}) / (\text{magnetic charge}) \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q}), \tag{7.1}$$

on which the rank-1 electro-magnetic duality acts projectively

$$\mu \mapsto \frac{a\mu + b}{c\mu + d}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}).$$
(7.2)

At the categorical level this reflects into the fact that the discrete gauge group \mathbb{G} acts freely on the indecomposable objects of the UV category \mathscr{C} , as we saw in eq. (6.18) for SU(2) with four flavors. This leads to the pattern we observed in the previous section:

A consistent true gauging of a finite Abelian symmetry \mathbb{G} of a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ triangular theory with h = 0 corresponds to an automorphism of a 2-acyclic quiver in its mutation class which acts freely on the nodes.

On the contrary, if h > 0, the objects in the generic Higgs branch have electro-magnetic charges (e, m) = (0, 0) which do not define any point in $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$. The flavor symmetry acting effectively on the generic Higgs branch is $\operatorname{Sp}(2h)$, whose Lie algebra has no outer automorphism, while $U(1)_R$ acts trivially on the Higgs branch scalars. Therefore the discrete group \mathbb{G} leaves the Higgs objects invariant: the nice property of the h = 0 case that the \mathbb{G} -action is free on the indecomposables is lost. Then

A consistent gauging of a finite Abelian symmetry \mathbb{G} of a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ triangular theory with $h \geq 1$ does not necessarily correspond to an automorphism of a 2-acyclic quiver in its mutation class which acts freely on the nodes.

In other words: for $h \ge 1$ the existence of a freely acting quiver automorphism is a *sufficient* condition for the existence of the given gauging (provided it is not obstructed for a different reason: cf. section 6.3.3) but not at all *necessary*.

7.2 h = 0: gaugeable symmetries

Let us focus on the h = 0 case. From the IR viewpoint (in a given BPS chamber) the original theory is described by the module category mod J of the Jacobian algebra J, and the physical system has a symmetry group contained in the automorphisms $\operatorname{Aut}(J)$ of J. We wish to gauge a finite subgroup $\mathbb{G} \subset \operatorname{Aut}(J)$. The gauged theory *if it exists* should correspond (in the IR and in the corresponding chamber) to the module category mod J_{ga} of another Jacobian algebra by the 1d argument of section 2. It is clear that 'discrete gauging' should correspond to some functor between these two categories

$$F_{\lambda} \colon \operatorname{mod} J \to \operatorname{mod} J_{\operatorname{ga}}.$$
 (7.3)

The natural guess, which revealed to be correct in the explicit examples of the previous section, is that F_{λ} is the push-down of some covering functor $F: J \to J_{\text{ga}}$ whose Galois group is \mathbb{G} .

However, this is mathematically surprising because it is quite uncommon⁴⁹ that a finite-dimensional Jacobian algebra is covered by another algebra which is again Jacobian and finite-dimensional.⁵⁰ Dually, from the physics point of view it would be quite surprising if we were able to gauge all or 'most' finite subgroups of Aut(J). Typically the gauging of a subgroup $\mathbb{G} \subset \text{Aut}(J)$ is obstructed either by 't Hooft anomalies (so the gauged QFT does not exists at all) or because the gauging breaks $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY (so its BPS category does not make any sense). Existence of non-trivial consistent discrete gauging preserving $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY is an unexpected miracle that only recently was discovered to happen.

Is it possible that the mathematically uncommon feature and the physically rare 'miracle' are two faces of the same coin? Indeed they are: the discrete gauging of a subgroup $\mathbb{G} \subset \operatorname{Aut}(J)$ is possible precisely if there is a Galois quotient $J \to J/\mathbb{G}$ which is unbranched in the sense of definition E.1.1. Note that being unbranched is much stronger a condition than being admissible [87–89]: in the second case \mathbb{G} is required to act freely on the simple

 $^{^{49}}$ We thank B. Keller for pointing out this to us.

 $^{^{50}}$ See however [80].

modules of mod J while to be unbranched \mathbb{G} should act freely on all *indecomposables*. In the 1d physical language, the Galois cover being unbranched is equivalent to the statement that the gauging (i.e. the push-down functor F_{λ}) preserves the single-trace chiral operators. We conclude:

Criterion. Whenever the orbit category of the UV 2-CY category $\mathscr{C}, \mathscr{C}/\mathbb{G}$, is not triangulated, or not 2-CY, or not Hom-finite, or has no cluster-tilting object T, in the corresponding QFT the gauging of the discrete symmetry \mathbb{G} (while preserving $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry) is obstructed. An unobstructed discrete gauging requires the pull-up $F^{\lambda}T$ of the cluster-tilting object $T \in \mathscr{C}/\mathbb{G}$ to be a cluster-tilting object for \mathscr{C} such that the Jacobian algebra $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbb{G}}(T)$.

In the above statement there are several clauses. They are *not* all on the same footing. Hom-finite 2-CY is a UV 'sacred' condition, and cannot be violated without paying the price of getting physical non-sense. The existence of a cluster-tilting object is *not* a condition for physical sense, it is merely a criterion for the construction to be interpretable as a straight-forward discrete gauging. More general constructions exist, see section 8.

Let us see the criterion at work. Physics says that there are (at least) three necessary criterions in order for a discrete gauging to be consistent: *i*) the gauge group \mathbb{G} should acts trough a non-trivial finite group of S-duality transformations; *ii*) the S-duality rotations should be accompanied by a U(1)_R rotation. Since the finite group \mathbb{G} has a faithful onedimensional representation, $\mathbb{G} \simeq \mathbb{Z}_n$ for some n; *iii*) \mathbb{G} can act on the flavor Lie algebra only through outer automorphisms, actions of the flavor Weyl group being obstructed.

Condition *i*) is akin to saying that \mathbb{G} acts on the slope μ without fixed points; if the indecomposables have a well defined slope (as in section 6) this implies that \mathbb{G} acts freely on the indecomposables, namely $J \to J/\mathbb{G}$ is an unbranched Galois cover of bounded linear categories. Given the usual relations between the slope and the stability function (\equiv the SUSY central charge) this may be consistent only if the action of \mathbb{G} on the slope and on Z is equivariant, which is precisely *ii*). Finally, the generator θ of the gauge group $\mathbb{G} \cong \mathbb{Z}_n$ will act on the flavor root latice $(K_0(\mathscr{C})/(\text{torsion}))^{\vee}$ by an element $\theta \in$ Weyl(F) \rtimes Aut(Dyn) where Aut(Dyn) are the automorphisms of the Dynkin graph. θ permutes the direct summands of the covering cluster-tilting object $F^{\lambda}T$, i.e. the simple roots of F. Then it is a non-trivial automorphism of the Dynkin graph, as we saw in the previous examples.

8 The other 8 discrete gaugings

The RT description of the discrete gaugings of SU(2) with $N_f = 4$ was rather straightforward because we have a very explicit description of the cluster category for the ungauged model as the orbit category of a well-studied derived hereditary category. We have a similar explicit description for the cluster categories of the Argyres-Douglas (AD) models (the SCFTs with $\Delta < 2$). The analysis of discrete gaugings of AD models is then similar to the one in the previous section. In facts, their possible gaugings were already worked out in the math literature [92–94] for different purposes. On the contrary, for the ungauged models with $\Delta > 2$ (the wild case) we do not have such a simple description of the cluster category.

8.1 Discrete gaugings of Argyres-Douglas models

8.1.1 \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging of $(\frac{3}{2}, \mathrm{SU}(3))$

According to table 5 the \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging of the SCFT $(\frac{3}{2}, SU(3))$ produces (3, SU(3)) (entry 21). In the quiver mutation class of $(\frac{3}{2}, SU(3))$ there are two kinds of suggestive quivers: the orientations of the D_4 Dynkin graph and the 4-cyclic quiver with \mathcal{W} equal to the cycle (a.k.a. the 'square tensor product' $A_2 \Box A_2$ of two A_2 quivers [38, 95]).

$$a \xrightarrow{b} \bullet \xleftarrow{c} c \qquad 2 \xrightarrow{b} 3$$

$$(8.1)$$

$$a \xrightarrow{b} \bullet \xleftarrow{c} c \qquad 2 \xrightarrow{c} 3$$

$$D_4 \text{ Dynkin} \qquad 4\text{-cyclic}$$

The category \mathcal{H} of finite-dimensional moduli of the path algebra $\mathbb{C}D_4$ of the Dynkin quiver is hereditary with an AR translation⁵¹ τ . τ extends to an auto-equivalence of the triangle category $D^b\mathcal{H}$ with [32, 96]

$$\tau^{-3} = \Sigma. \tag{8.2}$$

Hence

$$(\tau^{-1})^4 = \tau^{-1}\tau^{-3} = \tau^{-1}\Sigma, \tag{8.3}$$

and τ^{-1} generates a \mathbb{Z}_4 symmetry of the cluster category \mathscr{C}_{D_4} . There is a related (but different) \mathbb{Z}_4 auto-equivalence $\tilde{\tau}$ which just rotates the 4-cyclic quiver by $\pi/2.^{52}$ In the cluster category $\tilde{\tau} \cong \theta \tau$, where $\theta \in \mathfrak{S}_3$ is an order 2 automorphism of the Dynkin quiver which we choose to be the interchange of the first two nodes $a \leftrightarrow b$ in the first quiver of $(8.1)^{53}$ In particular, $\tau^2 \cong \tilde{\tau}^2$ in the cluster category.

The UV category of the \mathbb{Z}_2 -gauged SCFT (3, SU(3)) is then the orbit category

$$\mathscr{C}_{3,\mathrm{SU}(3)} = D^b \mathcal{H}/(\tau^2)^{\mathbb{Z}},\tag{8.4}$$

which is triangulated and 2-CY. It is also symmetric since Id $\simeq (\tau^2)^{-3} = \Sigma^2$; this is consistent with the fact that the Coulomb dimension of the gauged theory is an integer. More precisely, the quantum monodromy Σ^2 is the *cube* of an operator, τ^{-2} , which acts as the identity in the UV category of the gauged model. This happens iff all Coulomb dimensions are not only integral but multiples of 3 [38], as indeed is the case.

Again the universality property of the cluster category \mathscr{C}_{D_4} yields a triangle gauging functor relating the UV categories of the un-gauged and gauged SCFTs

$$g\colon \mathscr{C}_{D_4} \to \mathscr{C}_{3,\mathrm{SU}(3)}.\tag{8.5}$$

⁵¹For the explicit action of τ see appendix H.

 $^{{}^{52}\}tilde{\tau}$ is the AR translation in the Abelian category of nilpotent modules of the path-algebra of the cyclic quiver. As an auto-equivalence of nil $\mathbb{C}(4$ -cycle) its satisfies $\tilde{\tau}^4 = \text{Id}$.

 $^{^{53}}$ For details see section 6.2.1 of [32].

Repeating the arguments of section 5, if $T \in \mathscr{C}_{3,\mathrm{SU}(3)}$ is a cluster-tilting object, then $T \oplus \tau^{-2}T$ is cluster-tilting in \mathscr{C}_{D_4} . Thus T is the direct sum of exactly 2 indecomposables of \mathscr{C}_{D_4} in agreement with rank F = 2. Moreover, the endo-quiver $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}_{D_4}}(T \oplus \tau^{-2}T)$ should be a quiver in the D_4 -mutation class which has a cyclic \mathbb{Z}_2 -symmetry acting freely on the nodes. The only quiver with this property is the 4-cyclic one (8.1).

Since the \mathbb{Z}_2 gauged model has rank F = 2 we need a cluster-tilting object T with exactly two indecomposable summands. Consider the object

$$T = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \oplus \theta \tau^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \oplus \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathscr{C}_{3,\mathrm{SU}(3)}$$
(8.6)

where the indecomposables are represented by their dimensions. The corresponding τ^2 invariant object in \mathscr{C}_{D_4} is⁵⁴

$$T \oplus \tau^{-2}T \equiv \bigoplus_{k=0}^{3} (\theta\tau^{-1})^k S_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \oplus \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \oplus \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \oplus \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -1\\0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -1\\0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0\\0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -1\\0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\0 \end{bmatrix} =$$

is cluster-tilting with endo-quiver the 4-cycle with a \mathbb{Z}_4 -symmetry acting cyclically on the nodes generated by the permutation (1234), while the \mathbb{Z}_2 -symmetry to be gauged is generated by (13)(24). Indeed,

$$\mathscr{C}_{D_4}(S_1, (\theta\tau^{-1})^k S_1) = \begin{cases} \mathbb{C} & k = 0 \mod 4\\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(8.8)

Therefore also the object $T \in \mathscr{C}_4$ is cluster-tilting and its endo-quiver with superpotential \mathcal{W} is the Galois quotient of the 4-cyclic one by the free \mathbb{Z}_2 -action

•
$$\mathcal{W} = (ab)^2.$$
 (8.9)

Grothendieck group. $K_0(\mathscr{C}_{D_4})$ is described in ref. [51] and reviewed in appendix H. There we show that $K_0(\mathscr{C}_{D_4}) \cong \mathbb{Z}[S_1] \oplus \mathbb{Z}[\Sigma S_2]$ and in this basis the matrix of the natural quadratic form is

 ΔC^{-1} , $C = \text{the } A_2 \text{ Cartan matrix}$ (8.10)

in agreement with the physical expectation. Using formulae from appendix H we see

$$[\tau^2 S_1] = [S_1], \qquad [\tau^2 \Sigma S_2] = [\Sigma S_2], \tag{8.11}$$

so the gauging quotient preserve the Grothedieck group. Then $K_0(\mathscr{C}_{3,\mathrm{SU}(2)}) \equiv K_0(\mathscr{C}_{D_4})$ is the SU(3) lattice with the same quadratic form as in the ungauged model. Thus, in this case, the gauging leaves unchanged the flavor symmetry SU(3).

 $^{{}^{54}}S_1$ is the simple module of $\mathbb{C}D_4$ with support on node 1 of the Dynkin quiver (8.1).

8.1.2 \mathbb{Z}_4 gauging of $(\frac{3}{2}, \mathrm{SU}(2))$

This \mathbb{Z}_4 gauging produces (6, SU(2)) (entry 11). In the set-up of the previous subsection, note that the \mathbb{Z}_4 symmetry generated by $\theta \tau$ is gaugeable since $(\theta \tau)^{-4} = \tau^{-1} \Sigma$, while $\tilde{\tau} \cong \theta \tau$ generates the \mathbb{Z}_4 automorphism of the 4-cyclic quiver. Then the proper UV 2-CY category is

$$D^{b}\mathcal{H}/(\theta\tau)^{\mathbb{Z}}.$$
(8.12)

Again it is symmetric since $(\theta \tau)^{-6} = \Sigma^2$ and $(\theta \tau)^{-1}$ is a $\frac{1}{6}$ -monodromy acting as 1, consistently with the fact that $\Delta = 6$.

An example of cluster-tilting object is

$$T \cong \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}. \tag{8.13}$$

Now $[\theta \tau S_1] = [S_2]$ and $[\theta \tau S_2] = [S_1]$ and $K_0(\mathscr{C}) \cong \mathbb{Z}[S_3]$. The flavor group is SU(2).

Remark 5. θ acts as an element of the flavor Weyl group of D_4 AD. This does not contradict the statement that we cannot gauge a discrete subgroup of flavor while preserving $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY. In facts τ acts on the SU(3) flavor weights w as the outer automorphism $w \mapsto -w$, so that the above \mathbb{Z}_4 symmetry acts on the flavor by outer automorphisms.

8.1.3 \mathbb{Z}_3 gauging of $(\frac{4}{3}, \mathrm{SU}(2))$

The situation is similar to the one in section 8.1.1. The \mathbb{Z}_3 gauging of the SCFT $(\frac{4}{3}, SU(2))$ produces (4, SU(2)) (entry 18). In the mutation class there are the orientations of the D_3 Dynkin graph and the 3-cyclic quiver with \mathcal{W} the cycle.

•
$$\xleftarrow{}$$
 • $\xrightarrow{}$ • $\underset{2}{\longrightarrow}$ • $\overset{1}{\searrow}$ (8.14)
Bynkin 2 $\xrightarrow{}$ 3
3-cyclic

The category \mathcal{H} of finite-dimensional moduli of the path algebra of the Dynkin quiver is hereditary, with an AR translation τ . τ extends to an autoequivalence of the triangle category $D^b\mathcal{H}$ with [96]

$$\tau^{-2} = \theta \Sigma, \tag{8.15}$$

where θ is the order 2 autoequivalence induced by the exchange of the two end nodes, which acts as the non-trivial element of the flavor Weyl group Weyl(F). One has

$$(\theta\tau^{-1})^3 = \tau^{-1}\theta\tau^{-2} = \tau^{-1}\Sigma, \tag{8.16}$$

and the \mathbb{Z}_3 symmetry is gaugeable. The UV category

$$D^{b}\mathcal{H}/(\theta\tau^{-1})^{\mathbb{Z}} \tag{8.17}$$

is triangular, 2-CY and symmetric, since $(\theta \tau^{-1})^4 = \Sigma^2$ with a $\frac{1}{4}$ -monodromy acting as 1, consistently with $\Delta = 4$. An example of a cluster-tilting object is

$$T \cong [1 \ 0 \ 0].$$
 (8.18)

Remark 5 applies also to this \mathbb{Z}_3 gauging.

Remark 6. The similarity between the last two examples becomes evident if we note that A_3 may be seen as D_3 . The above formulae yield a \mathbb{Z}_r gauging of all Argyres-Douglas models of type D_r . More generally, we may gauge a subgroup \mathbb{Z}_d for all divisors $d \mid r$.

8.1.4 No other AD gauging

Let us show that the above list of gaugings is complete, i.e. that there is no other discrete gauging of the rank-1 SCFT with $\Delta < 2$. (This also follows from the theorems in refs. [92–94], but we prefer to perform a very explicit analysis to illustrate the physical point). If Γ is a Dynkin graph, we write $D(\Gamma)$ for the bounded derived category of the modules of the path algebra of any orientation⁵⁵ of Γ , and Aut $(D(\Gamma))$ for the group of its auto-equivalences.

By the previous discussion, a non-trivial gauging of the Argyres-Douglas model of type $\Gamma \in ADE$ corresponds to $\rho \in Aut(D(\Gamma))$ which satisfies two conditions:

1)
$$\rho^n = \tau^{-1}\Sigma, \qquad n > 1$$

$$(8.19)$$

2) The orbit category $\mathscr{C}_{\varrho} \equiv D(\Gamma)/(\varrho)^{\mathbb{Z}}$ contains a cluster-tilting object.

AD model of type A_2 . Aut $(D(A_2))$ is the Abelian group generated by τ and Σ with the unique relation $\tau^{-3} = \Sigma^2$. Then $\Sigma = (\tau \Sigma)^3$, $\tau = (\tau \Sigma)^{-2}$ and Aut $(D(A_2))$ is the infinite cyclic group \mathbb{Z} generated by $\tau \Sigma$. $\tau^{-1}\Sigma = (\tau \Sigma)^5$, and the only solution to 1) is $\tau \Sigma$ with n = 5. This corresponds to the \mathbb{Z}_5 S-duality group of the AD model of type A_2 which cyclically permutes the 5 indecomposable objects of its cluster category \mathscr{C} . Now let $T \in \mathscr{C}_{\varrho}$ be any non-zero object⁵⁶

$$\mathscr{C}_{\varrho}(T,T[1]) \cong \mathscr{C}_{\varrho}(T,\tau T) \cong \bigoplus_{k=0}^{4} \mathscr{C}(T,(\tau \Sigma)^{k-2}T) = \mathscr{C}(T,T) \oplus \dots \neq 0, \qquad (8.20)$$

and condition 2) cannot be satisfied. In other words, the \mathbb{Z}_5 S-symmetry of the A_2 Ad model is not gaugeable.

AD model of type A_3 . Aut $(D(A_3)) \cong \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ is the Abelian group generated by τ and the involution θ . One has $\Sigma = \theta \tau^{-2}$ and $\tau^{-1}\Sigma = \tau^{-3}\theta$. The only solution to 1) is the one associated to the gauging already considered in section 8.1.3.

AD model of type D_4 . Aut $(D(D_4)) \cong \mathbb{Z} \times \mathfrak{S}_3$ where the cyclic group is generated by τ and \mathfrak{S}_3 is the triality automorphism of the Dynkin graph. $\Sigma = \tau^{-3}$ and $\tau^{-1}\Sigma = \tau^{-4}$. Up to conjugacy, there are four solutions to condition 1)

$$\tau^{-2}, \quad \theta \tau^{-1}, \quad \tau^{-1} \quad \theta \tau^{-2},$$
 (8.21)

where θ is an element of order 2 in \mathfrak{S}_3 . The first two solutions correspond to the gaugins in section 8.1.1 and 8.1.2. The orbit category of the third one has no non-zero rigid object since

$$\mathscr{C}_{\tau^{-1}}(X, X[1]) \cong \mathscr{C}(X, X) \oplus \cdots$$
 (8.22)

 $^{{}^{55}}D(\Gamma)$ is independent of the orientation up to equivalence.

 $^{^{56}\}text{We}$ write $\mathscr{C}\equiv \mathscr{C}_{\tau^{-1}\Sigma}$ for the cluster category of the ungauged model.

The fourth solution would correspond to gauging a \mathbb{Z}_2 discrete symmetry acting on the flavor by inner automorphisms, which is inconsistent on physical grounds. The corresponding RT statement is that $\mathscr{C}_{\theta\tau^{-2}}$ has no cluster-tilting objects. Let us check that the statement is indeed correct. If $T_1 \oplus T_2$ is cluster tilting for $\mathscr{C}_{\theta\tau^{-2}}$, then $\tilde{T} \equiv T_1 \oplus T_2 \oplus \theta \tau^2 T_1 \oplus \theta \tau^2 T_2$ is cluster-tilting for \mathscr{C} . Rigid indecomposables of $D(D_4)$ form four orbits under the subgroup of Aut $(D(D_4))$ generated by τ and Σ generates by the four simples. The indecomposables in the orbits of the two θ -invariant simples are rigid in $\mathscr{C}_{\theta\tau^2}$ iff they are in \mathscr{C}_{τ^2} , i.e. only if they belong to the θ -invariant peripheral node. The indecomposables in the orbits of the other two peripheral simples are not rigid We have⁵⁷

$$\mathscr{C}_{\theta\tau^{-2}}\left(\left[\begin{smallmatrix}0\\1&0&0\end{smallmatrix}\right],\left[\begin{smallmatrix}0\\1&0&0\end{smallmatrix}\right]\left[1\right]\right)\cong\mathscr{C}\left(\left[\begin{smallmatrix}0\\1&0&0\end{smallmatrix}\right],\theta\tau^{-1}\left[\begin{smallmatrix}0\\1&0&0\end{smallmatrix}\right]\right)\cong\mathscr{C}\left(\left[\begin{smallmatrix}0\\1&0&0\end{smallmatrix}\right],\left[\begin{smallmatrix}1\\1&1&0\end{smallmatrix}\right]\right)\cong\mathbb{C}$$

so the rigid indecomposables of the cluster category \mathscr{C} which are rigid in $\mathscr{C}_{\theta\tau^{-2}}$ are

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{\tau^{-1}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{\tau^{-1}} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{\tau^{-1}} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(8.23)

which are isomorphic in pairs as objects of $\mathscr{C}_{\theta\tau^{-2}}$. Since $X \oplus \tau^{-1}X$ is never rigid, we find precisely two maximal rigid objects which are indecomposables, i.e. S_2 and $\tau^{-1}S_2$. Now the rigid object $S_2 \oplus \theta \tau^{-2}S_2$ is not cluster tilting in \mathscr{C} so the fourth gauging does not exists.

We conclude that for rank-1 $\Delta < 2$ the 'discrete gauging' in the sense of RT exactly reproduce the physically allowed ones.

8.2 The remaining 5 discrete gaugings

For the remaining cases we have no simple explicit realization of the cluster category for the ungauged theory.⁵⁸ We should argue in an *ad hoc* manner.

8.2.1 \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging of $(3, E_6)$

The \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging of the SCFT $(3, E_6)$ produces $(6, F_4)$ (entry 4). In the mutation class of the quiver $Q(1^6; 3)$ there is a unique \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetric one analogue to (6.29)



with involution $i \mapsto i + 4 \mod 8$. The superpotential \mathcal{W} is invariant under the involution. This action induces a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry of the cluster category \mathscr{C} generated by an auto-equivalence⁵⁹ M with $M^2 = \text{Id}$. Hence in cluster category \mathscr{C} of $(3, E_6)$ there is a

⁵⁷We choose $\theta : \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \mapsto \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$

⁵⁸The cluster category of $(3, E_6)$ is the Amiot category of a del Pezzo algebra \mathcal{A}_6 . In principle, one should be able to describe the gauging in terms of sheaves on the del Pezzo surface.

⁵⁹Identifying E_6 Minahan-Nemeshanski with the SCFT of type $D_2(\text{Spin}(8))$, in the notations section 6.3.1 of [32], we have $M = 1 \otimes \tau$.

(8.25)

cluster-tilting object $T = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{8} T_i$, unique up to auto-equivalence, such that $T_{i+4} \cong MT_i$, whose endo-quiver is (8.24). Endowing the quiver with its symmetric superpotential \mathcal{W} , the quiver automorphism $i \mapsto i + 4 \mod 8$ extends to an automorphism of the Jacobian algebra. The orbit is still a Jacobian algebra, and we may define the 'orbit' 2-CY category.

In [33] it was shown that the S-duality group of E_6 MN consists of the semi-direct product of the flavor Weyl group with the \mathbb{Z}_2 outer automorphism of the E_6 Lie algebra. Physically we expect that a finite subgroup of the S-duality group which acts on the flavor via outer automorphisms should be gaugeable while preserving $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY as was the case in SU(2) $N_f = 4$. Then the subgroup generated by S should be gaugeable, as we found above by the symmetries of the quiver. This argument also shows that no other gauging of E_6 MN is possible.

The symmetry of the gauged model is F_4 which is the result of folding the E_6 Dynkin diagram along its \mathbb{Z}_2 automorphism. This is the physically expected result [7].

8.2.2 \mathbb{Z}_3 gauging of SU(2) $\mathcal{N}=2^*$

This gauging produces (6, SU(2)) (entry 9).

Since SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ is a class $\mathcal{S}[A_1]$ theory, there is in principle an 'explicit' description of its cluster category \mathscr{C} in terms of ideal triangulations of a torus with a puncture. Gaugings of class $\mathcal{S}[A_1]$ models will be discussed in Part II of this paper, where the present models will be revisited. Here we work at a more naive level, which does not requires a knowledge of the details of \mathscr{C} .

There is a unique quiver in the mutation class, the Markoff one, with a \mathbb{Z}_3 automorphism acting freely on the nodes

Then the UV category \mathscr{C} of the ungauged SCFT, SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$, has an autoequivalence M with $M^3 \cong \text{Id}$. Of course this \mathbb{Z}_3 group is the obvious finite subgroup of the S-duality group SL(2, \mathbb{Z}), and the situation is a close analogue of the \mathbb{Z}_3 gauging of SU(2) $N_f = 4$ (section 5). Since the flavor Lie algebra of the parent model, $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ has no non-trivial outer automorphism, the discrete gauge \mathbb{Z}_3 should act trivially on flavor and the gauged model should have the same flavor group as the original model. This is consistent with the action of \mathbb{Z}_3 on the Markoff quiver since the flavor charge is represented by the dimension vector (2, 2, 2) which is invariant under cyclic rotations.

However now the ungauged theory has h > 0, so there are further subtleties in the categorical approach. These subtleties do not spoil the existence of the gauging, but make the categorical description more involved. The "quotient" category by M is then the UV category for the SCFT in entry 9.

8.2.3 \mathbb{Z}_2 gaugings of SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$

There are two subtly different such gaugings: entries 16 and 17. Both have F = SU(2). Thus the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry to be gauged acts trivially on flavor; this is consistent with $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ not having non-trivial outer automorphisms.

The Markoff quiver (8.25) has no \mathbb{Z}_2 automorphism. This is not a problem according the discussion in section 7.1, since in this case h = 1. For $h \ge 1$ the only condition is that the discrete gauge group \mathbb{G} should be an unobstructed subgroup of the homological *S*-duality group [32, 33] equal to the group of auto-equivalences $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathscr{C})$ of the UV category \mathscr{C} of the parent theory (modulo its subgroup acting trivially on physical observables).

For SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$, Aut(\mathscr{C})/(phy.triv.) is a \mathbb{Z}_2 extension of the modular group PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) [32, 33]. As in the previous examples, a finite subgroup of Aut(\mathscr{C})/(phy.triv.) should be gaugeable iff it acts on the flavor charges only through outer automorphisms. This, in particular, applies to the \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup generated by $S \in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ [13]. In the definition of the S-duality group Aut(\mathscr{C})/(phy.triv.) the automorphisms of the quiver and the automorphisms of the underlying graph which reverse all arrows enter on the same footing [33]. The Markoff quiver has a \mathbb{Z}_2 morphism of the second kind, corresponding to an elementary mutation at one node, which induces a freely acting \mathbb{Z}_2 automorphism of the complementary full subquiver of the mutated node. This is the categorical symmetry to be gauged.

Let us make it a bit more explicit. The Markoff quiver (8.25) is the Gabriel quiver of the algebra $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(T_1 \oplus T_2 \oplus T_3)$, where $T_1 \oplus T_2 \oplus T_3 \in \mathscr{C}$ is a certain cluster-tilting object and the T_i 's are indecomposable. By the Iyama-Yoshino theorem [97]⁶⁰ there are precisely 2 indecomposables $T_3, T_3^* \in \mathscr{C}$ such that

$$T_1 \oplus T_2 \oplus T_3$$
, and $T_1 \oplus T_2 \oplus T_3^*$ (8.26)

are cluster-tilting. Mutation at node \bullet_3 is the involution corresponding to the interchange $T_3 \leftrightarrow T_3^*$: the quiver of $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(T_1 \oplus T_2 \oplus T_3^*)$ is just the mutation of the quiver (8.25) at the node \bullet_3 . The mutated quiver has the same form as the original one up to the permutation $\bullet_1 \leftrightarrow \bullet_2$ of nodes. Thus the operation

$$\sigma \colon \{T_1, T_2, T_3\} \leftrightarrow \{T_2, T_1, T_3^*\}$$
(8.27)

is an involution which leaves invariant the quiver Q and its superpotential \mathcal{W} . Therefore it leaves invariant the Ginzburg dg algebra $\Gamma(Q, \mathcal{W})$, and induces a \mathbb{Z}_2 automorphism of the categories one constructs out of it, in particular the cluster category \mathscr{C} [33]. Since σ acts trivially on the flavor charge, it should be identified with the unique \mathbb{Z}_2 with these properties, that is, with the gaugeable duality $S \in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$.

Alternatively, we may see SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ as the class $\mathcal{S}[A_1]$ theory [98, 99] with Gaiotto surface C the once-punctured torus. In this context, the S-duality group arises as the mapping class group of C, which acts on the ideal triangulation in the obvious way. This leads to an explicit action of the modular group $\operatorname{GL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ on \mathscr{C} as described in the language of ideal triangulations (for details see [33] and references therein).

⁶⁰See appendix, Proposition B.1.2.

Is the \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging of $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ unique?

Two inequivalent gaugings will correspond to two order-2 elements of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathscr{C})/(\operatorname{phy.triv.})$, S and S'. $S(S')^{-1}$ would be a order-2 autoequivalence acting trivially on both the electro-magnetic and the flavor charges. Is there such a order-2 auto-equivalence? To answer this question, we first recall that the class $\mathcal{S}[A_1]$ theory we are considering actually corresponds to $\operatorname{SU}(2)$ $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ plus a free hypermultiplet. Hence the IR physics contains two hypers with zero electric-magnetic charge (cf. section 4.8 of [30]). In the IR the automorphism b of the Markoff quiver which fixes all nodes and flips all arrows in the pairs \rightrightarrows interchanges these two hypermultiplets. Thus using S and bS yields us two subtly different gauged theories both with $\Delta = 4$ and $F = \operatorname{SU}(2)$. This perfectly matches the subtle difference between the SCFT in entries 16 and 17.

Remark 7. The rational elliptic surfaces $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}^{\vee})$ for entries 16 and 17 are obtained one from the other by a Kodaira quadratic transformation which leaves invariant the fiber at \mathcal{F}^{\vee} . In particular they have the same functional invariant $\mathscr{J}(z)$ and hence the same space of deformations. So they look 'almost' the same. Their respective parent ungauged models are the two different versions of $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$.

8.2.4 The last one: \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging of (3, Sp(6))

It remains only one gauging to discuss: the one of (3, Sp(6)) producing (6, Sp(4)). We know no simple description of the cluster category \mathscr{C} of the parent theory besides its general abstract definition in terms of the perfect $\mathfrak{Per}\Gamma$ and bounded derived $D^b\Gamma$ categories of the Ginzburg dg algebra Γ associated to its quiver with superpotential (see [33] for a review); in fact, since we do not know the higher order terms in the superpotential, even the general definition is not complete. Then instead of a precise argument, we shall present circumstantial evidence for the existence (and uniqueness) of the \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging from two categorical viewpoints.

Comparison with SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$. In the mutation class, we have the quiver



which looks like 'an extension' of the Markoff one by adding the nodes 1 and 2. Mutation at the • node (the one associated to \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging of $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$) induces a graph automorphism which is a free \mathbb{Z}_2 automorphism of the complementary subquiver, $i \mapsto i + 2 \mod 4$ much as in the Markoff case. At the level of indecomposable summands of the corresponding cluster-tilting object we have

$$\sigma(T_{\bullet}) = T_{\bullet}^*, \qquad \sigma(T_j) = T_{j+2}. \tag{8.29}$$

As in the $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ case this shows that we have a gaugeable \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup of the S-duality group. Since $\mathfrak{sp}(4)$ does not have non-trivial outer automorphisms, the non-Abelian factor in the original flavor symmetry, $\mathrm{Sp}(4) \times \mathrm{U}(1)$ should be preserved. The Abelian part is lost since it is odd under σ .

Alternatively, we may argue as in the following subsection.

8.3 Computer search of consistent gaugings

There exists a purely combinatorial algorithm [33] to compute the S-duality group and its action on the flavor charges for all $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT with the BPS-property. This algorithm may be effectively implemented on a computer provided its quiver Q has not too many nodes. The algorithm may be used to search for all gaugeable discrete subgroups of the S-duality group. For the models in the previous subsection, the algorithm returns the discrete gaugings we already know. The algorithm may be run for the quiver (8.28) with the result that the S-duality group contains an order 2 element acting on the flavor charges as described above.

8.4 No more gaugings

The computer search for $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathscr{C})/(\operatorname{phy.triv.})$ shows that there are no gaugings of E_7 and E_8 Minahan-Nemeshanski. This is already obvious from the dimension formula (5.4) since any such gauging will have $\Delta \geq 8$ which is impossible in rank-1 [12].

9 The 5 false-gaugings

It remains to discuss the 5 base-changes of elliptic surfaces that we dubbed false-gaugings, i.e. the rows in table 5 without the symbol \checkmark . As we have already observed, they are precisely the symplectic base-changes of rational elliptic surfaces \mathcal{E} with fiber configurations satisfying all physical conditions, including the 'Dirac quantization of charge', which pull back to elliptic surfaces \mathcal{E}' which satisfy all requirements except the 'Dirac quantization'. Indeed, in all 5 instances the covering surface \mathcal{E}' has a fiber configuration of the form

$$\{\mathcal{F}^{\vee}; I_{a_1}, I_{a_2}^m\}$$
 with $\frac{a_1}{a_2} \in \mathbb{Q}$ square-free, $a_1, n \mid m, a_1 + ma_2 = 12 - e(F_{\infty}),$ (9.1)

n being the degree of the cover. Thus these models have a perfectly good Seiberg-Witten geometry with a cover which is a nice SW geometry which we do not consider as a definition of a distinct $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT for tricky reasons. In table 6 we collect some data on the corresponding covers. In the last column we indicate that two entries, 6 and 8, are under scrutiny by the authors of [3] since there is no evidence they exist. Here we see that they are precisely the ones with covers having 3-torsion, which is impossible in rank-1 2-CY. This does not prove that the SCFT #6 and #8 do not exist, but provides further evidence that they are "strange".

The simplest interpretation of these covering geometries is to start from a generic configuration $\{\mathcal{F}^{\vee}; I_1^{12-e(\mathcal{F}^{\vee})}\}$ which corresponds to the quiver $Q(1^{10-e(\mathcal{F}^{\vee})}, q)$; its functional invariant $\mathcal{J}(z)$ is a rational function with $12 - e(\mathcal{F}^{\vee})$ simple poles in \mathbb{C} satisfying the Kodaira conditions on zeros and ones [19]. Varying the position of the poles is equivalent

#	cover fibers	cover Mordell-Weil	existence?
5	$\{IV; I_2, I_1^6\}$	A_5^{\vee}	
6	$\{IV; I_2, I_3^2\}$	$\langle 1/6 angle \oplus \mathbb{Z}/3\mathbb{Z}$	in question
8	$\{IV;I_6,I_1^2\}$	$A_1^ee\oplus \mathbb{Z}/3\mathbb{Z}$	in question
15	$\{I_0^*; I_2, I_1^4\}$	$A_1^\vee\oplus A_1^\vee\oplus A_1^\vee$	
22	$\{IV^*; I_2, I_1^2\}$	$\langle 1/6 \rangle$	

Table 6. Covering rational elliptic surfaces for the 5 rank-1 false-gaugings. # is model number in table 1 of [3]. The third column yields the Mordell-Weil group of the covering surfaces (notation: \mathfrak{g}^{\vee} stands for the weight lattice of the simply-laced, simple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} ; $\langle 1/6 \rangle$ stands for \mathbb{Z} endowed with the quadratic form $\frac{1}{6}x^2$). In the last column we indicate the SCFT whose existence is put in question in ref. [3].

to changing the mass parameters which take value in the Cartan subalgebra of the flavor group F. By suitable fine-tuning of the mass-deformation we may force a group of b poles of $\mathcal{J}(z)$ to coalesce to form a pole of higher order b. An order b pole corresponds to a fiber of type I_b . Physically, we fine-tune the masses so that b different hypermultiplet species get massless on the same locus in the Coulomb branch. By such an operation we may obtain any fiber configuration of type I_b fibers (keeping fixed the fiber at infinity \mathcal{F}^{\vee}) provided the configuration is present in the tables of allowed fiber configurations [76, 77]. In this process, the b particle species loose their distinct identity, and this amounts to quotient out the statistic group $\mathfrak{S}_b \equiv \text{Weyl}(A_{b-1})$. The visible Weyl group is then the commutant of Weyl (A_{b-1}) in the Weyl group of the generic surface Weyl $(E_{10-e(\mathcal{F}^{\vee})})$.

Seiberg-Witten viewpoint. Let us consider false-gauging from the SW perspective. A BPS particle of the (mass-deformed) SCFT is a (family of) calibrated curve(s) γ inside the fiber \mathcal{E}_u over our Coulomb vacuum u, which we assume to be generic. Its pull-back $\phi_*^*\gamma$, is a disjoint union of calibrated curves in the covering fibers $\{\mathcal{E}'_v \mid \phi(v) = u\}$. As in the case of a true gauging, the BPS spectrum becomes a purely local computation at covering vacuum v. From this local viewpoint, it is just the BPS spectrum of the generic $E_{10-e(\mathcal{F}^{\vee})}$ theory in a peculiar very fine-tuned limit. Then one expects that, roughly speaking, also their 1d Lagrangian has the form $\mathscr{L}_{fi.tun.}/\mathbb{G}$ where \mathbb{G} is the covering group and $\mathscr{L}_{fi.tun.}$ is a fine-tuned version of the 1d Lagrangian for the generic $E_{10-e(\mathcal{F}^{\vee})}$ model. (The fine-tuning may correspond to a singular limit, in which case we need to introduce higher order interactions to regularize it).

At this naive level, one may model the difference between *true* and *false* gaugings as follow. In false gaugings we freeze b - 1 mass deformations by putting b poles together, and (roughly speaking) this kills an A_{b-1} sublattice of the flavor lattice. To produce this effect, the generator ρ_{false} of the false discrete gauge group $\mathbb{G}_{\text{false}} \cong \mathbb{Z}_n$ should be twisted with respect to the generator ρ_{true} of a true discrete gauge group $\mathbb{G}_{\text{true}} \cong \mathbb{Z}_n$ by an order-nelement θ of the Weyl group of $E_{10-e(\mathcal{F}^{\vee})}$

$$\varrho_{\text{false}} = \theta \, \varrho_{\text{true}}, \qquad \theta^n = 1.$$
(9.2)

Then a natural candidate for the UV category of a false gauging is the twisted-orbit category

$$\mathscr{C}_{\theta} = \left(\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} / (\theta \varrho)^{\mathbb{Z}}\right)_{\text{tr.hull}}$$
(9.3)

which, while still Hom-finite and 2-CY, has no cluster-tilting objects any longer. Correspondingly we don't have the unbranched Galois cover of Jacobian algebra $J \rightarrow J_d$ we had in the case of a true gauging. Of course, this should be expected, since that structure precisely realized the physical concept of what a discrete gauging is, which is not the case here, where the SCFT, while covered by SW geometries, are not discrete gauging in any physical sense.

Thus in the false case the most we may hope for is to have non-zero rigid objects in \mathscr{C}_{θ} . As already stated, we take the conservative stand that the 2-CY shuld have a non-zero rigid object (even if we haven't a strong argument for this requirement). There are plenty of 2-CY categories without non-trivial rigid objects.

Without loss of generality, we focus on *maximal* rigid objects. When cluster-tilting objects exist, all maximal rigid objects are cluster-tilting [100].

For rank-1 and $\mathbb{G}_{\text{false}}$ non-trivial we have a simple relation (cf. eq. (5.5))

$$\operatorname{ank} F\Big|_{\text{false-gauged theory}} = \#\left(\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{indecomposable direct summands} \\ \operatorname{of basic maximally rigid objects} \end{array}\right).$$
(9.4)

More precisely, if T_{max} is a maximally rigid object, we have

Flavor group root lattice
$$\cong K_0(\operatorname{\mathsf{add}} T_{\max}).$$
 (9.5)

Since (in rank-1) all false-gaugings have $\Delta \in \mathbb{N}$, their UV category \mathscr{C}_{θ} is symmetric, and the Weyl-invariant pairing is just

$$M_{ij} = \dim \mathscr{C}_{\theta}(T_i, T_j) + \dim \mathscr{C}_{\theta}(T_j, T_i), \qquad T_{\max} = \bigoplus_i T_i.$$
(9.6)

9.1 Entries 15 and 22

r

The elliptic surfaces \mathcal{E} of entries 15 and 22 of [3] have covering elliptic surfaces \mathcal{E}' which may be seen as fine-tuned limits of surfaces associated to SCFT whose UV category is a pretty explicit orbit category $D^b \mathcal{H}/(S^{-1}\Sigma^2)^{\mathbb{Z}}$ with \mathcal{H} hereditary. Thus the UV categories for these models can be constructed explicitly as orbit categories of the ungauged one $D^b \mathcal{H}/(S^{-1}\Sigma^2)^{\mathbb{Z}}$.

Such a false-gauging orbit category has the general form \mathscr{C}_{ϱ} in eq. (8.19)

$$\mathscr{C}_{\varrho} = D^{b} \mathcal{H} / (\varrho)^{\mathbb{Z}}, \tag{9.7}$$

where ρ is an autoequivalence of $D^b \mathcal{H}$ satisfying condition 1) of (8.19) but — contrary to a true gauging — condition 2) is violated. More precisely, an orbit category of the form (9.7) describes a false-gauging iff:

- 1) $\varrho^n = \tau^{-1} \Sigma$ for some n > 1;
- 2) \mathscr{C}_{ϱ} contains *non-zero* maximal rigid objects. A false-gauging is a true-gauging iff the maximal rigid object is cluster-tilting.

This is a special case of the problem studied in the appendix of [93] and in ref. [94].

Entry 22. According to the table of base-changes for elliptic surfaces, this model corresponds to a \mathbb{Z}_2 pseudo-gauging of an Argyres-Douglas model of type D_4 producing a SCFT with an Abelian flavor group of dimension 1, F = U(1). Eq. (8.21) gives the list of solutions to condition 1) for $D(D_4) \equiv D^b \mod \mathbb{C}D_4$; we conclude that the pseudo-gauging producing the entry 22 SCFT corresponds to the orbit category

$$\mathscr{C}_{\theta\tau^{-2}} \equiv D(D_4) / (\theta\tau^{-2})^{\mathbb{Z}}.$$
(9.8)

We already know that this 2-CY category has no cluster-tilting object. The argument following eq. (8.21) shows that S_{\odot} (the simple module with support at the central node) is basic maximal rigid for $\mathscr{C}_{\theta\tau^{-2}}$. The maximal rigid object has a single indecomposable summand, as expected since the flavor group $F \equiv U(1)$ has rank 1.

This result can also be read from the mathematical literature. Indeed, this is the category (L2) on page 430 of [94] which is a 2-CY category with non-zero maximal rigid objects which are not cluster-tilting. For further details we refer to [94].

As predicted in our general discussion — cf. eq. (9.2) — the false-gauging differs from the corresponding true-gauging producing the SCFT with $\Delta = 3$ and F = SU(3) (entry 21) by a *twisting* of the auto-equivalence ρ by an order-2 element θ of the flavor Weyl group of the ungauged model. This is the general pattern we find in examples.

Entry 15. This SCFT is a \mathbb{Z}_2 false-gauging of SU(2) with $N_f = 4$ producing a SCFT with a rank-2 flavor symmetry, SU(2) × SU(2) or SU(2) × U(1). As in the previous case, we twist the true \mathbb{Z}_2 gauging by an order-2 element $\Pi \in \mathfrak{S}_3 \subset \text{Weyl}(\text{Spin}(8))$, so that we get the 2-CY category

$$\mathscr{C}_{\Pi TLT} \equiv D^b \mathrm{coh} \, \mathbb{X} / (\Pi TLT)^{\mathbb{Z}}, \tag{9.9}$$

which satisfies condition 1). To fix conventions, we take Π to be the permutation of the first two special points $1 \leftrightarrow 2$ in the weighted projective line X. The computations in appendix G show that the following sheaves

$$T \cong \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_4), \qquad T' \cong \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{S}_{4,1},$$

$$(9.10)$$

are examples of basic maximally rigid non cluster-tilting. They have two direct summands, in agreement with the rank of the flavor group, cf. eq. (9.4).

Let us see how the maximal rigid objects work at the level of flavor symmetry. From eq. (9.4) we see that the fact that maximal rigid objects T_{max} have "too few" direct summands to be cluster-tilting reflects the fact that the flavor group F has a smaller rank; this reduction of rank being produced by the freezing of mass-deformations of the cover surface. In an intuitive language: the twist by the Weyl element θ breaks the flavor group to one of a smaller rank: if the twist models the coalescing b fibers of type I_1 to make one of type I_b , the 'rank deficit', i.e. the number of missing direct summands in the pull-up $F^{\lambda}T_{\text{max}}$ should be b - 1. The net effect of θ is to delete b - 1 nodes from the Dynkin graph of the flavor group of the associated true-gauging F_{true} .

For instance, the true gauging (before twisting by Π) associated to entry 15 produces a SCFT with F = Spin(7) (i.e. entry 14). The twisting reflects the fiber collision $I_1 + I_1 \rightsquigarrow I_2$,

so b-1 = 1. After the twisting we should get a flavor symmetry whose Dynkin graph is obtained from the Spin(7) one by deleting a node. Indeed, we get $F' = SU(2) \times SU(2)$ which corresponds to the Dynkin graph reduction

$$\bullet \longrightarrow \circ \Longrightarrow \bullet \quad \bullet \bullet \quad \bullet \quad (9.11)$$

9.2 The remaining 3 false-gaugings

In the remaining 3 cases the 2-CY categories are not very explicit, and we shall be less detailed. From a conservative mathematical viewpoint, one may say that we check some necessary conditions for the existence of the categories, rather than proving their existence. In particular, the troublesome entries 6 and 8 pass the text, but the purported categories may well not exist.

The first two SCFT, entry 5 and 6, may be seen as \mathbb{Z}_2 false-gaugings of Minahan-Nemeshanski E_6 . Note that the parent MN E_6 model should be much more fine-tuned in entry 6 than in entry 5. In entry 5 only two of the eight poles of $\mathscr{J}(z)$ are made to collide (and the other six being set in a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetric position); instead in entry 6 the remaining six poles coalesce in two triplets. The fine-tuning reduces the number of free parameter, hence the rank of the flavor group. The third model, entry 8, may be either interpreted as a pseudo-gauging of E_6 MN or of the Sp(6), $\Delta = 3$ SCFT. Note that entry 6 should be seen as a variant of entry 8 and not as an independent SCFT.

As in the previous two model, these three gaugings should correspond to twisting the genuine gauging producing the $\Delta = 6$ theory with $F = F_4$ by an order-2 element θ of the flavor Weyl group Weyl(E_6) of the parent theory. Since the \mathbb{Z}_2 -symmetry to be gauged should be a subgroup of the homological S-duality S acting on the flavor by outer automorphisms, and given that in this case

$$\mathbb{S} = \mathbb{Z}_2 \ltimes \operatorname{Weyl}(E_6), \tag{9.12}$$

with \mathbb{Z}_2 the outer automorphism of the E_6 graph, we conclude:

The allowed gaugings and pseudo-gauging of E_6 MN should correspond to the conjugacy classes of non-trivial involutions

$$\theta \in \mathbb{Z}_2 \ltimes \operatorname{Weyl}(E_6) \tag{9.13}$$

such that $\theta \notin \text{Weyl}(E_6)$. Let θ be such an involution. The centralizer C_{θ} of θ in $\text{Weyl}(E_6)$ is expected to have the form

$$C_{\theta} = \prod_{j} \mathfrak{S}_{b_{j}} \times \operatorname{Weyl}(F).$$
(9.14)

In eq. (9.14) the product of symmetric groups corresponds to the indistinguishability of the fibers I_1 of the covering surface \mathcal{E}' after being coalesced into groups of b_j to form Kodaira fibers of type I_{b_j} (fine-tuning). In table 7 we list the 5 SCFT whose elliptic surfaces have symplectic double covers \mathcal{E}' with fiber configurations of the form $\{IV; I_{a_1}, I_{a_2}^m\}$. In the last column we write the predicted centralizer C_{θ} according to (9.14).

#	Δ	F	fibers \mathcal{E}	fibers \mathcal{E}'	Galois	true?	$C_{ heta}$
4	6	F_4	$\{II; I_0^*, I_1^4\}$	$\{IV;I_1^8\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\checkmark	$Weyl(F_4)$
5	6	$\operatorname{Sp}(6)$	$\{II; I_1^*, I_1^3\}$	$\{IV; I_2, I_1^6\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2		$\mathfrak{S}_2 \times \operatorname{Weyl}(C_3)$
6	6	SU(2)	$\{II;I_1^*,I_3\}$	$\{IV;I_2,I_3^2\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2		$(\mathfrak{S}_2 \ltimes \mathfrak{S}_3^2) \times \operatorname{Weyl}(A_1)$
7	6	$\operatorname{Sp}(4)$	$\{II; I_2^*, I_1^2\}$	$\{IV; I_4, I_1^4\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\checkmark	$\mathfrak{S}_4 \times \operatorname{Weyl}(C_2)$
8	6	SU(2)	$\{II;I_3^*,I_1\}$	$\{IV; I_6, I_1^2\}$	\mathbb{Z}_2		$\mathfrak{S}_6 \times \operatorname{Weyl}(A_1)$

Table 7. The five symplectic coverings with covering surface \mathcal{E}' which is a fine-tuned limit of the $\Delta = 3$ $F = E_6$ Minahan-Nemeshanski. In the last column C_{θ} is the expected centralizer of the pseudo-gauged \mathbb{Z}_2 . A \checkmark means that the false-gauging is actually a gauging.

Using MATHEMATICA we compute the conjugacy classes of involutions $\theta \in \mathbb{Z}_2 \ltimes$ Weyl(E_6) with the required properties and their centralizers C_{θ} . We found 4 such conjugacy classes with C_{θ} :

Weyl(
$$F_4$$
), $\mathfrak{S}_2 \times \text{Weyl}(C_3)$, $\mathfrak{S}_4 \times \text{Weyl}(C_2)$, $\mathfrak{S}_6 \times \text{Weyl}(A_1)$ (9.15)

in perfect agreement with the list of SCFT if one sees 6 and 8 as different realizations of same SCFT (in analogy with the two realizations of $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$). As already mentioned, these two models belong to the ugly class, and may not exist as QFT.

The flavor groups of the SCFT arising from pseudo-gaugings work as expected for a subfactor. For instance, for entry 5 we have to delete a single node from the Dynkin graph

$$\circ \longrightarrow \bullet \longrightarrow \bullet \longrightarrow \bullet \longrightarrow \bullet \longrightarrow \bullet \dots \quad (9.16)$$

9.3 No more false-gaugings

Since E_7 and E_8 have no gaugings, we have nothing to twist by suitable elements of the flavor Weyl group. Indeed, the E_7 and E_8 Lie algebras have no outer-automorphisms. Thus we conclude that there are no other false-gaugings besides those we have already listed. Of course the absence of such (false)-gaugings already follows from the bound $\Delta \leq 6$ on the dimension of a rank-1 SCFT.

10 Conclusions

We have listed all 2-CY categories satisfying our Criterion/Definition on page 10 and constructed quite explicitly most of them. We have verified that they are in one-to-one correspondence with the entries of table 1 of ref. [3] (plus the four categories associated with asymptotically-free rank-1 QFTs). The correspondence is quite precise; when an entry is *ugly* from the point of view advocated by the authors of [1-7] looks also ugly from the categorical perspective, and for a parallel reason. We have also checked the 'functorial' correspondence with the classification of rational elliptic surfaces advocated in [17].

In a companion paper we put the RT methods at work for the classification of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT in higher rank k.

Acknowledgments

We thank Michele Del Zotto for sharing with us his deep insights which helped so much to lay the foundations of the RT approach to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ classification. We are grateful to Bernhard Keller, Dirk Kussin and Mario Martone for interesting discussions and clarifications about their respective works.

A 'Reading between the lines' vs. Mordell-Weil torsion

Line-operators and 't Hooft groups. We recall that the line-operator classes in a 4d Lagrangian QFT with semi-simple gauge group G are labelled by elements of the Abelian group $\mathbf{Z} \oplus \mathbf{Z}^{\vee}$, where \mathbf{Z} is the center of the universal cover \tilde{G} of $G = \tilde{G}/H$, $H \subset \mathbf{Z}$ (reading between the 4d lines of gauge theories [29]). For simplicity we assume G to be simple. In this case \mathbf{Z} is k-torsion, and we have a canonical skew-symmetric pairing

$$\wedge^2 \left(\boldsymbol{Z} \oplus \boldsymbol{Z}^{\vee} \right) \to \mathbb{Z}_k \tag{A.1}$$

which we call the Weil pairing. Two lines are mutually local iff their pairing vanishes. If k is a prime, $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}^{\vee}$ is a vector space V over the field \mathbb{F}_k with k elements, and the Weil pairing is a non-degenerate symplectic form. A maximal set of mutually local lines is then a Lagrangian subspace of V. Let $G = \widetilde{G}/H$ and $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{Z}/H$ so that \mathbb{K} is Abelian group of non-trivial gauge transformations. Gauge invariance requires the set of allowed classes to be invariant under $z \mapsto z + (\mathbb{K} \oplus 0)$ and locality $\langle z, (\mathbb{K} \oplus 0) \rangle = 0$. Therefore, we may define the line operator classes as elements of

$$\mathbf{Z}/\mathbf{K} \oplus (\mathbf{Z}/\mathbf{K})^{\vee} \cong \mathbf{H} \oplus \mathbf{H}^{\vee}.$$
 (A.2)

The group H should act trivially on the local fields, hence $H \subset I$, with $I \subset Z$ the isotropy group of the local fields in \tilde{G} . We call the group in (A.2) the 't Hooft group: he introduced it to classify the phases of 4d non-Abelian gauge theory [101, 102]. In a Lagrangian theory this group is a subgroup of $I \oplus I^{\vee}$. The group $I \oplus I^{\vee}$ is the largest 't Hooft group consistent with a given local Lagrangian. It is the group of line operators which may be defined for the given Lagrangian. The maximal set of line operator which we may define is a isotropic subspace under the Weil pairing $\langle -, - \rangle$; mathematically, we may always work on a 'finite cover of our QFT' (not a QFT !!) where the correlation functions are multivalued in which the group is the full $I \oplus I^{\vee}$; this is what 't Hooft did.

The S-duality group acts on the 't Hooft group by electro-magnetic duality. In a theory obtained by gauging a discrete subgroup of S-dualities of a Lagrangian theory, the 't Hooft group is the appropriate quotient of the 't Hooft group of the parent theory.

Torsion in the Grothendieck group $K_0(\mathscr{C})$ of a cluster category. If the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory is Lagrangian (and hence BPS-quiver [30]) we alway get [33]

$$K_0(\mathscr{C}) = (\text{flavor weight lattice}) \oplus \mathbf{I} \oplus \mathbf{I}^{\vee},$$
 (A.3)

so that we get the maximal 't Hooft group. In other words, the cluster category always contains all possible line operators. We have a natural skew-symmetric form $\wedge^2(\mathbf{I} \oplus \mathbf{I}^{\vee})$ which in rank-1 takes values in \mathbb{Z}_2 . It is identified with the 't Hooft form of the Lagrangian QFT. E.g. in pure SU(2) the UV category is the cluster category of coherent sheaves on \mathbb{P}^1 , $\mathscr{C} = \mathscr{C}(\mathbb{P}^1)$ and $K_0(\mathscr{C})$ is the group $\mathbb{Z}_2^{\oplus 2}$ generated by the class $[\mathcal{O}]$ of the structure sheaf together with the class $[\mathcal{S}_0]$ of the skyscraper at 0, subjected to the relations $2[\mathcal{O}] = 2[\mathcal{S}_0] = 0$. The pairing is just the Euler pairing in $\operatorname{coh} \mathbb{P}^1$ taken mod 2

$$\chi(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{S}_0) = 1, \qquad \chi(\mathcal{S}_0, \mathcal{O}) = -1. \tag{A.4}$$

Mordell-Weil torsion in rational elliptic surfaces. On the basis of the correspondence suggested in the introduction, one also expects that the torsion part of the Mordell-Weil group $\mathsf{MW}(\mathcal{E})$ matches the torsion part of the Grothendieck group $K_0(\mathscr{C})$. Comparing table 1 of ref. [3] with the table of Mordell-Weil torsion [18], we see that of the 28 fiber configurations corresponding to SCFT only 4 have non trivial MW torsion, namely

#	24	25	16	17
fiber conf.	$\{I_0^*; I_2^3\}$	$\{I_0^*; I_4, I_1^2\}$	$\{III; I_2, I_1^*\}$	$\{III; I_1, I_2^*\}$
MW torsion	$(\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{\oplus 2}$	$\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$	$\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$	$\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$

If we add to the list the asymptotically-free models not covered in [3] we get two additional fiber configurations with non-trivial MW torsion groups

$$\{I_2^*; I_2^2\}: (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{\oplus 2}, \{I_4^*; I_1^2\}: \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}.$$
 (A.6)

This fact has a simple interpretation.

Entry 24. This SCFT is SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ whose 't Hooft group is $\mathbb{Z}_2^{\oplus 2}$ (for the gauge group $SU(2)/\mathbb{Z}_2 \equiv PSU(2)$); the torsion part of the Grothedieck group of the cluster category is also $\mathbb{Z}_2^{\oplus 2}$, see eq. (4.40). Therefore, in this case, we have a perfect match of the three torsion groups: 't Hooft, Grothendieck, and Mordell-Weil.

Below we see $\mathbb{Z}_2^{\oplus 2}$ as the vector space \mathbb{F}_2^2 over the field with 2 elements \mathbb{F}_2 . 't Hooft electric/magnetic fluxes are elements of this space $(e, m) \in \mathbb{F}^2$.

Entries 16 and 17. These are the two subtly different \mathbb{Z}_2 discrete gaugings of SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$. Gauging a subgroup of the S-duality group identifies 't Hooft's electric and magnetic fluxes, i.e.

$$\begin{pmatrix} e \\ m \end{pmatrix} \sim \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} e \\ m \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \begin{pmatrix} e \\ m \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{F}_2^2, \tag{A.7}$$

so that $e = m \in \mathbb{F}_2$ and the 't Hooft group reduces to a single copy of \mathbb{Z}_2 , in full agreement with the Mordell-Weil torsion. Again we have full agreement of the three torsion groups.

Note that the same argument applied to entries 9 and 10, i.e. \mathbb{Z}_3 discrete gaugings of $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ yields

$$\begin{pmatrix} e \\ m \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} e \\ m \end{pmatrix} \quad \Rightarrow \quad 0 = e = m \in \mathbb{F}_2, \tag{A.8}$$

and no Mordell-Weil torsion is expected, again in full agreement with the tables of [18].

Entry 25. This is the second version of the SW geometry of SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$. The Mordell-Weil torsion $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ is a subgroup of the maximal 't Hooft group; the natural interpretation is that in this geometry one may realize only some line-operator. $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ is the group of a maximal set of mutually-local line-operators, so one gets all the lines present in the QFT (as contrasted with a multivalued cover).

The af model $\{I_2^*; I_2^2\}$. At its face value this may seem to be a zero-parameter specialization of SU(2) with $N_f = 2$, in fact it is pure SU(2) which is double-covered by SU(2) with $N_f = 2$ [88]. This can be seen in three different ways. The two SW curves are (6.2)

$$p^{2} = e^{x} - e^{-x}, \qquad p^{2} = e^{2x} - e^{-2x},$$
 (A.9)

and $2x \to x$ transforms one into the other. At the quiver level: we have the unramified Galois \mathbb{Z}_2 cover [80]

In terms of SW geometries: the 'usual' form for pure SU(2), corresponding to fiber configuration $\{I_4^*, I_1^2\}$, is the realization of the pure SU(2) monodromy on the twice-punctured Coulomb branch in the form

where the two factors are the monodromies in $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ (with T, L the matrices in eq. (6.6)) of, respectively, the massless dyon and the massless monopoles, and the last factor the *inverse* of the monodromy at ∞ (weak coupling). Inserting in the above product the identity $-1 = -L \cdot L^{-1}$ and suitable parenthesis we get

where to each element of $SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ we associate the Kodaira fiber of its conjugacy class. Thus this is the monodromy relation for the surface we are interested in $\{I_2^*; I_2^2\}$. Now conjugate each matrix

$$X \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix} X \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \quad \Rightarrow \qquad T^2 \mapsto T, \quad L \mapsto L^2 \tag{A.13}$$

which, in the language of [3], is the operation of changing the charge normalization. One gets

$$\overset{\beta \text{ at } \infty \quad \text{monopole}}{(-L^4) \cdot (L^{-2}TL^2) \cdot (T)} = 1$$
(A.14)

which is the standard presentation of pure SU(2) in the Coulomb branch (by the braid relation (6.5), L, T belong to the same conjugacy class). Thus the SW geometry $\{I_2^*, I_2^2\}$ is just pure SU(2) with electric charge in an unsual normalization. From (A.6) we see that in this case the 't Hooft, Grothendieck, and Mordell-Weil torsion groups all agree. In the usual realization $\{I_4^*, I_1^2\}$ only a local subset of line operators are explicitly realized.

B Categories: notations, definitions, basic facts

B.1 Basic definitions and theorems

The set of morphisms $X \to Y$ in a category \mathscr{C} is written $\mathscr{C}(X, Y)$; the notation $\operatorname{Hom}(X, Y)$ is reserved to the special case when \mathscr{C} is Abelian hereditary (see definition below). We write $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(X)$ for $\mathscr{C}(X, X)$ and $\operatorname{End}(X)$ for $\operatorname{Hom}(X, X)$.

We recall that a category \mathscr{C} is \mathbb{C} -linear iff, for all objects $X, Y \in \mathscr{C}$, the set $\mathscr{C}(X, Y)$ is a \mathbb{C} -space, composition is bilinear, and finite direct sums exist. \mathscr{C} is Hom-finite if in addition dim $\mathscr{C}(X,Y) < \infty$; in this case $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(X)$ is a finite-dimensional associative \mathbb{C} algebra with 1 for all X. \mathscr{C} is Krull-Schmidt if it has split idempotents. Through the paper $D? \equiv \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(?,\mathbb{C})$ stands for duality of \mathbb{C} -spaces.

Convention. In this paper we use the term 'category' as a synonym for ' \mathbb{C} -linear, Homfinite, Krull-Schmidt category'. We may (and do) assume the category to be connected. All categories we use have these properties. Under these assumptions, all objects in \mathscr{C} are finite direct sums of indecomposable objects, and the endo-algebra $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(X)$ of all indecomposable X is local.

We write add X for the additive closure of X in \mathscr{C} namely the full subcategory of \mathscr{C} whose objects are direct sums of summands of X. An object $X \in \mathscr{C}$ is said to be *basic* if its indecomposable direct summands are pairwise non-isomorphic; this is the same as saying that its endo-algebra $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(X)$ is basic. Now (see e.g. [88])

Theorem B.1.1 (Gabriel). Let A be a finite-dimensional basic \mathbb{C} -algebra. Then there exists a quiver Q_A , unique up to isomorphism, such that A is isomorphic to $\mathbb{C}Q_A/I$, where I is an ideal of the path algebra $\mathbb{C}Q_A$ contained in the square of the ideal generated by all arrows of Q_A . There is a bijection $i \mapsto S_i$ between the nodes of Q_A and the iso-classes of simple (right) A-modules. The number of arrows between nodes i and j is dim $\text{Ext}^1(S_j, S_i)$.

Given a basic object $X \in \mathscr{C}$ its endo-quiver is the quiver of its endo-algebra, $Q_{\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(X)}$.

Abelian and hereditary categories. The category \mathscr{C} is Abelian if all morphisms have kernels and cokernels. For an Abelian category we define the spaces $\operatorname{Ext}^k(X,Y)$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. $\operatorname{Ext}^0(X,Y) \equiv \mathscr{C}(X,Y)$, while $\operatorname{Ext}^k(X,Y) = 0$ for k < 0. An object P (resp. I) is said to be projective (resp. injective) iff $\operatorname{Ext}^1(P,X) = 0$ (resp. $\operatorname{Ext}^1(X,I) = 0$) for all X.

An Abelian category \mathscr{C} is said to be *hereditary* iff $\operatorname{Ext}^k(X, Y) = 0$ for all k > 1 and $X, Y \in \mathscr{C}$. A finite-dimensional algebra is said to be hereditary iff the Abelian category of its finite-dimensional modules is hereditary. For a basic algebra as in Theorem B.1.1 this happens iff the ideal $I \equiv 0$.

An object in a hereditary category is said to be *rigid* if $\operatorname{Ext}^1(X, X) = 0$ and *maximally rigid* if there is no $Y \notin \operatorname{add} X$ so that $X \oplus Y$ is rigid. A *tilting object* T in a hereditary category \mathcal{H} is a basic rigid object such that $\operatorname{Ext}^k(T, X) = 0$ for all integers $k \ge 0$ implies X = 0. Let $T = \sum_i T_i \in \mathcal{H}$ be tilting, and $A = \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{H}}(T)$ its endo-algebra. The indecomposable summands T_i are identified with the indecomposable projectives P_i of the module category $\operatorname{mod} A$ (and thus are in bijection with the nodes of the quiver Q_A). One has the derived equivalence

$$D^b \mathcal{H} \cong D^b \mathsf{mod} A. \tag{B.1}$$

A hereditary category \mathcal{H} has *Serre duality* if there is an autoequivalence τ such that

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(X,Y) = D\operatorname{Hom}(Y,\tau X). \tag{B.2}$$

Since τ is an autoequivalence, a category with Serre duality has no non-zero projective and injective. Eq. (B.2) is valid also in the module category of a hereditary algebra, with τ the AR translation, which however is not defined on the projectives, while τ^{-1} is not defined on the injectives.

Theorem B.1.2 (Happel [103]). A hereditary category with a tilting object is either the module category of a hereditary algebra, $\mathbb{C}Q$, or the coherent sheaves coh \mathbb{X} over a weighted projective line \mathbb{X} (see section B.3).

Triangle categories. A category \mathscr{C} is triangulated if it has a suspension autequivalence Σ (the 'shift') and a set of distinguished triangles

$$A \to B \to C \to \Sigma A \tag{B.3}$$

satisfying a certain set of axioms, see e.g. ref. [104]. In particular, if (B.3) is a distinguished triangle so is its rotation $B \to C \to \Sigma A \to \Sigma B$. We also write X[n] for $\Sigma^n X$. A typical example of triangulated category is the bounded derived category $D^b(\mathcal{A})$ of an Abelian category \mathcal{A} [104]. If \mathcal{A} is in addition hereditary, $D^b(\mathcal{A})$ is the *repetitive category* of \mathcal{A} [103] i.e. the category \mathscr{D} whose indecomposables have the form $X[n], X \in \mathcal{A}, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and morphism spaces $\mathscr{D}(X[i], Y[j]) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^{j-i}(X, Y)$. The AR translation τ extends to an autoequivalence of \mathscr{D} so that

$$\mathscr{D}(X, Y[1]) \cong D\mathscr{D}(Y, \tau X). \tag{B.4}$$

Definition B.1.1. A triangle category \mathscr{C} is *n*-Calabi-Yau (*n*-CY) if there is bifunctorial isomorphisms [27]

$$D\mathscr{C}(X,Y) \cong \mathscr{C}(Y,X[n]).$$
 (B.5)

We are mainly interested in the case n = 2. In this case we have the symmetry $\mathscr{C}(X, Y[1]) \cong D\mathscr{C}(Y, X[1])$.

Definition B.1.2. Let \mathscr{C} be 2-CY. An object $X \in \mathscr{C}$ is *rigid* if $\mathscr{C}(X, X[1]) = 0$, and *maximally rigid* iff it is rigid and $X \oplus Y$ rigid implies $Y \in \operatorname{add} X$. An object $T \in \mathscr{C}$ is *cluster-tilting* iff it is basic, rigid $\mathscr{C}(T, T[1]) = 0$, and

$$\operatorname{\mathsf{add}} T = \{ X \in \mathscr{C} \mid \mathscr{C}(X, T[1]) = 0 \}.$$
(B.6)

A cluster-tilting object is maximally symmetric, but the converse is often false see [93] for counter-examples. There are 2-CY categories without cluster-tilting objects, and even 2-CY categories without any non-zero rigid object. Such categories are also relevant for our purposes.

We list some basic results:

Proposition B.1.1 (BIRS [105]). \mathscr{C} a triangulated 2-CY category.

- (a) Let T be a cluster-tilting object. Then for all $X \in \mathscr{C}$ there exist triangles $T_1 \to T_0 \to X$ and $X \to T'_0 \to T'_1$ with T_i, T'_i in add T;
- (b) Let T maximal rigid. Then for all rigid $X \in \mathscr{C}$ (a) holds.

Proposition B.1.2 (Iyama-Yoshino [97]). Let the 2-CY category \mathscr{C} have cluster-tilting objects. 1) all such objects have the same number n of indecomposable summands. 2) all maximal rigid objects are cluster-tilting. 3) let $\hat{T} \equiv \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n-1} T_i$ to be an almost-maximal rigid object. Then there exist precisely two indecomposables, T_n and T'_n such that the objects

$$T = \hat{T} \oplus T_n, \qquad T' = \hat{T} \oplus T'_n, \tag{B.7}$$

are cluster-tilting. Replacing the object T by the object T' is called mutation at T_n .

Theorem B.1.3 (Keller-Reiten [106]). Let T be a cluster-tilting object of the 2-CY category \mathscr{C} , and $A \equiv \operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}}(T)$ its endo-algebra. The functor

$$F_T \colon \mathscr{C} \to \operatorname{mod} A, \qquad X \mapsto \mathscr{C}(T, X)$$
 (B.8)

in an equivalence of categories

$$\mathscr{C}/(\operatorname{\mathsf{add}} T[1]) \cong \operatorname{\mathsf{mod}} A,\tag{B.9}$$

where $(\operatorname{add} T[1])$ is the ideal of morphisms factoring through objects in $\operatorname{add} T[1]$.

If Q_A is finite, we say that the pair (\mathscr{C}, T) is a 2-CY realization of the quiver Q_A . Note that the nodes of Q_A are in bijection with the summands of T. If the quiver Q_A has no loop at the *n*-th node, it is related to the quiver of $Q_{A'}$ of the mutated cluster-tilting object $T \rightsquigarrow T'$ by the elementary quiver mutation at node *n* in the sense of Fomin-Zelevinski [107].

On the modules of the algebra $A \equiv Q_A/I_A$ we have an important antisymmetric form:

Proposition B.1.3 (Palu [31]). Let \mathscr{C} be 2-CY with cluster-tilting object T and A its endo-algebra. The antisymmetric form

$$\langle X, Y \rangle_D = \dim \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{mod}A}(X, Y) - \dim \operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathsf{mod}A}(X, Y) - - \dim \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{mod}A}(Y, X) + \operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathsf{mod}A}(Y, X)$$
 (B.10)

is well-defined on the Grothendieck group $K_0(\text{mod}A)$.

For the physical applications a crucial fact is the *Calabi-Yau reduction*:

Theorem B.1.4 (Iyama-Yoshino [97]). Let D be a non-zero rigid object in a 2-CY category \mathscr{C} , and consider the full subcategory

$${}^{\mathsf{L}}D[1] \stackrel{def}{=} \{ X \in \mathscr{C} \mid \mathscr{C}(X, D[1]) = 0 \}.$$
(B.11)

The factor category

$$\mathscr{U}_D = {}^\perp D[1] / \mathsf{add} \, D \tag{B.12}$$

is triangulated 2-CY. The cluster-tilting objects in \mathscr{U}_D are in one-one correspondence with the cluster-tilting objects of \mathscr{C} which have D as a summand.

In particular, if D is an incomplete cluster-tilting object, i.e. an object such that $T = D \oplus T_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus T_j$ is cluster-tilting, and Q_T is the endo-quiver of T, the quiver of End $\mathscr{U}_D(D)$ is the quiver obtained from Q_T by deleting the nodes corresponding to the summands, T_1, \cdots, T_j .

The 2-acyclic case. The nicer situation is when our 2-CY category \mathscr{C} has a cluster-tilting object T such that Q_A is 2-acyclic i.e. has no loops \circlearrowright (arrows starting and ending at the same node) nor 2-cycles (opposite pairs of arrow \leftrightarrows between the same two nodes). In this case there exists a superpotential \mathcal{W}_A so that $I_A = (\partial \mathcal{W}_A)$, that is, the endo-algebra A is the Jacobian algebra of a quiver with superpotential (Q_A, \mathcal{W}_A) .

If Q_A has no loops all maximal rigid objects are automatically cluster-tilting [108].

In the 2-acyclic case the mutation of summands in the sense of (B.7) coincides with the mutation of quivers with superpotential [107]. The matrix of the antisymmetric form (B.7) in the basis of simples, $B_{ij} = \langle S_i, S_j \rangle_D$, is the exchange matrix of the quiver Q_A .

In the 2-acyclic case \mathscr{C} coincides with the *cluster category* $\mathscr{C}(Q_A)$ which categorifies the cluster algebra associated with the (mutation class) of the 2-acyclic quiver Q_A .

When our $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT possesses the BPS-quiver property, it is described by a mutation-class of quivers with superpotential (and a stability function) as described in ref. [30] and summarized in section 2. In this special case the Palu antisymmetric form $\langle -, -\rangle_D$ is the Dirac pairing, and the number *n* of summands of a cluster-tilting object *T* is the rank of the flavor group plus twice the dimension of the Coulomb branch. As we stressed in the main body of the paper, this is *not true* if \mathscr{C} has no cluster-tilting object whose endo-quiver is 2-acyclic.

In general, the cluster category $\mathscr{C}(Q_A)$ of a 2-acyclic quiver with superpotential \mathcal{W}_A is constructed with the help of the Ginzburg dg algebra $\Gamma(Q_A, \mathcal{W}_A)$ of the pair (Q_A, \mathcal{W}_A) , see [42]. In this case the bounded derived category $D^b\Gamma(Q_A, \mathcal{W}_A)$ may be identified with the IR category describing the BPS particles [33]; consequently $D^b\Gamma(Q_A, \mathcal{W}_A)$ is 3-CY.

Cluster characters for 2-CY categories with cluster-tilting. The cluster characters for general (Hom-finite) 2-CY categories with cluster-tilting object T are defined by Palu in [31]; we refer to the original paper for details.

B.1.1 The cluster category of a hereditary category

An important special case of 2-CY categories with cluster-tilting objects having 2-acyclic endo-quivers is the *cluster category* $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}}$ of a hereditary category \mathcal{H} with tilting object T. Consider the orbit category of the derived category $D^b\mathcal{H}$ with respect to the autoequivalence $\tau^{-1}\Sigma$

$$\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} D^b \mathcal{H} / (\tau^{-1} \Sigma)^{\mathbb{Z}}. \tag{B.13}$$

 $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}}$ is the category with the same objects as $D^b\mathcal{H}$ and morphism spaces

$$\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(X,Y) \cong \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Hom}_{D^{b}\mathcal{H}}(X, (\tau^{-1}\Sigma)^{n}Y).$$
(B.14)

By construction, $\tau \cong \Sigma$ in $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}}$. From eq. (B.4) we have

$$D\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(X,Y) \cong \mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(Y,\tau X[1]) \cong \mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(Y,X[2]), \tag{B.15}$$

so $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(\mathcal{H})$ is 2-CY provided it is triangulated.

- **Theorem B.1.5** (Keller [85]). \mathcal{H} a hereditary category, F a standard⁶¹ equivalence of \mathcal{H} . Suppose:
 - 1) For each indecomposable U of \mathcal{H} , only finitely many objects $F^{i}U$, $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, lie in \mathcal{H} .
 - 2) There is an integer $N \ge 0$ such that the F-orbit of each indecomposable of $D^b\mathcal{H}$ contains an object $\Sigma^n U$, for some $0 \ge n \ge N$ and some indecomposable object U of \mathcal{H} .

Then the orbit category $D^b \mathcal{H}/(F)^{\mathbb{Z}}$ admits a natural triangulated structure such that the projection functor $D^b \mathcal{H} \to D^b \mathcal{H}/(F)^{\mathbb{Z}}$ is triangulated.

Then $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}}$ is a Hom-finite, triangulated 2-CY category and the image of T is clustertilting. End $_{\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}}}(T)$ is a Jacobian algebra with a 2-acyclic quiver, so has a *cluster structure* in the sense of [50].

Definition B.1.3. $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}}$ is the *cluster category* of the hereditary category (with tilting) \mathcal{H} .

The cluster category $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}}$ is the solution to an universal problem:

Proposition B.1.4 (The universal property). The cluster category \mathcal{H} is the universal 2-CY category under the derived category $D^b\mathcal{H}$, i.e. let \mathscr{K} be 2-CY category and ϕ a triangle functor such that $\phi \circ \tau \Sigma \simeq \Sigma^2 \circ \phi$

$$\begin{array}{c}
\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{H}} \\
 \pi \\
\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{H}} - - - - - \rightarrow \mathscr{K}
\end{array}$$
(B.16)

Then ϕ factors through π .

See e.g. diagram (6.13) which defines the discrete gauging functors $g_{d/2}$.

B.1.2 Cluster categories from algebras of global dimension ≤ 2

Let \mathcal{A} be a finite-dimensional algebra of global dimension ≤ 2 and let $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \equiv D^b \operatorname{\mathsf{mod}} \mathcal{A}$ be its bounded derived category. $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ admits a Serre functor S such that

$$D\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Y) \cong \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}(Y,SX) \tag{B.17}$$

given by the total derived tensor product of the bi-module $D\mathcal{A}$, i.e. $S = ? \bigotimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{L} D\mathcal{A}$. The orbit category

$$\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}/(S\Sigma^{-2})^{\mathbb{Z}} \tag{B.18}$$

is a linear category with a suspension functor Σ but it is not triangulated in general, unless $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is equivalent to the derived hereditary category. However it has a universal *triangulated* hull $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ [85] such that there exists an algebraic triangulated functor $\pi \colon \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ with a universal property analogous to (B.16). $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is triangulated; one shows [54] that if the triangular hull is Hom-finite is also 2-CY. This happens iff the functor $\operatorname{Tor}_{2}^{\mathcal{A}}(?, D\mathcal{A})$ is nilpotent. Moreover the image of \mathcal{A} is a cluster-tilting object.

⁶¹Telescopic functors are standard equivalences.

Proposition B.1.5 (Amiot [54]). Write $\mathcal{A} = \mathbb{C}Q/I$, with I an ideal generated by a finite set of minimal relations $\{r_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in\sigma}$ with starting at $s(r_{\alpha})$ and ending at $t(r_{\alpha})$. Suppose $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ to be Hom-finite. Then the quiver of the algebra $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}}(\mathcal{A})$ is obtained by adding a new arrow, going in the opposite direction, for each minimal relation, i.e. in correspondence to the relation r_{α} we add an arrow from $t(r_{\alpha})$ to $s(r_{\alpha})$.

It is important to understand how smaller is the full subcategory $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}/(S\Sigma^{-2})^{\mathbb{Z}}$ with respect to the cluster category $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$. The two categories are equivalent iff $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is equivalent to $D^b\mathcal{H}$ with \mathcal{H} hereditary. In general one has

Proposition B.1.6 (Amiot-Oppermann [109]). All rigid objects $X \in C_A$ belong to the orbit category. In particular, all cluster-tilting objects belong to the orbit category.

We say that an object $X \in \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is a/b-fractional CY iff $S^b X \cong X[a]$. Then

Proposition B.1.7 (Amiot-Oppermann [109]). Assume that there is an indecomposable $X \in \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ which is fractional Calabi-Yau with $a \neq b$. Then the triangular hull $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is strictly larger than the orbit category unless $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is the derived category of a hereditary category.

Corollary B.1.1. Let \mathcal{A} be the triangular algebra associated to a quiver Q(A,q) (section 4.1). If $\Delta \leq 2$ then $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is the orbit category unless $A = \{2\}$ in which case it is strictly larger.

When $\Delta > 2$ the derived category $\mathscr{D}(A,q)$ of the quiver Q(A,q) is fractional Calabi-Yau and not equivalent to a derived hereditary category. Hence

Corollary B.1.2. The cluster category for the 2-acyclic models in section 4.1 are strictly larger than the orbit category iff $\Delta > 2$.

B.1.3 Properties of Amiot cluster categories of fractional CY derived categories

Let \mathcal{A} a *connected* finite-dimensional algebra with gl.dim $\mathcal{A} \leq 2$ such that $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \equiv D^b \mod \mathcal{A}$ is fractional Calabi-Yau of dimension a/b < 2. Then

Proposition B.1.8 (Section 6.1 of [109]). We have the following possibilities

- 1) the Auslander-Reiten (AR) quiver of $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ has a unique component of the form $\mathbb{Z}Q$, with Q a Dynkin quiver, and \mathcal{A} is the path algebra of Q. In this case a/b < 1;
- 2) a = b and all connected components Γ of the AR quiver of $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ are stable tubes of periods $p \mid b$;
- 3) if $a \neq b$ and \mathcal{A} is not the path algebra of a Dynkin quiver, all connected components Γ have the form $\mathbb{Z}A_{\infty}$.

B.2 Representations of Dynkin quivers and related categories

Let Γ be a quiver obtained by choosing an orientation in a Dynkin graph of type ADE. We identity the representations of Γ with the module category mod_{Γ} of the path algebra $\mathbb{C}\Gamma$, which is a hereditary category with finitely-many indecomposables, all rigid, in oneto-one correspondence with the positive roots $\Delta^+(\Gamma)$ of the underlying Dynkin graph. The correspondence sends the indecomposable $X \in \mathsf{mod}_{\Gamma}$ to the root

$$X \mapsto \sum_{v \in \Gamma} \dim X_v \, \alpha_v. \tag{B.19}$$

The indecomposable projective P_i consists of all paths in Γ starting at node i; dually the indecomposable injective I_i consists of all paths terminating at i. Since the category mod_{Γ} is hereditary, all modules X have a projective resolution of the form

$$0 \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} P_i \to \bigoplus_{j \in J} P_j \to X \to 0.$$
(B.20)

The indecomposables of the derived category $\mathscr{D}_{\Gamma} \equiv D^b \mathsf{mod}_{\Gamma}$ then have the form $X_{\beta}[n]$, $\beta \in \Delta^+(\Gamma)$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Up to equivalence, \mathscr{D}_{Γ} is independent of the chosen orientation. \mathscr{D}_{Γ} has the triangles inherited from mod_{Γ}

$$\bigoplus_{i \in I} P_i \to \bigoplus_{j \in J} P_j \to X \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} \Sigma P_i.$$
(B.21)

The AR translation τ is then defined by the following triangle

$$\tau X \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} I_i \to \bigoplus_{j \in J} I_j \to \Sigma \tau X.$$
(B.22)

The cluster category \mathscr{C}_{Γ} is the orbit category of \mathscr{D}_{Γ} with respect to $\tau^{-1}\Sigma$. Modulo isomorphism, its indecomposables are the indecomposables of mod_{Γ} together with the shifted projectives $P_i[1]$.

B.3 Coherent sheaves on weighted projective lines

References for this topics are [103, 110–115]. Given a set of integral weights $\boldsymbol{p} = (p_1, p_2, \dots, p_s), p_i \geq 2$ we define $L(\boldsymbol{p})$ to be the Abelian group over the generators $\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2, \dots, \vec{x}_s$ subjected to the relations

$$\vec{c} = p_1 \vec{x}_1 = p_2 \vec{x}_2 = \dots = p_s \vec{x}_s. \tag{B.23}$$

 \vec{c} is called the *canonical* element of $L(\boldsymbol{p})$, while the *dual* element is

$$\vec{\omega} = (s-2)\vec{c} - \sum_{a=1}^{s} \vec{x}_a \in L(p).$$
 (B.24)

Given the weights \boldsymbol{p} and s distinct points $(\lambda_a : \mu_a) \in \mathbb{P}^1$ we define a ring graded by $L(\boldsymbol{p})$

$$S(\mathbf{p}) = \bigoplus_{\vec{a} \in L(\mathbf{p})} S_{\vec{a}} = \mathbb{C}[X_1, X_2, \cdots, X_s, u, v] / (X_1^{p_1} - \lambda_1 u - \mu_1 v, \cdots, X_s^{p_s} - \lambda_s u - \mu_s v)$$
(B.25)

where the degree of X_a is \vec{x}_a and the degree of u, v is \vec{c} . The weighted projective line $\mathbb{X}(p)$ is defined to be the projective scheme $\operatorname{Proj} S(p)$. Its Euler characteristic is

$$\chi(\mathbf{p}) = 2 - \sum_{a=1}^{s} (1 - 1/p_a).$$
(B.26)

The Picard group of $\mathbb{X}(\mathbf{p})$ (i.e. the group of its invertible coherent sheaves \equiv line bundles) is isomorphic to the group $L(\mathbf{p})$

$$\mathsf{Pic}\,\mathbb{X}(\boldsymbol{p}) = \big\{\mathcal{O}(\vec{a}) \mid \vec{a} \in L(\boldsymbol{p})\big\},\tag{B.27}$$

i.e. all line bundles are obtained from the structure sheaf $\mathcal{O} \equiv \mathcal{O}(0)$ by shifting its degree in $L(\mathbf{p})$. The dualizing sheaf is $\mathcal{O}(\vec{\omega})$. Hence

$$\tau \mathcal{O}(\vec{a}) = \mathcal{O}(\vec{a} + \vec{\omega}). \tag{B.28}$$

One has

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{O}(\vec{a}), \mathcal{O}(\vec{b})) \simeq S_{\vec{b}-\vec{a}}, \qquad \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(\mathcal{O}(\vec{a}), \mathcal{O}(\vec{b})) \simeq D S_{\vec{a}+\vec{\omega}-\vec{b}}.$$
(B.29)

Any non-zero morphism between line bundles is a monomorphism [103, 111]. In particular, for all line bundles L, End $L = \mathbb{C}$. Hence, if $(\lambda : \mu) \in \mathbb{P}^1$ is not one of the special s points $(\lambda_i : \mu_i)$, we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O} \xrightarrow{\lambda u + \mu v} \mathcal{O}(\vec{c}) \to \mathcal{S}_{(\lambda;\mu)} \to 0 \tag{B.30}$$

which defines a coherent sheaf $S_{(\lambda;\mu)}$ concentrated at $(\lambda;\mu) \in \mathbb{P}^1$. It is a simple object in the category coh $\mathbb{X}(p)$ (the 'skyscraper'). At the special points $(\lambda_a;\mu_a) \in \mathbb{P}^1$ the skyscraper is not a simple object but rather it is an indecomposable of length p_a . The simple sheaves localized at the *a*-th special point $(\lambda_a;\mu_a)$ are the $S_{a,j}$ (where $j \in \mathbb{Z}/p_a\mathbb{Z}$) defined by the exact sequences

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}(j\vec{x}_a) \to \mathcal{O}((j+1)\vec{x}_a) \to \mathcal{S}_{a,j} \to 0.$$
(B.31)

Applying τ to these sequences we get

$$\tau S_{(\lambda;\mu)} = S_{(\lambda;\mu)}, \qquad \tau S_{a,j} = S_{a,j-1}.$$
 (B.32)

In conclusion we have 62 [103, 111]

$$\operatorname{\mathsf{coh}} \mathbb{X}(\boldsymbol{p}) = \mathcal{H}_+ \lor \mathcal{H}_0, \tag{B.33}$$

where \mathcal{H}_0 is the full Abelian subcategory of finite length objects (which is a uniserial category) and \mathcal{H}_+ is the subcategory of *bundles*. Any non-zero morphism from a line bundle L to a bundle E is a monomorphism. For all bundles E we have a filtration [103, 111]

$$0 = E_0 \subset E_1 \subset E_2 \subset \dots \subset E_\ell = E, \tag{B.34}$$

⁶²The notation in the rhs [52, 103, 111] stands for two properties: (i) all object X of $\operatorname{coh} \mathbb{X}(p)$ has the form $X_+ \oplus X_0$ with $X_+ \in \mathcal{H}_+$, $X_0 \in \mathcal{H}_0$, and (ii) $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{H}_0, \mathcal{H}_+) = 0$.
with E_{i+1}/E_i line bundles. Then we have an additive function rank: $K_0(\operatorname{coh} \mathbb{X}(p)) \to \mathbb{Z}$, the rank, which is τ -invariant, zero on \mathcal{H}_0 and positive on \mathcal{H}_+ . rank E is the length ℓ of the filtration (B.34); line bundles have rank 1.

We define the additive function *degree*, deg: $K_0(\operatorname{coh} \mathbb{X}(\boldsymbol{p})) \to \frac{1}{n}\mathbb{Z}$, by

$$\deg \mathcal{O}\left(\sum_{a} n_a \vec{x}_a\right) = \sum_{a} \frac{n_a}{p_a}.$$
 (B.35)

deg satisfies the four properties: (i) the degree is τ stable; (ii) deg $\mathcal{O} = 0$; (iii) if \mathcal{S} is a simple of τ -period q one has deg $\mathcal{S} = 1/q$; (iv) deg X > 0 for all non-zero objects in \mathcal{H}_0 .

Physically, rank is the Yang-Mills magnetic charge while deg is (a linear combination of) the Yang-Mills electric charge (and matter charges) normalized so that the W boson has charge +1. For the four weighted projective lines X_p with $\chi(p) = 0$, eq. (B.26), the Riemann-Roch theorem reduces to the equality [103, 110, 111]

$$\frac{1}{p}\sum_{j=0}^{p-1}\left\langle [\tau^{j}X], [Y]\right\rangle_{E} = \operatorname{rank} X \operatorname{deg} Y - \operatorname{deg} X \operatorname{rank} Y. \tag{B.36}$$

The slope $\mu(E)$ of a coherent sheaf E is the ratio of its degree and rank⁶³

$$\mu(E) = \deg E / \operatorname{rank} E. \tag{B.37}$$

The hereditary category $\operatorname{coh} \mathbb{X}(p)$ has a *canonical* tilting object T_{can} whose endomorphism algebra is the Ringel canonical algebra $\Lambda(p)$ of type (p) [103, 110, 111]. T_{can} is the direct sum of $n \equiv \sum_{i} (p_i - 1) + 2$ line bundles

$$\mathcal{O}, \qquad \mathcal{O}(\ell \vec{x}_i) \text{ (with } i = 1, \dots, s, \ \ell = 1, \dots, p_i - 1), \qquad \mathcal{O}(\vec{c}).$$
 (B.38)

By definition of tilting object, Ext^1 vanishes between any pair of sheaves in eq. (B.38), while the only non-zero Hom spaces are

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{O}(\vec{c})) = 2, \qquad \dim \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{O}(k_i \vec{x}_i), \mathcal{O}(\ell_i \vec{x}_i)) = 1, \quad 0 \le k_i \le \ell_i \le p_i, \quad (B.39)$$

where, for all i, $\mathcal{O}(0\vec{x}_i) \equiv \mathcal{O}$ and $\mathcal{O}(p_i\vec{x}_i) \equiv \mathcal{O}(\vec{c})$.

Telescopic functors. If $\chi(\mathbb{X}(\mathbf{p})) = 0$ the derived category $D^b \operatorname{coh} \mathbb{X}(\mathbf{p})$ has additional autoequivalences generated by the telescopic functors T and L.

T is simply the functor which shifts the $L(\mathbf{p})$ degree of the sheaf by \vec{x}_3 [111, 113, 114]

$$X \longmapsto X(\vec{x}_3) \equiv TX,\tag{B.40}$$

where we ordered the weights so that $p_3 \equiv p$ is the largest one. Explicitly, the action on the generating sheaves $\mathcal{O}, S_{i,j}$ is given by

$$T\mathcal{O} = \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3), \quad T\mathcal{S}_{3,j} = \mathcal{S}_{3,j+1}, \quad T\mathcal{S}_{a,j} = \mathcal{S}_{a,j} \text{ for } a \neq 3.$$
 (B.41)

⁶³By convention, the zero object has all slopes.

Thus T preserves the rank, while increases the degree by 1/p times the rank. L is defined by the triangle

$$\bigoplus_{j=0}^{p-1} \operatorname{Hom}^{\bullet}(\tau^{j}\mathcal{O}, X) \otimes \tau^{j}\mathcal{O} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{can}_{X}} X \longrightarrow LX.$$
(B.42)

One has $\deg LX = \deg X$ while rank $LX = \operatorname{rank} X - p \deg X$. In particular,

$$L\mathcal{O} = \tau^{-1}\mathcal{O} \equiv \mathcal{O}(-\vec{\omega}),$$

$$L\mathcal{S}_{a,j} = \mathcal{O}(-\vec{x}_a + (p-1-j)\vec{\omega})[1] \quad \text{iff } p_a = p.$$
(B.43)

It is easy to see that [112, 113]

$$LTL = TLT. (B.44)$$

Useful formulae are [83]

$$L \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3) = \mathcal{S}_{3,0}$$

$$LTL \mathcal{O} = TLT \mathcal{O} = \mathcal{S}_{3,1}$$

$$LTL \mathcal{S}_{3,1} = TLT \mathcal{S}_{3,j} = \tau^{-(j+2)} \mathcal{O}[1].$$
(B.45)

T, L generate the braid group \mathcal{B}_3 . One has $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}) = \mathcal{B}_3/Z(\mathcal{B}_3)$. The center $Z(\mathcal{B}_3)$ of \mathcal{B}_3 is the infinite cyclic group generated by $(TL)^3$. One has

$$(TL)^{3}(\mathcal{O}) = TLT \cdot LTL(\mathcal{O}) = TLT(\mathcal{S}_{3,1}) = \tau^{-3}\mathcal{O}[1],$$
(B.46)

$$(TL)^{3}(\mathcal{S}_{3,j}) = TLT \cdot LTL(\mathcal{S}_{3,j}) = \tau^{-(j+2)}TLT(\mathcal{O})[1] = \tau^{-(j+2)}\mathcal{S}_{3,1}[1] = \tau^{-3}\mathcal{S}_{3,j}[1].$$
(B.47)

So we have the isomorphism of triangle functors

$$(TL)^3 \simeq \tau^{-3} \Sigma. \tag{B.48}$$

If $p \neq 3$, \simeq is replaced by =.

C Computations in the derived category of del Pezzo's

We recall that an order sequence $\{E_1, \ldots, E_r\}$ of objects in a triangle category \mathscr{D} is *exceptional* iff

$$\mathscr{D}(E_i, E_j[k]) = 0 \quad \forall \ k \text{ and } i > j, \qquad \mathscr{D}(E_i, E_i[k]) = \begin{cases} \mathbb{C} & k = 0\\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(C.1)

An exceptional sequence is *full* if generates \mathscr{D} as a triangulated category. It is *strongly* exceptional iff, in addition,

$$\mathscr{D}(E_i, E_j[k]) = 0 \text{ for } k \neq 0 \text{ and all } i, j.$$
(C.2)

We need the following

Lemma C.1 (Corollary 2.11 of [71]). Let $\{E_i\}$ be an exceptional sequence of sheaves on a del Pezzo surface X, then, for i < j, one has $\text{Ext}^2(E_i, E_j) = 0$ and at most one of the two spaces $\text{Hom}(E_i, E_j)$, $\text{Ext}^1(E_i, E_j)$ is non zero. Clearly Hom $(E_i, E_j) \neq 0$ (resp. Ext¹ $(E_i, E_j) \neq 0$) iff the Euler form $\chi(E_i, E_j) > 0$ (resp. $\chi(E_i, E_j) < 0$). One the other hand $\chi(E_j, E_i) = 0$ by definition of exceptional sequence. Hence

$$\chi(E_i, E_j) = \chi(E_i, E_j) - \chi(E_j, E_i) = -r(E_i) c_1(E_j) \cdot K_X + r(E_j) c_1(E_i) \cdot K_X, \quad (C.3)$$

where we used Riemann-Roch.

We apply these results to the standard full (non strongly) exceptional sequence [71] $\{\mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(-1), \cdots, \mathcal{O}_{\ell_k}(-1), \pi^*\mathcal{O}, \pi^*\mathcal{O}(1), \pi^*\mathcal{O}(2)\}$. For s = 0, 1, 2 we have

$$\chi(\mathcal{O}_{\ell_j}(-1), \pi^*\mathcal{O}(s)) = c_1(\mathcal{O}_{\ell_j}(-1)) \cdot K_X = -1,$$
(C.4)

hence, in the derived category \mathscr{D}_X

$$\mathscr{D}_X(\mathcal{O}_{\ell_j}(-1), \pi^*\mathcal{O}(s)[k]) = \begin{cases} \mathbb{C} & k = 1\\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(C.5)

Since $\mathscr{D}_X(\pi^*\mathcal{O}(s), \mathcal{O}_{\ell_j}(-1)[k]) = 0$ for all k, the sequence

$$\{E_i\} := \{\mathcal{O}_{\ell_1}(-1), \cdots, \mathcal{O}_{\ell_k}(-1), \pi^*\mathcal{O}[1], \pi^*\mathcal{O}(1)[1], \pi^*\mathcal{O}(2)[1]\}$$
(C.6)

is full and strongly exceptional. The "Cartan" $(k+3) \times (k+3)$ matrix is

$$S_{ij}^{-1} := \dim \mathscr{D}_X(E_i, E_j) = \begin{cases} \delta_{ij} & 1 \le i, j \le k \\ 1 & 1 \le i \le k \text{ and } j \ge k+1 \\ \delta_{i,j} + 3(j-i) & k+1 \le i \le j \le k+3 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(C.7)

so that

$$S_{ij} = \delta_{ij} + \begin{cases} -1 & 1 \le i \le k \text{ and } j = k+1, \ k+3 \\ +2 & 1 \le i \le k \text{ and } j = k+2 \\ 3(-1)^{j-i} & k+1 \le i < j \le k+3 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(C.8)

The number of solid (resp. dashed) arrows in the quiver with relations of the triangular algebra $\mathcal{B} := \operatorname{End}(\oplus_i E_i)$ is

$$\#\{i \longrightarrow j\} = \max\{-S_{ij}, 0\}, \qquad \#\{i \longrightarrow j\} = \max\{S_{ji} - \delta_{ij}, 0\}$$
(C.9)

so that is



Erasing the last node \bullet_{k+3} we get the quiver with relations \hat{Q} of the triangular algebra $\mathcal{A} = \text{End}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{k+2} E_i)$. This gives the quiver in figure (3.20). If we use the full strong exceptional sequence (3.8) instead of the (C.6) one, the computation is similar except that from (C.3) we have an extra factor 2

$$\dim \mathscr{D}_X(\mathcal{O}_{\ell_i}(-1), \pi^*\mathcal{T}(-1)[k]) = 2 \dim \mathscr{D}_X(\mathcal{O}_{\ell_i}(-1), \pi^*\mathcal{O}(1)[k]).$$
(C.11)

The Serre functor acts S acts on the Grothendieck Group $K_0(\mathscr{D}_A)$ by the 2d monodromy matrix H_A of the algebra \mathcal{A} (\equiv minus the Coxeter matrix). If \tilde{S} is the $(k+2) \times (k+2)$ matrix obtained by deleting the last row and column of S, we have [45]

$$H_{\mathcal{A}} = (\tilde{S}^t)^{-1} \tilde{S}. \tag{C.12}$$

One easily checks that $H_{\mathcal{A}}$ satisfy the correct equation for the action in the Grothedieck group $K_0(\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}})$ of an auto-equivalence S such that $S^d = \Sigma^{2(d-1)}$. Indeed, the minimal equation of $H_{\mathcal{A}}$ is

$$H^d_{\mathcal{A}} = 1, \tag{C.13}$$

where d is the degree of the associated del Pezzo as a hypersurface in weighted projective space.

D Elements of the categorical theory of flavor

We consider a cluster category \mathscr{C}_A arising as in section B.1.2: one starts from a triangular algebra $A = \mathbb{C}Q/I$ with nilpotent Tor₂^A. Then

$$\mathscr{C}_A = \left(\mathscr{D}_A / (\tau^{-1} \Sigma)^{\mathbb{Z}}\right)_{\text{triangle hull}} \qquad A \text{ is cluster-tilting in } \mathscr{C}_A, \tag{D.1}$$

where (as usual) we write \mathscr{D}_A for $D^b \operatorname{\mathsf{mod}} A$.

We apply the 'cutting technique' of [51] (see also [32]). We say that an object $X \in \mathscr{D}_A$ is 2q-periodic iff $\tau^{2q}X = (\tau^{-1}\Sigma)^m X$ for some integer m. If X is 2q-periodic, the function $\lambda_X \colon \mathscr{C}_A \to \mathbb{Q}$

$$\lambda_X(Y) = \langle Y, X \rangle = \frac{1}{q} \sum_{k=0}^{2q-1} (-1)^k \dim \mathscr{C}_A(Y, \Sigma^k X)$$
(D.2)

is well-defined on $K_0(\mathscr{C}_A)$. Note that we have an additional factor 1/q in front of the r.h.s. with respect to ref. [51]; this guarantees that the l.h.s. is independent of the chosen q and moreover $\langle Y, X \rangle$ is symmetric if both X and Y are periodic of possibly different periods.

Suppose that X, Y (X periodic) both belong to the orbit subcategory; since the embedding $\mathscr{D}_A/(\tau^{-1}\Sigma)^{\mathbb{Z}} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{C}_A$ is fully faithfull, we have

$$\langle Y, X \rangle = \frac{1}{q} \sum_{k=0}^{2q-1} (-1)^k \dim \mathscr{C}_A(Y, \tau^k X) = \frac{1}{q} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{k=0}^{2q-1} (-1)^k \dim \mathscr{D}_A(Y, \tau^{k-j} \Sigma^j X).$$
(D.3)

By definition of triangular hull

$$K_0(\mathscr{C}_A) \cong K_0\left(\mathscr{D}_A/(\tau^{-1}\Sigma)^{\mathbb{Z}}\right) \tag{D.4}$$

so the restricted formula (D.3) suffices to compute the quadratic Q-form on $K_0(\mathscr{C}_A)$. If A is derived equivalent to a hereditary category \mathcal{H} , this form (with a different normalization) was computed in [51]. We quote their result specialized to the case of interest. For brevity we omit the 4 asymptotically-free cases which are also covered by [51]. Data to the left (right) of the double bar come from physics (mathematics):

Δ	F	\mathcal{H}	$K_0(\mathscr{C}_A)$	period	quadratic \mathbb{Q} -form
$\frac{4}{3}$	SU(2)	$mod\mathbb{C}A_3$	$\mathbb{Z}[S_1]$	6	$\langle [S_1], [S_1] \rangle = \frac{2}{3}$
					$\left\langle [S_1], [S_1] \right\rangle = 1$
$\frac{3}{2}$	SU(3)	$mod\mathbb{C}D_4$	$\mathbb{Z}[S_1] \oplus \mathbb{Z}[\Sigma S_2]$	8	$\langle [\Sigma S_1], [\Sigma S_1] \rangle = 1$
					$\langle [S_1], [\Sigma S_2] \rangle = \frac{1}{2}$
			$\int \sum_{a=1}^{4} w_a[\mathcal{S}_{a,1}]$		
2	$\operatorname{Spin}(8)$	$coh\mathbb{X}_{(2,2,2,2)}$	$w_a \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$	2	$\langle [\mathcal{S}_{a,1}], [\mathcal{S}_{b,1}] \rangle = 2 \delta_{ab}$
			$w_a = w_b \mod 1$		

From this table one property is obvious:

 $K_0(\mathscr{C}_A)$ is the weight lattice Γ_F^{wgt} of F and the matrix of the quadratic \mathbb{Q} -form (in the basis in the table) is equal to

$$\Delta C_F^{-1} \tag{D.5}$$

where C_F is the Cartan matrix of F.

This strange result has a suggestive interpretation. For the above three SCFT one has the relation

$$\Delta = \kappa_F/2,\tag{D.6}$$

so what we actually find is

$$\frac{1}{2}\kappa_F C_{ab}^{-1},\tag{D.7}$$

which is the physical natural answer since κ_F is the normalization of the two point flavor currents.

D.1 Generalization to Amiot cluster categories

Let us generalize this construction to the case that we have a triangular algebra \mathcal{A} satisfying the 4d/2d condition (section B.1.2). We have the Serre functor $S : \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ given by $X \mapsto X \overset{L}{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} D\mathcal{A}$. We write $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ for the derived category and $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ for the cluster category of \mathcal{A} . We start by recalling some definitions and useful relations.

D.1.1 Fractional Calabi-Yau categories and quantum monodromies

We recall that a triangle category with Serre functor S is said to have fractional Calabi-Yau dimension a/b, or simply to be a/b-CY, iff $S^b = \Sigma^a$ and the positive integers a, b are minimal for this property (the 'fraction' a/b should not be reduced!!). The image of a/b in \mathbb{Q} is written \hat{c} and physicists call it the 2d superconformal central charge. If the category is associate to a 4d SCFT we must have $\hat{c} < 2$ [38]. **Definition D.1.1** (Section 3.3 of [32]). The 2d (quantum) monodromy H is the image of S in the 2-periodic

$$\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}} \equiv \left(\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}/(\Sigma^2)^{\mathbb{Z}}\right)_{\text{triangular hull}}.$$
 (D.8)

The 4d (quantum) monodromy \mathbb{M} is the image of S in the cluster category $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$.

We shall us the notation o(H), $o(\mathbb{M})$ for the orders of H and M, respectively.

Lemma D.1 (Section 3.3 of [32]). Let $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ be fractional a/b-CY with $\hat{c} < 2$. Then

$$o(H) = \frac{2b}{\gcd(a,2)}, \qquad o(\mathbb{M}) \mid \frac{2b-a}{\gcd(a,2)}, \qquad q \equiv o(\mathbb{M}). \tag{D.9}$$

The last equality follows from the fact that q is defined as the period of Σ^2 in $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$, but $\Sigma^2 \sim \mathbb{M}$ in the cluster category. Note that this statement only says that $o(\mathbb{M})$ divides (2b-a). However from the 'coarse-grained' classification we know that *in rank-1*

$$o(\mathbb{M}) = \begin{cases} (2b-a)/\gcd(a,2) & \mathcal{A} \text{ Dynkin algebra} \\ 1 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(D.10)

In rank-1 we have

$$\Delta = \frac{o(H)}{o(\mathbb{M})} \stackrel{\text{rank-1}}{=} \frac{1}{1 - \hat{c}/2} \tag{D.11}$$

In rank-1 we have only 5 possibilities for a/b, namely 2/2, 1/3, 2/4, 2/3, and 2/6.

Example D.1. Consider the del Pezzo algebras \mathcal{A} associated to the quivers $Q(\{1^p\},3)$ with p = 6, 7, 8 respectively. We have

Let \mathcal{A} be an Amiot algebra such that $\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is a/b-CY with a < 2b.

Definition D.1.2. The normalized Euler characteristic in $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is

$$\langle X, Y \rangle = \frac{1}{o(\mathbb{M})} \sum_{k=0}^{2o(\mathbb{M})-1} (-1)^k \dim \mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(X, Y[k])$$
(D.13)

There are two possibilities: either $o(\mathbb{M}) = 1$ or $o(\mathbb{M}) > 1$. In rank-1 the cases with $o(\mathbb{M}) > 1$ correspond to Dynkin algebras, and are already covered by ref. [51]. We assume $o(\mathbb{M}) = 1$ (i.e. $\Delta \in \mathbb{N}$) and we may further assume $\Delta \geq 3$ since $\Delta = 2$ is already covered by ref. [51] or it corresponds to SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$. In this case $o(H) = \Delta$ and $S^{\Delta} = \Sigma^2$. The cluster-category is symmetric, hence $S \simeq \text{Id}$.

Under these conditions we have a well-defined functor RG functor

$$\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}} \equiv \left(\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}/(\Sigma^2)^{\mathbb{Z}}\right)_{\text{tr.hull}} \to \mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}} \equiv \left(\mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}}/(S^{-1}\Sigma^2)^{\mathbb{Z}}\right)_{\text{tr.hull}}$$
(D.14)

and we have

$$\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Y) \cong \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\Delta-1} \mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,S^kY).$$
(D.15)

The 'cutted' Euler form in the root category is

$$\chi_{\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}}}(X,Y) = \sum_{k=0}^{1} (-1)^k \dim \mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,Y[k]), \qquad (D.16)$$

and the normalized Euler form for $\mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is

$$\langle X, Y \rangle = \sum_{k=0}^{\Delta-1} \dim \mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}}(X, S^k Y).$$
 (D.17)

Suppose now that [X] is S-invariant class in $K_0(\mathscr{R}_A)$, which is canonically identified with a class in $K_0(\mathscr{C}_A)/(\text{torsion})$. We get

$$\langle [X], [Y] \rangle = \Delta \chi_{\mathscr{R}_{\mathcal{A}}}(X, Y). \tag{D.18}$$

On the other hand, consider the simples S_1, \ldots, S_r of the quiver $Q(\{1^p\}, q)$ which are neither source or sink. They form a \mathbb{Q} -basis of $K_0(\mathscr{C}_A) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ and satisfy

$$\chi_{\mathscr{C}}(S_i, S_j) = \delta_{ij}.\tag{D.19}$$

E Covering techniques in Representation Theory

Let Q be a finite quiver, I and admissible ideal, and $\mathcal{A} = \mathbb{C}Q/I$ the corresponding basic \mathbb{C} -algebra. \mathcal{A} may be seen as a *bounded* \mathbb{C} -*linear* category whose objects are the nodes, and morphisms spaces $\mathcal{A}(i, j) = e_j \mathcal{A} e_i$ where $e_i \equiv I_i$ is the idempotent at the *i*-node. In this language a module X of \mathcal{A} is a functor $X : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{mod} \mathbb{C}$.

Let \mathbb{G} be a group of auto-equivalence of the linear category \mathcal{A} ; one says that the group \mathbb{G} is *admissible* iff it acts freely on objects (i.e. on the nodes of the quiver Q). \mathbb{G} acts on $\mathsf{mod} \mathcal{A}$ by composition of functors $X \longmapsto X^g \equiv X \circ g$. To each $X \in \mathsf{mod} \mathcal{A}$ one associates its *isotropy subgroup* $\mathbb{G}_X \subset \mathbb{G}$

$$\mathbb{G}_X = \left\{ g \in \mathbb{G} \mid X^g \cong X \right\}.$$
(E.1)

Let $\mathbb{H} \subseteq \mathbb{G}$ be a subgroup; we write $\mathsf{mod}^{\mathbb{H}}\mathcal{A}$ for the full subcategory of \mathbb{H} -invariant modules.

In this set-up the orbit category $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A}/\mathbb{G}$ is well-defined. Its objects are the orbits $\mathbb{G}i$ of objects of \mathcal{A} and morphism

$$\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{G}i,\mathbb{G}j) = \bigoplus_{g \in \mathbb{G}} \mathcal{A}(i,gj).$$
(E.2)

In this context the canonical projection functor

$$F: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}/\mathbb{G} \equiv \mathcal{B}, \tag{E.3}$$

is called a Galois cover since it behaves very much as a topological Galois cover.

E.1 Galois covering functors

The Galois cover F induces two natural functors between the module categories:

• the pull up functor F^{λ} : mod $\mathcal{B} \to \mathsf{mod}\,\mathcal{A}$ defined by composition of functors

$$F^{\lambda} \colon X \longmapsto F^{\lambda} X \equiv X \circ F; \tag{E.4}$$

• the push down functor $F_{\lambda} \colon \mathsf{mod}\,\mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{mod}\,\mathcal{B}$ is the map which associates to the functor $Y \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{mod}\,\mathbb{C}$ the functor $F_{\lambda}Y \colon \mathcal{B} \to \mathsf{mod}\,\mathbb{C}$ acting as follows

$$\diamond$$
 on objects $\mathbb{G}i$: $\mathbb{G}i \longmapsto F_{\lambda}Y(\mathbb{G}i) = \bigoplus_{g \in \mathbb{G}} Y(gi)$ (E.5)

$$\diamond$$
 on morphisms $\mathbb{G}i \xrightarrow{f} \mathbb{G}j$: $f = \sum_{g \in \mathbb{G}} f_g$ with $f_g \in \mathcal{A}(i, gj)$ (E.6)

then
$$F_{\lambda}Y(f) = \sum_{g \in \mathbb{G}} Y(f_g).$$
 (1.0)

Properties [89]:

- 1) the categories $\mathsf{mod}^{\mathbb{G}}\mathcal{A}$ and $\mathsf{mod}\,\mathcal{B}$ are equivalent;
- 2) for all $X \in \operatorname{mod} A$ and all $g \in \mathbb{G}$ we have $F_{\lambda}X^g \cong F_{\lambda}X$ and $F^{\lambda}F_{\lambda}X \cong \bigoplus_{g \in \mathbb{G}} X^g$;
- 3) F_{λ} and F^{λ} are each other right- and left-adjoints:

$$\mathcal{A}(X, F^{\lambda}Y) \cong \mathcal{B}(F_{\lambda}X, Y), \quad \mathcal{A}(F^{\lambda}Y, X) \cong \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ X \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{A}, \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ X \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{A}, \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ X \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{A}, \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ X \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{A}, \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ X \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{A}, \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ X \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{A}, \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ X \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{A}, \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ X \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{A}, \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ X \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ X \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ X \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ X \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ X \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) \quad \forall \ Y \in \mathsf{mod} \ \mathcal{B}(Y, F_{\lambda}X) = \mathcal$$

Proposition E.1.1 (see [89]). \mathbb{G} an admissible group of automorphisms of \mathcal{A} . Suppose the \mathcal{A} -module X is indecomposable and $\mathbb{G}_X = (1)$. Then $F_{\lambda}X$ is indecomposable and for all modules Y with $F_{\lambda}Y \simeq F_{\lambda}X$ there is $g \in \mathbb{G}$ such that $Y \simeq X^g$.

Definition E.1.1. A Galois cover of bounded linear categories, $F: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}/\mathbb{G}$ is said to be *unbranched* iff, for all indecomposables $X \in \text{mod }\mathcal{A}$, $\mathbb{G}_X = (1)$. That is, \mathbb{G} acts freely on the AR quiver.

Corollary E.1.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a bounded \mathbb{C} -linear category, with an admissible group of autoequivalences \mathbb{G} such that $F: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}/\mathbb{G}$ is unbranched. Then the pair of functors F^{λ} , F_{λ} set a correspondence between the indecomposables of mod \mathcal{A}/\mathbb{G} and the indecomposables of mod \mathcal{A} well-defined up to the action of \mathbb{G} . The AR quiver of mod \mathcal{A}/\mathbb{G} is the \mathbb{G} -orbit quiver of the AR quiver of mod \mathcal{A} .

F An example of non-symplectic base-change

We consider the situation described by the commutative diagram (5.2).

The covering $\phi_* \colon \mathcal{E}' \to \mathcal{E}$ is physically interesting when both elliptic surfaces, \mathcal{E}' and \mathcal{E} , satisfy UV and SW completeness as required to be special geometries of a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT.

However, not all such coverings correspond to gaugings. Consider the degree 5 covering of elliptic surfaces

$$\{II; I_1^{10}\} \to \{II^*; I_1^2\},$$
 (F.1)

corresponding to the rational function $z \mapsto z^5 = y$. The covered surface \mathcal{E} is described explicitly by the functional invariant $\mathcal{J}(y) = 1/(1-y^2)$.

The surface \mathcal{E} is associated to the AD model of type A_2 ($\Delta = 6/5$) while \mathcal{E}' to some special limit of MN of type E_8 ($\Delta = 6$). The cover (F.1) cannot represent neither a \mathbb{Z}_5 gauging nor a *pseudo*-gauging of MN producing the A_2 AD; the simplest way to see this is that in eq. (F.1) the relation between Δ and Δ' is the opposite of the physically correct one, eq. (5.4). The fibers of both \mathcal{E}' and \mathcal{E} over the critical/branching point 0 are smooth, and this is not consistent with $\phi^*\Omega$ being a symplectic form, as required for a physically consistent gauging.

It is instructive to see how the above discussion translates in the Weierstrass model of the two Special Geometries [1]

$$\{II; I_1^{10}\} \to y^2 = x^3 + u^5, \qquad \{II^*; I_1^2\} \to y^2 = x^3 + u \tag{F.2}$$

which exhibits the E_8 MN geometry as a 5-fold cover of the A_2 AD one in agreement with eq. (F.1). However the SW differential of the MN model is not the pull-back of SW differential of the AD one, but rather $\lambda' = u^{-4}\phi^*\lambda$ [1], where the overall factor u^{-4} is needed in order to cancel the forth-order zero of $\phi^*d\lambda$ at the origin in order to make it into a *bona fide* symplectic form.

From the categorical side, it is also obvious that (F.1) does not represent a (false)gauging. E.g. the computer procedure introduced in [33], interpreted as a search for categorical discrete (false-)gauging, does not return anything relevant in the Minahan-Nemeshanski E_8 case.

G (Cluster-)tilting objects in $\operatorname{coh} X$

G.1 Generalities

Let X be a weighted projective line of type $p = \{p_1, \dots, p_t\}$. coh X has several tilting objects; they are automatically cluster tilting in the corresponding cluster category \mathscr{C}_{X} [86]. The endo-algebras of some of them are well-studied. For instance, the *canonical* tilting sheaf

$$T_{\rm can} = \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(\vec{c}) \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{a=1}^{t} \bigoplus_{j=1}^{p_a - 1} \mathcal{O}(j\vec{x}_a) \right)$$
(G.1)

End(T_{can}) the Ringel canonical algebra of type p [52]. There are other convenient tilting objects, such as the *squid* tilting sheaf whose endo-algebras are the squid algebras, and so on, see e.g. [116]. T_{can} is an example of tilting *bundle* i.e. a tilting sheaf whose direct summands are all vector bundles (in this case line bundles). The basic reference for tilting sheaves for weighted projective lines is [117]. We borrow the following result that, for simplicity, we state in the special case of type $(2, 2, \dots, 2)$

Theorem G.1.1 (Lenzing-Meltzer [117]). Let X be a weighted projective line of type $(2, \ldots, 2)$ with length-2 points z_a , $a = 1, \ldots, t$. All the tilting sheaves of coh X have the form

$$T = T_I \oplus (\bigoplus_{a \notin I} \mathcal{S}_{a,1}) \tag{G.2}$$

where $I \subset \{1, 2, ..., t\}$ is a subset and T_I is a tilting bundle for the weighted projective line with the |I| length-2 points $\{z_a\}_{a \in I}$.

A useful result refers to the case of tilting *bundles*. We state the special case we need:

Theorem G.1.2 (BKL [116]). Let X be a weighted projective line of type (2, ..., 2) with ≤ 4 2's. Let $T = \bigoplus_i T_i$ be a tilting bundle for coh X. Then the slopes of the summands satisfy

$$\max_{i,j} \left(\mu(T_i) - \mu(T_j) \right) \le 2 \tag{G.3}$$

with equality if and only if T is a twist of T_{can} by a line bundle.

In the rest of this appendix X is a weighted projective line of tubular type (2, 2, 2, 2).

G.2 Cluster-tilting objects in \mathscr{C}_4

Recall from section 6.3.1 than a sheaf $X \in \mathscr{C}_4$ is basic, rigid, or cluster-tilting iff $\iota_4 X$ is respectively basic, rigid, or (cluster-)tilting in \mathscr{C} , equivalently in coh X. Therefore clustertilting objects in \mathscr{C}_4 are just tilting sheaves which are S_4 -invariant. All cluster-tilting objects $T \in \mathscr{C}_4$ have precisely 3 direct summands.

Lemma G.1. No tilting bundle $B \in \operatorname{coh} X$ is S_4 -invariant.

Proof. Suppose $B = \bigoplus_i B_i$ is invariant. Then if B has a direct summand of slope $\mu(B_i)$ has also a summand of slope $\mu(S_4B_i) = -1/\mu(B_i)$. Therefore,

$$2 \le \max_{i} |\mu(B_{i}) + 1/\mu(B_{i})| \le \max_{i,j} (\mu(B_{i}) - \mu(B_{j})) \le 2,$$
 (G.4)

all inequalities are equalities, $\mu(B_i) = \pm 1$ for all *i*, and moreover $B = T_{\text{can}}(\vec{\eta}), \vec{\eta} \in L$, by theorem G.1.2. But the summands of $T_{\text{can}}(\vec{\eta})$ have three distinct slopes, and the condition $\mu(B_i) = \pm 1$ cannot be satisfied.

Therefore the tilting sheaf $\iota_4 T$ should have the form (G.2) for a proper sub-set I.

Lemma G.2. We have $(a \neq 3)$

$$S_4 \mathcal{O} = \mathcal{S}_{3,1}, \qquad S_4 \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_a) \equiv \mathcal{O}(-\vec{x}_a), \qquad S_4 \mathcal{S}_{a,j} = \tau^{-j} \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3 - \vec{x}_a).$$
 (G.5)

Proof. The first equality follows from (B.45). For the second, we start from the triangle

$$\mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3) \to \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3 + \vec{x}_a) \to \mathcal{S}_{a,0}$$
apply L

$$\mathcal{S}_{3,0} \equiv L\mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3) \to L\mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3 + \vec{x}_a) \to L\mathcal{S}_{a,0} \equiv \tau \mathcal{O}(-\vec{x}_a)[1] \quad (G.6)$$
rotate, then τ

$$\tau L\mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3 + \vec{x}_a)[-1] \to \mathcal{O}(-\vec{x}_a) \to \mathcal{S}_{3,1},$$

so that

$$L\mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3 + \vec{x}_a) = \tau^{-1}\mathcal{O}(-\vec{x}_3 - \vec{x}_a)[1] \quad a \neq 3,$$
(G.7)

and

$$TLT \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_a) = TL \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3 + \vec{x}_a) = \tau^{-1} T \mathcal{O}(-\vec{x}_3 - \vec{x}_a) [1] = \tau^{-1} \mathcal{O}(-\vec{x}_a) [1] \simeq \mathcal{O}(-\vec{x}_a).$$
(G.8)

The third equality follows from $(a \neq 3)$

$$TLT \,\mathcal{S}_{a,j} = TL\mathcal{S}_{a,j} = T \,\tau^{1-j} \mathcal{O}(-\vec{x}_a)[1] = \tau^{1-j} \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3 - \vec{x}_a)[1]. \tag{G.9}$$

Corollary G.2.1. The sheaf

$$T = \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_1) \oplus \mathcal{S}_{2,1} \tag{G.10}$$

is cluster-tilting in \mathcal{C}_4 .

Proof. From the lemma

$$\iota_4 T = T \oplus S_4 T = \mathcal{S}_{2,1} \oplus \mathcal{S}_{3,1} \oplus \mathcal{O}(-\vec{x}_1) \otimes T'_{\operatorname{can}},\tag{G.11}$$

where $T'_{\text{can}} \equiv \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_1) \oplus \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_4) \oplus \mathcal{O}(\vec{c})$ is the canonical tilting object for the weighted projective line of type (2, 2) obtained from X by erasing the second and third special points. By theorem G.1.1 $\iota_4 T$ is tilting in coh X, hence T is cluster-tilting in \mathscr{C}_4 .

Corollary G.2.2. T as in (G.10). The quiver of the concealed-canonical algebra $End(\iota_4T)$ is



where dashed arrows stand for minimal relations. The cluster-category endo-quiver is the completion of this quiver, i.e. the one with all arrows made solid. The \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry generated by S_4 corresponds to a rotation by π around the center of the figure.

This shows all claims related to eq. (6.31) in the main text.

G.2.1 The superpotential \mathcal{W}

To get the superpotential for the quiver (G.12) we consider the ideal triangulation of the sphere with 4 puncture

$$\begin{array}{c|c}
\bullet & 3 \\
\circ & 1 \\
\circ & 5 \\
\bullet & 4 \\
\end{array} \bullet (G.13)$$

and write its non reduced incidence quiver with potential



Both the quiver and the potential are invariant under a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry which acts freely on nodes as $i \mapsto i + 3 \mod 6$ on the nodes and as $\ell \mapsto \tilde{\ell}$ on the arrows. λ , μ_a are generic coefficients. Integrating away the heavy fields $b, f, \tilde{b}, \tilde{f}$ we eliminate the pairs of opposite arrows getting a reduced 2-acyclic quiver of the form (6.29) with potential

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{red}} = \lambda^{-1} \, cade + \lambda^{-1} \, \tilde{c}\tilde{a}d\tilde{e} + \mu_1 e c\tilde{e}\tilde{c} + \mu_2 \, ad\tilde{a}d. \tag{G.15}$$

Taking the quotient with respect to the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry we get

$$2 \underbrace{\bigwedge_{a}^{d}}_{c} 1 \underbrace{\bigwedge_{c}^{e}}_{c} 3 \qquad \mathcal{W} = \mu_{1}(ec)^{2} + \mu_{2}(ad)^{2} + 2\lambda^{-1}adec.$$
(G.16)

G.3 Cluster-tilting objects in \mathscr{C}_6

Cluster-tilting sheaves in \mathscr{C}_6 have just two direct summands $T = T_1 \oplus T_2$. From the mutation class of the triangulation quivers for the sphere with 4 punctures, we know that a \mathbb{Z}_3 symmetry implies (many) \mathbb{Z}_6 symmetries acting transitively on the nodes. Therefore we may find cluster-tilting sheaves with $T_2 = \tau \Pi T_1$. $\iota_6 T$ must be tilting in coh X.

Lemma G.3. One has $(a \neq 3)$

$$S_6 \mathcal{O} = \tau \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3), \qquad S_6^2 \mathcal{O} = \mathcal{S}_{3,0},$$

$$S_6 \mathcal{S}_{a,j} = \tau^j \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3 - \vec{x}_a), \qquad S_6^2 \mathcal{S}_{a,j} = \tau^j \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_a).$$
(G.17)

Proof. First equation: $TL\mathcal{O} = \tau T\mathcal{O} = \tau \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3)$. For the second (using (B.45)):

$$(TL)^2 \mathcal{O} = \tau TL \, \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3) = T \, \mathcal{S}_{3,1} = \mathcal{S}_{3,0}.$$
 (G.18)

Third:

$$TLS_{a,j} = T\tau^{1-j}\mathcal{O}(-\vec{x}_a)[1] = \tau^{1-j}\mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3 - \vec{x}_4) \simeq \tau^{-j}\mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3 - \vec{x}_4).$$
(G.19)

Forth (using (G.5)):

$$(TL)^2 \mathcal{S}_{a,j} = T LTL \mathcal{S}_{a,j} \simeq \tau^{-j} T \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3 - \vec{x}_a) = \tau^j \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_a).$$
(G.20)

Corollary G.3.1. The sheaf

$$T = \mathcal{S}_{1,0} \oplus \mathcal{S}_{2,1} \equiv \mathcal{S}_{1,0} \oplus \tau \Pi \mathcal{S}_{1,0} \tag{G.21}$$

is cluster-tilting in \mathscr{C}_6 .

Proof. Using the previous lemma

$$\iota_6 T = \mathcal{O}(-\vec{x}_1) \otimes \left[\left(\mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3) \oplus \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_4) \oplus \mathcal{O}(\vec{c}) \oplus \mathcal{O}(\vec{x}_3 + \vec{x}_4) \right) \oplus \mathcal{S}_{1,1} \oplus \mathcal{S}_{2,1} \right]$$
(G.22)

By theorem G.1.1 $\iota_6 T$ is tilting in coh X iff the bundle in the large round parenthesis is a tilting bundle for the weighted projective line of type (2,2) over the third and fourth special points. But this is precisely the well-known tilting object whose endo-quiver is the acyclic affine $\widehat{A}(2,2)$ quiver with the alternating orientation

and the statement follows.

Extending the affine endo-quiver (G.23) by the two simple sheaves inside the large bracket, $S_{1,1}$, $S_{2,1}$, and taking into account the overall twist by $\mathcal{O}(-\vec{x}_1)$ in the r.h.s. of (G.22), we get the quiver for $\operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{coh} \mathbb{X}}(\mathcal{T})$ in the form



where dashed arrow stand for relations as always. The quiver of the cluster category is obtained by making solid the dashed arrows. It has the expected symmetries. In particular, the \mathbb{Z}_3 symmetry generated by S_6 correspond to a $2\pi/3$ rotation of the figure. This completes the justification of the claims about cluster-tilting in \mathscr{C}_6 and symmetries of endo-quivers made in section 5.

H Cluster-tilting in \mathscr{C}_{D_4} and its gaugings

We identify the indecomposables of the cluster category \mathscr{C}_{D_4} with the indecomposable (right) modules of the path algebra of the Dynkin quiver (8.1) together with the shifted

indecomposable projectives $P_i[1]$. The indecomposable modules are in one-to-one correspondence with the positive roots of D_4 through their dimension vectors, and we denote them by the corresponding root written in the form of the quiver.

Eqs. (B.22) yield the following equalities in the derived category $\mathscr{D}(D_4) \equiv D^b \operatorname{mod} \mathbb{C} D_4$

$$\begin{aligned} &\tau \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \tau \begin{bmatrix} 0\\0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\1 & 2 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \tau \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \\ &\tau \begin{bmatrix} 1\\1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \tau \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \tau \begin{bmatrix} 1\\1 & 2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \end{aligned} \tag{H.1}$$

and other 6 obtained by acting on these ones with the automorphism \mathfrak{S}_3 of the quiver. One checks that $\tau^{-3} = \Sigma$.

Consider, say, the orbit category

$$\mathscr{C}_2 = \mathscr{C}/\mathbb{Z}_2 \equiv \mathscr{D}(D_4)/(\tau^2)^{\mathbb{Z}}$$
(H.2)

One has

$$\mathscr{C}_{2}(X, X[1]) \cong \mathscr{C}(X, X[1]) \oplus \mathscr{C}(X, \tau^{2}X[1]) \cong \mathscr{C}(X, X[1]) \oplus \mathscr{C}(X, \tau^{3}X) \cong$$
$$\cong \mathscr{C}(X, X[1]) \oplus \mathscr{C}(X, \tau^{-1}X) = \operatorname{Hom}(X, \tau^{-1}X) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}(X, \tau X).$$
(H.3)

There are 4 orbits of indecomposables of $\mathscr{D}(D_4)$ under the group generated by the two autoequivalences τ and Σ , i.e. the orbits of the 4 simples S_i . If the image of an indecomposable $X \in \mathscr{D}(D_4)$ is rigid in $\mathscr{D}(D_4)$, the images of all objects in its $\langle \tau, \Sigma \rangle$ -orbit are also rigid. The rigid objects in \mathscr{C}_2 are the ones in the orbit of the peripherical nodes. Of course, elements of the same orbit get identified in pairs in \mathscr{C}_2 . Let X, Y be rigid. $\mathscr{C}_2(X, Y[1]) = \mathscr{C}_2(Y, X[1]) = 0$ requires X and Y to belong to different peripheral orbits.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- P.C. Argyres, M. Crescimanno, A.D. Shapere and J.R. Wittig, Classification of N = 2 superconformal field theories with two-dimensional Coulomb branches, hep-th/0504070 [INSPIRE].
- [2] P.C. Argyres and J.R. Wittig, Classification of N = 2 superconformal field theories with two-dimensional Coulomb branches. II., hep-th/0510226 [INSPIRE].
- [3] P. Argyres, M. Lotito, Y. Lü and M. Martone, Geometric constraints on the space of N = 2 SCFTs. Part I: physical constraints on relevant deformations, JHEP 02 (2018) 001
 [arXiv:1505.04814] [INSPIRE].
- [4] P.C. Argyres, M. Lotito, Y. Lü and M. Martone, Geometric constraints on the space of N = 2 SCFTs. Part II: construction of special Kähler geometries and RG flows, JHEP 02 (2018) 002 [arXiv:1601.00011] [INSPIRE].
- [5] P.C. Argyres, M. Lotito, Y. Lü and M. Martone, Expanding the landscape of N = 2 rank 1 SCFTs, JHEP 05 (2016) 088 [arXiv:1602.02764] [INSPIRE].

- [6] P. Argyres, M. Lotito, Y. Lü and M. Martone, Geometric constraints on the space of N = 2 SCFTs. Part III: enhanced Coulomb branches and central charges, JHEP 02 (2018) 003
 [arXiv:1609.04404] [INSPIRE].
- [7] P.C. Argyres and M. Martone, 4d N =2 theories with disconnected gauge groups, JHEP 03 (2017) 145 [arXiv:1611.08602] [INSPIRE].
- [8] P.C. Argyres, Y. Lü and M. Martone, Seiberg-Witten geometries for Coulomb branch chiral rings which are not freely generated, JHEP 06 (2017) 144 [arXiv:1704.05110] [INSPIRE].
- [9] P.C. Argyres, C. Long and M. Martone, *The Singularity Structure of Scale-Invariant Rank-2 Coulomb Branches*, *JHEP* **05** (2018) 086 [arXiv:1801.01122] [INSPIRE].
- [10] P.C. Argyres and M. Martone, Scaling dimensions of Coulomb branch operators of 4d N = 2 superconformal field theories, arXiv:1801.06554 [INSPIRE].
- P.C. Argyres and M. Martone, Coulomb branches with complex singularities, JHEP 06 (2018) 045 [arXiv:1804.03152] [INSPIRE].
- [12] M. Caorsi and S. Cecotti, Geometric classification of 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFTs, JHEP 07 (2018) 138 [arXiv:1801.04542] [INSPIRE].
- [13] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, Electric-magnetic duality, monopole condensation and confinement in N = 2 supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory, Nucl. Phys. B 426 (1994) 19 [Erratum ibid. B 430 (1994) 485] [hep-th/9407087] [INSPIRE].
- [14] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, Monopoles, duality and chiral symmetry breaking in N = 2 supersymmetric QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 431 (1994) 484 [hep-th/9408099] [INSPIRE].
- [15] R. Donagi and E. Witten, Supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory and integrable systems, Nucl. Phys. B 460 (1996) 299 [hep-th/9510101] [INSPIRE].
- [16] T.D. Brennan, F. Carta and C. Vafa, The String Landscape, the Swampland and the Missing Corner, PoS(TASI2017)015 (2017) [arXiv:1711.00864] [INSPIRE].
- [17] M. Caorsi and S. Cecotti, Special Arithmetic of Flavor, JHEP 08 (2018) 057 [arXiv:1803.00531] [INSPIRE].
- [18] M. Schütt and T. Shioda, Mordell-Weil lattices, to be published (2017). [http://www2.iag.uni-hannover.de/~schuett/BookMWL17.pdf].
- [19] R. Miranda, The Basic Theory of Elliptic Surfaces, ETS Editrice, Pisa (1989).
- [20] K. Oguiso and T. Shioda, The Mordell-Weil lattice of a rational elliptic surface, Comment. Math. Univ. St. Pauli 40 (1991) 83.
- [21] S. Cecotti and M. Del Zotto, On classification of 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFTs. Parts I, II, and III, unpublished notes 2013–2014.
- [22] P.S. Aspinwall et al., Dirichlet branes and mirror symmetry, Clay Mathematics Monographs, vol. 4, AMS, Providence RI (2009).
- [23] S. Cecotti and C. Vafa, Classification of complete N = 2 supersymmetric theories in 4 dimensions, Surveys Diff. Geom. 18 (2013) [arXiv:1103.5832] [INSPIRE].
- [24] M. Alim, S. Cecotti, C. Cordova, S. Espahbodi, A. Rastogi and C. Vafa, BPS Quivers and Spectra of Complete N = 2 Quantum Field Theories, Commun. Math. Phys. 323 (2013) 1185 [arXiv:1109.4941] [INSPIRE].

- [25] S. Lang and A. Néron, Rational points of abelian varieties over function fields, Amer. J. Math. 81 (1959) 95.
- [26] S. Lang, Number Theory III. Diophantine Geometry, Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, vol. 60, Springer (1991).
- [27] B. Keller and Calabi-Yau, Triangulated categories, in Trends in Representation Theory of Algebras, A. Skowronski ed., European Mathematical Society, Zurich (2008).
- [28] D.R. Morrison and D.S. Park, F-Theory and the Mordell-Weil Group of Elliptically-Fibered Calabi-Yau Threefolds, JHEP 10 (2012) 128 [arXiv:1208.2695] [INSPIRE].
- [29] O. Aharony, N. Seiberg and Y. Tachikawa, Reading between the lines of four-dimensional gauge theories, JHEP 08 (2013) 115 [arXiv:1305.0318] [INSPIRE].
- [30] M. Alim, S. Cecotti, C. Cordova, S. Espahbodi, A. Rastogi and C. Vafa, N = 2 quantum field theories and their BPS quivers, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 18 (2014) 27
 [arXiv:1112.3984] [INSPIRE].
- [31] Y. Palu, Cluster characters for triangulated 2-Calabi-Yau categories, Annales Inst. Fourier Tome 58 (2008) 2221 [math/0703540].
- [32] M. Caorsi and S. Cecotti, Homological S-duality in 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFTs, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 22 (2018) 1593 [arXiv:1612.08065] [INSPIRE].
- [33] M. Caorsi and S. Cecotti, Categorical Webs and S-duality in 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ QFT, Commun. Math. Phys. 368 (2019) 885 [arXiv:1707.08981] [INSPIRE].
- [34] F. Denef, Quantum quivers and Hall/hole halos, JHEP 10 (2002) 023 [hep-th/0206072]
 [INSPIRE].
- [35] G. 't Hooft, A Planar Diagram Theory for Strong Interactions, Nucl. Phys. B 72 (1974) 461 [INSPIRE].
- [36] I. García-Etxebarria and D. Regalado, $\mathcal{N} = 3$ four dimensional field theories, JHEP 03 (2016) 083 [arXiv:1512.06434] [INSPIRE].
- [37] O. Aharony and Y. Tachikawa, S-folds and 4d N = 3 superconformal field theories, JHEP 06 (2016) 044 [arXiv:1602.08638] [INSPIRE].
- [38] S. Cecotti, A. Neitzke and C. Vafa, *R-Twisting and 4d/2d Correspondences*, arXiv:1006.3435 [INSPIRE].
- [39] D. Gaiotto, G.W. Moore and A. Neitzke, Framed BPS States, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 17 (2013) 241 [arXiv:1006.0146] [INSPIRE].
- [40] D. Gaiotto, G.W. Moore and A. Neitzke, Wall-Crossing in Coupled 2d-4d Systems, JHEP 12 (2012) 082 [arXiv:1103.2598] [INSPIRE].
- [41] S. Cecotti and M. Del Zotto, Y systems, Q systems and $4D \mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric QFT, J. Phys. A 47 (2014) 474001 [arXiv:1403.7613] [INSPIRE].
- [42] B. Keller, Cluster algebras, quiver representations and triangulated categories, in Triangulated categories, T. Holm, P. Jorgensen and R. Rouquier eds., Lond. Math. Soc. Lect. Note Ser. 375 (2010) 76 [arXiv:0807.1960].
- [43] S. Gukov, C. Vafa and E. Witten, CFT's from Calabi-Yau four folds, Nucl. Phys. B 584 (2000) 69 [Erratum ibid. B 608 (2001) 477] [hep-th/9906070] [INSPIRE].

- [44] D. Gepner, Exactly Solvable String Compactifications on Manifolds of SU(N) Holonomy, Phys. Lett. B 199 (1987) 380 [INSPIRE].
- [45] S. Cecotti and C. Vafa, On classification of N = 2 supersymmetric theories, Commun. Math. Phys. 158 (1993) 569 [hep-th/9211097] [INSPIRE].
- [46] N. Bourbaki, Groupes et algèbre de Lie, Springer (1990).
- [47] M. Kontsevich and Y. Soibelman, Stability structures, motivic Donaldson-Thomas invariants and cluster transformations, arXiv:0811.2435 [INSPIRE].
- [48] C. Cordova and S.-H. Shao, Schur Indices, BPS Particles and Argyres-Douglas Theories, JHEP 01 (2016) 040 [arXiv:1506.00265] [INSPIRE].
- [49] C. Beem, M. Lemos, P. Liendo, W. Peelaers, L. Rastelli and B.C. van Rees, Infinite Chiral Symmetry in Four Dimensions, Commun. Math. Phys. 336 (2015) 1359 [arXiv:1312.5344] [INSPIRE].
- [50] I. Reiten, Cluster categories, arXiv:1012.4949 [INSPIRE].
- [51] M. Barot, D. Kussin and H. Lenzing, The Grothendieck group of a cluster category, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 212 (2008) 33 [math/0606518].
- [52] C.M. Ringel, Tame algebras and integral quadratic forms, Lect. Notes Math., vol. 1099, Springer (1984).
- [53] S. Cecotti, Categorical Tinkertoys for N = 2 Gauge Theories, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 28 (2013) 1330006 [arXiv:1203.6734] [INSPIRE].
- [54] C. Amiot, Cluster categories for algebras of global dimension 2 and quivers with potential, arXiv:0805.1035.
- [55] K. Kodaira, On compact analytic surfaces, in Analytic Functions, Princeton University Press (1960), pp. 121–135.
- [56] K. Kodaira, On compact analytic surfaces, II, Annals Math. 77 (1963) 563.
- [57] K. Kodaira, On compact analytic surfaces, III, Annals Math. 78 (1963) 1.
- [58] W. Schmid, Variation of Hodge structure: the singularities of the period mapping, Invent. Math. 22 (1973) 211.
- [59] H. Lenzing and J.A. de la Peña, Spectral analysis of finite dimensional algebras and singularities, arXiv:0805.1018.
- [60] M. Sato, T. Miwa and M. Jimbo, Holonomic quantum fields I, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. Kyoto 14 (1978) 223.
- [61] M. Sato, T. Miwa and M. Jimbo, Holonomic quantum fields II, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. Kyoto 15 (1979) 201.
- [62] M. Sato, T. Miwa and M. Jimbo, Holonomic quantum fields III, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. Kyoto 15 (1979) 577.
- [63] M. Sato, T. Miwa and M. Jimbo, Holonomic quantum fields IV, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. Kyoto 15 (1979) 871.
- [64] M. Sato, T. Miwa and M. Jimbo, Holonomic quantum fields V, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. Kyoto 16 (1981) 531.

- [65] S. Cecotti and C. Vafa, Ising model and N = 2 supersymmetric theories, Commun. Math. Phys. 157 (1993) 139 [hep-th/9209085] [INSPIRE].
- [66] M.A. Guest, A.R. Its and C.-S. Lin, Isomonodromy aspects of the tt* equations of Cecotti and Vafa I. Stokes data, arXiv:1209.2045 [INSPIRE].
- [67] M.A. Guest, A.R. Its and C.-S. Lin, Isomonodromy aspects of the tt* equations of Cecotti and Vafa II. Riemann-Hilbert problem, Commun. Math. Phys. 336 (2015) 337 [arXiv:1312.4825] [INSPIRE].
- [68] M.A. Guest, A.R. Its and C.-S. Lin, Isomonodromy aspects of the tt* equations of Cecotti and Vafa III. Iwasawa factorization and asymptotics, arXiv:1707.00259 [INSPIRE].
- [69] I.V. Dolgachev, Classical Algebraic Geometry. A Modern View, Cambridge University Press (2012).
- [70] L. Angeleri Hügel, D. Happel and H. Krause eds., Handbook of tilting theory, Cambridge University Press, Lond. Math. Soc. Lect. Note Ser. 332 (2007).
- [71] S.A. Kuleshov and D.O. Orlov, Exceptional sheaves on del Pezzo surfaces, Russian Acad. Sci. Izv. Math. 44 (1995) 479.
- [72] D. Auroux, L. Katzarkov and D. Orlov, Mirror symmetry for del Pezzo surfaces: vanishing cycles and coherent sheaves, Invent. Math. 166 (2006) 537.
- [73] A. Kuznetsov, Calabi-Yau and fractional Calabi-Yau categories, arXiv:1509.07657.
- [74] B. Keller, Deformed Calabi-Yau completions, arXiv:0908.3499.
- [75] S. Cecotti and M. Del Zotto, The BPS spectrum of the 4d N = 2 SCFT's $H_1, H_2, D_4, E_6, E_7, E_8, JHEP$ 06 (2013) 075 [arXiv:1304.0614] [INSPIRE].
- [76] U. Persson, Configurations of Kodaira fibers on rational elliptic surfaces, Math. Z. 205 (1990) 1.
- [77] R. Miranda, Persson's list of singular fibers for a rational elliptic surface, Math. Z. 205 (1990) 191.
- [78] P.C. Argyres and J.R. Wittig, Infinite coupling duals of N = 2 gauge theories and new rank 1 superconformal field theories, JHEP **01** (2008) 074 [arXiv:0712.2028] [INSPIRE].
- [79] K. Bongartz, Algebras and quadratic forms, J. Lond. Math. Soc. 28 (1983) 461.
- [80] S. Cecotti and M. Del Zotto, Galois covers of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ BPS spectra and quantum monodromy, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. **20** (2016) 1227 [arXiv:1503.07485] [INSPIRE].
- [81] E. Witt, Spiegelungsgruppen und Aufzählung halbeinfacher Liescher Ringe, ASUH 14 (1941) 289.
- [82] T. Karayayla, The classification of automorphism groups of rational elliptic surfaces with section, Adv. Math. 230 (2012) 1.
- [83] S. Cecotti and M. Del Zotto, Higher S-dualities and Shephard-Todd groups, JHEP 09 (2015) 035 [arXiv:1507.01799] [INSPIRE].
- [84] Y. Tachikawa and S. Terashima, Seiberg-Witten Geometries Revisited, JHEP 09 (2011) 010 [arXiv:1108.2315] [INSPIRE].
- [85] B. Keller, On triangulated orbit categories, Documenta Math. 10 (2005) 551.

- [86] M. Barot, D. Kussin and H. Lenzing, The cluster category of a canonical algebra, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 362 (2010) 4313 [arXiv:0801.4540].
- [87] P. Gabriel, The universal cover of a representation-finite algebra, Proc. Puebla (1980), Representation Theory I [Springer Lect. Notes Math. 903 (1981) 68].
- [88] K. Bongartz and P. Gabriel. Covering spaces in Representation Theory, Invent. Math. 65 (1982) 331.
- [89] J.A. de la Peña, Group actions on algebras and module categories, Rev. Un. Mat. Argen. 48 (2007) 1.
- [90] S. Fomin, M. Shapiro and D. Thurston, *Cluster algebras and triangulated surfaces. Part I: cluster complexes*, math/0608367.
- [91] B. Keller, Quiver mutation in Java, http://www.institut.math.jussieu.fr/.
- [92] C. Amiot, On the structure of triangulated categories with finitely many indecomposables, Bull. Soc. Math. Fr. 135 (2007) 435.
- [93] I. Burban, O. Iyama, B. Keller and I. Reiten, Cluster tilting for one-dimensional hypersurface singularities, Adv. Math. 217 (2008) 2443.
- [94] A.B. Buan, Y. Palu and I. Reiten, Algebras of finite representation type arising from maximal rigid objects, J. Algebra 446 (2016) 426.
- [95] B. Keller, The Periodicity conjecture for pairs of Dynkin diagrams, arXiv:1001.1531 [INSPIRE].
- [96] J.-I. Miyachi and A. Yekutieli, Derived Picard groups of finite dimensional hereditary algebras, math/9904006.
- [97] O. Iyama and Y. Yoshino, Mutations in triangulated categories and rigid Cohen- Macaulay modules, Invent. Math. 172 (2008) 117 [math/0607736].
- [98] D. Gaiotto, N = 2 dualities, JHEP 08 (2012) 034 [arXiv:0904.2715] [INSPIRE].
- [99] D. Gaiotto, G.W. Moore and A. Neitzke, *Wall-crossing, Hitchin Systems and the WKB Approximation*, arXiv:0907.3987 [INSPIRE].
- [100] Y. Zhou and B. Zhu, Maximal rigid subcategories in 2-Calabi-Yau triangulated categories, arXiv:1004.5475.
- [101] G. 't Hooft, On the Phase Transition Towards Permanent Quark Confinement, Nucl. Phys. B 138 (1978) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [102] G. 't Hooft, A Property of Electric and Magnetic Flux in Nonabelian Gauge Theories, Nucl. Phys. B 153 (1979) 141 [INSPIRE].
- [103] H. Lenzing, Hereditary categories, in Handbook of tilting theory, L. Angeleri Hügel,
 D. Happel and H. Krause eds., Cambridge University Press, Lond. Math. Soc. Lect. Note Ser. 332 (2007) 105.
- [104] T. Holm, P. Jorgensen and R. Rouquier eds., *Triangulated categories*, Cambridge University Press, Lond. Math. Soc. Lect. Note Ser. 375 (2010).
- [105] A.B. Buan, O. Iyama, I. Reiten and J. Scott, Cluster structures for 2-Calabi-Yau categories and unipotent groups, Compos. Math. 145 (2009) 1035.
- [106] B. Keller and I. Reiten, Cluster tilted algebras are Gorenstein and stably Calabi-Yau, Adv. Math. 211 (2007) 123 [math/0512471].

- [107] H. Derksen, J. Weyman and A. Zelevinsky, Quivers with potentials and their representations I: Mutations, Selecta Mathematica 14 (2008) 59.
- [108] J. Xu and B. Ouyang, Maximal rigid objects without loops in connected 2-CY categories are cluster-tilting objects, arXiv:1404.1976.
- [109] C. Amiot and S. Oppermann, The image of the derived category in the cluster category, arXiv:1010.1129.
- [110] W. Geigle and H. Lenzing, A class of weighted projective curves arising in the representation theory of finite dimensional algebras, in Singularities, Representation of Algebras, and Vector Bundles, G.-M. Greuel and G. Trautmann eds., Lectures Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1273, Springer (1987).
- [111] H. Lenzing, Hereditary categories, ICTP lectures 2006 [http://webusers.imj-prg.fr/~bernhard.keller/ictp2006/lecturenotes/lenzing1.pdf] [http://webusers.imj-prg.fr/~bernhard.keller/ictp2006/lecturenotes/lenzing2.pdf].
- [112] H. Lenzing and H. Meltzer, The automorphism group of the derived category for a weighted projective line, Comm. Algebra 28 (2000) 1685.
- [113] H. Meltzer, Exceptional vector bundles, tilting sheaves and tilting complexes for weighted projective lines, Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 171 (2004) 808.
- [114] D. Kussin, Noncommutative curves of genus zero related to finite dimensional algebras, Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 201 (2009) 942.
- [115] X.-W. Chen and H. Krause, Introduction to coherent sheaves on weighted projective lines, arXiv:0911.4473.
- [116] M. Barot, D. Kussin and H. Lenzing, Extremal properties for concealed-canonical algebras, Colloq. Math. 130 (2013) 183 [arXiv:1208.3761].
- [117] H. Lenzing and H. Meltzer, Tilting sheaves and concealed-canonical algebras, in Representation Theory of Algebras, AMS, CMS Conf. Proc. 18 (1996) 455.